University of Southampton

FACULTY OF MEDICINE, HEALTH AND LIFE SCIENCES SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

ANTIBODY-BASED VACCINES FOR DELIVERY OF ANTIGEN TO DENDRITIC CELLS *IN SITU*

By

Fernanda V. V. de Castro

Thesis for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

June 2007

University of Southampton

ABSTRACT

FACULTY OF MEDICINE, HEALTH AND LIFE SCIENCES SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

Doctor of Philosophy

ANTIBODY-BASED VACCINES FOR DELIVERY OF ANTIGEN TO DENDRITIC CELLS *IN SITU* By Fernanda V. V. de Castro

Numerous studies have documented the crucial role of dendritic cells (DC) in the cross-priming of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses against exogenous antigens. However, these responses, particularly to tumour specific antigens, are often suboptimal. Aiming to investigate the effectiveness of vaccines targeting antigen to DC in situ and their ability to potentiate immunity, we generated a panel of conjugates consisting of ovalbumin (Ova) protein linked to monoclonal antibodies (mAb) that target molecules expressed mainly on DC. The effectiveness of the various [FabxOva] conjugates was investigated in in vitro co-culture assays and in an in vivo system where Ova-specific CD8 and CD4 T cells were adoptively transferred into naïve mice. The results revealed that targeting of the integrin CD11c, induced the strongest CD4 and CD8 T cell responses, followed by DEC205 and MHC-II targeting. Co-administration with the adjuvant α-CD40 mAb, prevented the induction of tolerance and generated functional memory effector T cells. In addition, immunization with a single low dose of $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva] had the unique ability to rapidly generate high titres of α -Ova IgG. Together with data from biodistribution studies, we demonstrate here that delivery of antigen to DC in situ, in particular via CD11c, can efficiently potentiate T and B cell immunity and propose that this molecule plays an important and as yet poorly characterized role in the transfer of intact antigen to B cells and possibly $CD8^+DC$. Immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] was observed to enhance the resistance to tumour development and these encouraging results highlight the potential clinical benefit of this strategy in the treatment of cancer.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	1
List of abbreviations	2
Overview of the immune system	4
Chapter 1 Introduction	6
1.1 Cancer immunotherapy	7
1.1.1 Tumour-associated antigens (TAA)	9
1.1.2 DC-based cancer vaccines	12
1.2 Dendritic cells	21
1.2.1 DC subsets	21
1.2.2 Developmental origin of the murine DC subsets	24
1.2.3 Distinct localization and lifespan of DC subsets	25
1.2.4 Antigen uptake, internalization and presentation	27
2.2.5 Receptor-mediated endocytosis	28
1.2.6 DC maturation	32
1.2.7 Migration of activated DC	33
1.2.8 Ag processing and presentation	35
1.3 T and B cell priming	38
1.3.1 Signals regulating T cell function	38
1.3.2 Priming of T cells by DC	39
1.3.3 CD4 T helper effector cells	40
1.3.4 CD8 T cell cytotoxic function	42
1.3.5 B cell priming	43
1.3.6 T cell tolerance	44

Project

48

Chapter 2 Materials and Methods	50
2.1 Cell culture	51
2.2 Cell quantitation	51
2.3 Reagents	51
2.4 Mice	52
2.5 mAb	52
2.6 Conjugation of Ova to monovalent mAb	54
2.7 Chapter 3: Phenotyping of DC and T cell immunity	54
2.7.1 Preparation of splenic DC	54
2.7.2 Standard protocol for staining cell surface antigens	55
2.7.3 Phenotyping of splenic DC	55
2.7.4 In vitro T cell proliferation assays	55
2.7.5 In vivo priming and proliferation of T cells	56
2.7.6 Effector function of primed T cells	57
2.7.7 In vivo proliferation of CFSE labelled T cells	58
2.8 Chapter 4: Humoral response to immunization with [FabxOva]	
conjugates	58
2.8.1 Enzyme-Linked Immunsorbant Assay (ELISA) for the detection of	
serum α-Ova Ab production	58
2.8.2 The influence of TLR-L on the mAb production by $[\alpha$ -DEC205xOva]	59
2.9 Chapter 5: Biodistribution of [FabxOva] conjugates within the spleen	60
2.9.1 Biodistribution of radiolabelled mAb	60
2.9.2 Localization of labelled mAb within the spleen by immuno-	
histochemistry and immuno-fluorescence	60
2.10 Chapter 6: Immunotherapy	62
2.10.1 Prevention of tumour development by immunization with	
[FabxOva] conjugates.	62

Chapter 3 Dendritic cell phenotyping and T cell immunity

3.1 Introduction	64
3.2 Results	66
3.2.1 Phenotypic characteristics of the distinct subsets of splenic DC	66
3.2.2 In vitro targeting of Ag to distinct molecules on APC can enhance T	
cell priming	69
3.2.3 In vivo targeting of Ova to APC and the induction of T cell	
proliferation in vitro	70
3.2.4 Immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] generates strong primary and	
memory CD8 T cells responses	72
3.2.5 Pre-treatment with FLT3-L amplifies T cell responses	75
3.2.6 Immunization with [FabxOva] conjugates generate strong primary	
and memory CD4 T cell responses	77
3.2.7 Endogenous T cell responses to [FabxOva] conjugates and the	
characterization of their effector functions	79
3.2.8 Ag targeted to DC can be presented to naïve T cells for long periods	
and favour distinct immune responses depending on the target	
molecule	83
3.3 Discussion	86

Chapter 4 Humoral response to immunization with [FabxOva] conjugates

4.1 Introduction	98
4.2 Results	100
4.2.1 Immunization with $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva] generates high titres of anti-Ova	
antibodies	100
4.2.2 The role of CD4 T cells in antibody production	102
4.2.3 Different routes of administration	103
4.2.4 TLR-ligands and antibody responses	104
4.2.5 Immunization of TLR-4 deficient mice	106
4.2.6 Immunization with [α-CD11cxOva] induces long term immunity	107
4.3 Discussion	109

Chapter 5 Biodistribution of [FabxOva] conjugates within the spleen

5.1 Introduction 116 5.2 Results 118 5.2.1 Anatomical localization of F(ab')₂ mAb administered intravenously. 118 5.2.2 Increasing the concentration α-DEC205 mAb fails to induce its accumulation to the spleen 119 5.2.3 Pre-treatment with FLT3-L and LPS facilitates α -DEC205 mAb accumulation in the spleen 120 5.2.4 Visualization of the movement of the targeting mAb in the spleen over a period of time 122 5.2.5 Identification of distinct regions within the white pulp of the spleen and the distinct migration patterns of targeted cells 125

5.3 Discussion

Chapter 6 Immunotherapy

6.1 Introduction	134
6.2 Results	136
6.2.1 Immunization with [FabxOva] conjugates can prevent tumour	
development	136
6.2.2 Monitoring of effector cell numbers following immunization with the	ne
[FabxOva] conjugates	138
6.3 Discussion	141
Chapter 7 General discussion	144

155

128

List of Diagrams

Diagram 1 Summary of the six major DC subsets identified to date and some of			
their main functional differences	22		
Diagram 2 Life cycle of a dendritic cell	34		
Diagram 3 The three major pathways involved in antigen presentation by			
dendritic cells	36		
Diagram 4 Major mechanisms associated with peripheral T cell tolerance.			
Diagram 5 Diagrammatic representation of the objectives aimed to be achieved			
in this project	49		
Diagram 6 Proposed model for the function of CD11c in the generation of a			
robust humoral response and cellular immunity	114		
Diagram 7 Different cell populations within the spleen	117		

List of Tables

Table	1	Human tumour-associated antigens recognised by CD8 T cells	11
Table	2	DC vaccine clinical trials in the treatment of advanced melanoma	15
Table	3	Summary of factors that contribute to the development of tumours,	
		despite the apparent generation of anti-tumour effector cells	18
Table	4	Phenotypic profiles of the six major murine DC subsets identified to	
		date and their main functional properties	23
Table	5	List of [FabxOva] conjugates and their targets on antigen presenting	
		cells	48
Table	6	List of α -mouse mAb, their isotypes and source	53

"Rather than a universe of static certainty, at the most fundamental level of matter, the world and its relationships are uncertain and unpredictable, a state of pure potential, of infinite possibility"

Lynne McTaggart, The Field

I would like to express my appreciation to the Tenovus Charity for their financial support, and thank a number of people who have encouraged me throughout my PhD at the Tenovus Research Laboratory.

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor, Prof. Martin Glennie, for giving me the opportunity to be part of his research team and for many insightful conversations during the development of the ideas in this project.

I am particularly grateful to Alison Tutt, Ruth French and Claude Chan, all whom have been characteristically generous in taking time to help me with my experimental work during the past three years. In particular, I would like to thank Ruth for proofreading and critiquing many of my reports and this thesis.

My special thanks to all my dear friends in the lab, especially Steve, Juliet, Chris, Kate, Tania, Ben, Paul, Claire and Matt, with whom I have shared many heated conversations and laughs. I extend my appreciation and thanks to Ann, Sonya, Jessica, Sam, Lisa, Mel, Kerry and Richard for their friendship and professional collaboration.

My heart felt thanks to Phill and his family for their ongoing support and love.

Finally, I would like to thank my dear friends Lucy, Jo, Chris, Jody and Phil who have been my family for the past three years and with whom I have shared many happy and memorable occasions. In particular, I would like to thank Nick for listening to the endless phone calls and for cheering me up during the difficult days in Edinburgh whilst I was writing this thesis.

Most importantly, I would like to thank my family, especially my mum, who has always supported my dreams and aspirations. I am grateful for all she is and all she has done for me and my sisters. I also could not have accomplished this without the support and love from Martin, my sisters Carolina and Renata, and my grandmothers Lucia and Cleo. Dad, you missed sharing this part and also the rest of my life, but I will always remember our good times together.

List of abbreviations

α-	Anti-
5DC	5-aza-2-deoxycytidine
7AAD	7-aminoactinomycin D
Ab	Antibody/ies
Ag	Antigen/s
AP-1	Activator protein-1
APAF-1	Apoptotic protease activating factor-1
APC	Antigen-presenting cell/s
BAFF	B cell activating factor
BcR	B cell receptor
BM	Bone marrow
BrdU	5-bromo-2-deoxyuridine
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CDR	Complementarity-determining region
CFA	Complete Freunds' Adjuvant
CFSE	5,(6)-carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester
CHO K1	Chinese hamster ovary K1 cells
CR	Complete response
CRD	Carbohydrate recognition domains
CSR	Class switching recombination
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4
DC	Dendritic cell/s
DC-SIGN	DC-specific ICAM-3 grabbing non-integrin
DD	Death domain
DMF	N, N-dimethylformamide
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
ELISA	Enzyme-Linked Immunsorbant Assay
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
Fas-L	Fas-Ligand
FCS	Foetal calf serum
FITC	Fluorescein-isothiocyanate
FLT3-L	fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand
FSC	Forward scatter
GM-CSF	Granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor
h	Hours
HEV	High endothelial venule
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
HPC	Haematopoetic progenitor cell
HPV	Human papilloma virus
нкр	Horse-radish peroxidase
Hsp	Heat shock protein
1.V.	Intravenous
	Immune-complex/es
	Intercellular adhesion molecule
1008	inducible co-stimulator
IDC	Immature dendritic cells

IDO	Indoleamine 2,3-deoxygenase
IFN	Interferon
Ig	Immunoglobulin
Ii	Invariant chain
IL	Interleukin
ITAM	Immune tyrosine-based activation motif
ITIM	Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif
JNK	c-jun N-terminal kinase
KLH	Keyhole limpet hemocyanin
-L	Ligand
LC	Langerhans' dendritic cell/s
LFA-1	Lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1
LN	Lymph node
LPS	Lipopolysaccaride
mAb	Monoclonal antibody/ies
MBP	Myelin basic protein
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
mRNA	Messenger RNA
MZ	Marginal Zone
NF-κB	Nuclear factor- κB
NK	Natural killer cell
Ova 257-264	Ovalbumin peptide 257-264
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern molecule
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
pDC	Plasmacytoid dendritic cell
PE	Phycoerythrin
PI	Propidium iodide
PLC-y	Phospholipase C-y
PR .	Partial response
PRR	Pattern-recognition receptor
РТК	Protein tyrosine kinase
RAG	Recombination activating gene
RANK	Receptor activator of NF- κ B
s.c.	Subcutaneous
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SH2	Tandem Src homology 2
SMCC	Succinimidyl-4-(N-maleimidomethyl) cyclohexane-1-carboxylate
SSC	Side-scater
TAA	Tumour-associated antigen/s
TAP	Transporter associated with antigen processing
TcR	T cell receptor
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-β
T _H	T helper cell
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TNFR	Tumour necrosis factor receptor
T _{reg}	Regulatory T cell

Overview of the immune system

The immune system is composed of cells and molecules with specialized roles in defending the host against infection. To establish an infection, the pathogen must first overcome numerous surface barriers, such as enzymes and mucus that are either anti-microbial or inhibit the attachment of the pathogen. However, once inside, the pathogen encounters two further levels of defence. First, the innate and then the adaptive immune systems.

The innate response comprises phagocytic cells (neutrophils, monocytes, and macrophages), cells that release inflammatory mediators (basophils, mast cells and eosinophils), and natural killer cells (NK), together with cytotoxic molecules such as those of the complement system. This response is not Ag-specific and consists of all the immune defences that lack immunological memory, thus remaining unchanged however often the Ag is encountered.

The adaptive system is comprised of Ag-specific B and T cells, which act as cellular effectors of the adaptive system. T cell priming occurs when the surface receptors on these cells interact with antigenic peptides presented on Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) class I and/or II molecules, expressed on the surface of professional antigen presenting cells (APC) in combination with a maturation signal.

B cells and macrophages are also considered APC, however, dendritic cells (DC) are thought to be the most efficient and have the unique ability to prime naïve T cells. Immature DC (iDC) act as sentinels, constantly sampling their surrounding microenvironment for pathogens and damaged tissue. DC become fully matured when pattern-recognition receptors (PRR) recognize distinct pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMP) on the surface of microorganisms. Endogenous danger signals, such as IFN- α or heat-shock proteins, also lead to DC activation. As the DC mature and migrate to the draining secondary lymphoid organs, the peptides on the MHC complexes can be presented to naïve T cells, which only in the presence of a maturation or danger signal(s), lead to the induction of a

cellular response involving CD4 T helper cells and cytotoxic CD8 T cells. However, if the maturation signal is absent, T cell tolerance is induced thereby preventing functional immunity.

Finally, DC are also important in launching humoral immunity, through their capacity to activate naïve and memory B cells. NK cells and NKT cells can also be activated by DC. Thus, DC can regulate all of the elements of the immune system, as they are the link between innate and adaptive immunity. Not surprisingly, they are a fundamental target and tool for anti-cancer immunotherapy.

5

ante de la companya En la companya de la c

1.1 Cancer immunotherapy

In Britain, the lifetime risk of developing cancer is more than one in three, with approximately 65% of cases occurring in those aged 65 or over. Cancer causes seven million deaths every year accounting for 12.5% of deaths worldwide. There are over 200 different types of cancer, including breast, lung, colorectal and prostate, accounting for over half of all cases diagnosed in adults, whereas leukaemia is the most common cancer in children. Treatment may involve surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, bone marrow transplant, hormone therapy, gene therapy or some combination of these depending on the type of cancer.

Nonetheless, these treatments have limited success rates, with relapse often reoccurring as a result of resistance. Furthermore, the traditional treatments are not tumour-specific and consequently cause a range of adverse side effects. Together these factors have led to the investigation of alternative strategies aiming to improve the quality of life of patients on treatment and their long-term survival rates. Out of many new approaches, immunotherapy has been supported by encouraging results from animal models as well as initial human trials, highlighting the exquisite specificity of both antibody (Ab) and T cells, which allows the immune system to distinguish the most subtle of biochemical differences between cancer and normal cells.

Although tumour immunotherapy was attempted over a century ago, when William Coley used extracts of bacteria to cause sporadic anti-tumour responses [1], its success to date has been very limited. Nevertheless, our belief in the potential benefits of tumour immunotherapy has been recently boosted with the success of monoclonal Ab (mAb)-based approaches, such as α -Her-2 (Trastuzumab or Herceptin) and α -CD20 (rituximab or Rituxan), which represent the fastest growing class of cancer therapeutics.

Immunotherapeutic strategies can be categorised as passive or active. Passive immunotherapy includes the administration of Ab, immuno-toxin complexes and adoptive transfer of stimulated cytotoxic cells, which aim to eradicate established tumours. In contrast, active immunotherapy involves the induction and potentiation of the host's natural immunological response against tumour Ag. This has been shown to be achieved by various strategies including the immunization against tumour associated Ag (TAA) with loaded DC, exogenous cytokine administration and transfection of tumour cell lines with genes encoding costimulatory or inflammatory cytokines.

The current enthusiasm and belief in the potency of immunotherapy is as a result of substantial progress in different areas of immunological research. Examples include the identification of immunogenic tumour-associated Ag, the appreciation that professional APC must be activated to induce immunity and prevent tolerance, the key role played by DC in linking the innate and the adaptive system through recognition of a variety of danger signals, and the involvement of Treg cells in suppressing T cell immunity against self-tissues including tumours.

The best evidence for immunesurveillance of non-hematopoetic tissues comes from studies that show that about 50% of the immunodeficient recombination activating gene 2-deficient (RAG2^{-/-}) mice spontaneously develop gastrointestinal malignancies by the age of 18 months and the same phenotype was seen in IFN- γ deficient mice [2] and patients with heritable immunodeficiencies [3]. Together these findings demonstrate that the immune system can recognise tumours and is constantly targeting tumour development through pathways involving lymphocyte effector cells and IFN- γ secretion.

The main obstacle to be overcome in cancer immunotherapy is the lack of reactive T cell responsiveness caused either because the tumour lacks sufficient TAA or the tumour reactive T cells that develop are rendered tolerant or anergic due to lack of immune stimulation [4] [5]. Many TAA are indeed self-Ag and therefore any immune response may be accompanied by the development of autoimmune diseases (e.g. vitiligo after regression of melanoma). In an attempt to prevent self-tissue destruction, the immunological system has developed complex safety mechanisms, which also have an impact on the effectiveness of immunotherapy.

Furthermore, immunotherapy of established tumours often leads to only a transient tumour regression, and it has been proposed that to achieve complete remission danger signals must be maintained. Potential endogenous danger signals that activate DC include the release of intracellular nucleotides, type-I interferon (IFN), CD40-Ligand (CD40-L), Tumour necrosis factor (TNF), interleukin 1- β (IL-1 β), Toll-like receptor-ligand (TLR-L), co-stimulatory molecules and many others. Thus, an improved understanding of tumour-elicited danger signals may lead to the identification of potent immunological adjuvants that mimic those signals and generate a robust anti-tumour response. This concept of introducing "adjuvants" at the same site as vaccines with TAA has been tested and the resulting data seem very encouraging [6] [7].

1.1.1 Tumour-associated antigens (TAA)

In the early 1990s, Boon and colleagues [8] reported the first successful cloning of a human TAA, termed melanoma Ag-1 or MAGE-1 (subsequently renamed MAGE-A1), which elicited a spontaneous CTL response in the autologous melanoma patient. Many other TAA recognised by CD8 T cells have since been identified by this direct approach, including MAGE-A1, BAGE-1 and GAGE-1, where complementary DNA libraries from tumour cells were transfected into target cells expressing the appropriate HLA molecule, and then anti-tumour CTL were used to identify transfectants carrying the appropriate target peptide [8]. Another approach has been developed, which is based on the screening of recombinant cDNA expression libraries of human tumours with autologous serum. Sera from a large proportion of cancer patients contain Abs against both surface and intracellular proteins of cancer cells. It is assumed that this Ab can only be produced with the help of a CD4 T-cell response [9]. This technique is known as SEREX (serologic analysis of recombinant cDNA expression libraries) and genes such as SSX-1, SCP-1and NY-ESO-1/LAGE-2 were all identified using this methodology [9].

As a result of an extensive search using these techniques, a large number of sequences potentially coding for TAA have been identified. Depending on their

expression pattern, TAA are subdivided into groups characterised by different specificity and potential clinical relevance. The main subgroups are briefly described below and in table 1.

- I. **Tumour-specific Ag**, are expressed only in tumour cells, derived from altered self-proteins that result from gene mutations, translocations, or transcription of alternative reading frames, or from idiotypic proteins. Their high specificity is matched by a clinical usefulness limited in many cases to individual patients. For example, cancers of the haematopoetic system represent unique situations not shared by most solid tumours. B cells and any lymphomas arising from them can express unique idiotypes which can serve as a TAA. Other examples include mutant p221/ras and mutant p53.
- II. Non-mutated shared Ag overexpressed on cancer cells. There is evidence that over-expressed proteins such as carcinoembryonic Ag, p53 and MUC-1 are TAA.
- III. Viral TAA. Viruses are associated with approximately 20 % of human malignancies. Examples include Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-induced lymphoma and human papilloma virus (HPV)-associated cervical cancer.
- IV. Differentiation TAA, are expressed in tumour cells and their untransformed counterparts, although generally to a lesser extent in the latter. These TAA are largely used in active specific immunotherapy of tumours of discrete histological origin, mainly melanomas (e.g. MART-1 (Melan-A), tyrosinase) and prostate cancer (e.g. prostatic acid phosphatase).
- V. **Cancer/Testis (CT)-TAA,** by contrast, are shared Ag that correspond to normal gene products with highly restricted tissue distribution. Many workers in the field feel that they provide the most potential in cancer immunotherapy. CT TAA are not expressed in most somatic tissues, with the exception of the testis, but are often over expressed in tumours of various histological types, including melanomas. Prototypes of this group are the MAGE, GAGE and BAGE families and NY-ESO-1.

Antigen Class	Antigen	Malignancy				
Tumour-	Immunoglobin	B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, multiple				
specific	Idiotype	myeloma				
Antigen	Mutant p21/ras	Constant of the second second				
and the state of the	Mutant p53	Pancreatic, colon, lung cancer				
particular post of	and the second second	Colorectal, lung, bladder, head and neck cancer				
Non-mutated,	Carcinoembryonic –Ag	Colorectal, lung, breast cancer				
overexpresed	p53					
Antigen	MUC-1	Colorectal, lung cancer				
introduction (second)	Her-2/neu	Colorectal, pancreatic, ovarian, lung cancer				
Song and brints	represent (auti), 1715	Breast and lung cancer				
Viral Antigen	Human papilloma virus	Cervical, penile cancer				
	(HPV)					
LL MC-be-	Epstein Barr virus	Burkitt's lymphoma, post-transplant				
	(EBV)	lymphoproliferative disorders				
Differentiation/	MART-1	Melanoma				
Developmental	Tyrosinase	Melanoma				
Antigen	gp100 (pmel-17)	Melanoma				
de la companya de la	prostatic-acid	Prostate cancer				
	phosphatase					
Contraction of the						
Cancer/Testis	MAGE-1	Melanoma, coloreactal, lung, gastric cancer				
Antigen	BAGE	Melanoma, bladder, breast cancer				
Therefore	GAGE	Melanoma, head and neck, lung cancer				
Benner	NY-ESO-1	Melanoma, bladder, breast, liver cancer				

Table 1 Human tumour-associated antigens recognised by CD8 T cells.

List of multiple cancers expressing a few of the TAA antigens discussed above[10, 11].

CT-TAA belong to the most promising family of TAA identified to date, as they meet the key requirements for a potent tumour-rejection Ag, such as specificity and immunogenicity. As previously mentioned, CT-TAA expression is almost restricted to gametogenic tissues mainly testis, and cancer cells. The testis is an immune-privileged organ, suggesting that these Ag would have not been exposed to the immune system during the process of central tolerance and clonal deletion of CT Ag-specific T cells, preventing the development of tolerance to these Ag in cancer patients.

The process of CT-TAA discovery in cancer, by either T cell epitope cloning or by serological analyses, has unintentionally separated them into 2 groups, those defined by T-cell recognition (e.g. MAGE-A, BAGE, GAGE) and those defined by Ab recognition (e.g. SSX, NY-ESO-1,MAGE-C). However, there is increasingly evidence of a coordinated immune response to these Ag in cancer patients and most importantly, both Ab and T-cell (CD4 and CD8) responses have been shown for three of the 20 CT-TAA families: MAGE-A, SSX and NY-ESO-1 (reviewed in [12]) . NY-ESO-1 is the most immunogenic CT-TAA known to date, and serum Ab against it has been detected in melanomas, ovarian, lung and breast cancers [13].

1.1.2 DC-based cancer vaccines

Numerous approaches for the therapeutic vaccination of cancer patients have been developed including the use of autologous and allogenic tumour cells, which are often modified to express various cytokines, peptides or proteins and DNA vaccines [14]. Although some of the results were positive, these strategies rely on random encounter of the injected target with host DC. A lack of encounter with DC or alternatively, an inappropriate encounter (i.e. with iDC) might result in absence of immunity or even worse, to tolerance to the target Ag. Therefore, approaches immunizing with autologous DC or Ag-targeted to DC in the presence of a maturation signal might circumvent such problems. Moreover, DC-based immunization has been shown to induce humoral and cellular immunity, capable of mounting immunological memory for the protection against subsequent tumour challenges.

The rationale for the development of TAA loaded DC as therapeutic vaccines in humans was based on the vast literature reporting the beneficial effects of DCbased vaccines in pre-clinical studies on animal models. Initially it was found that injection of DC-enriched preparations of splenocytes or epidermal cells pulsed with tumour lysate could protect naïve animals from subsequent lethal tumour challenge [15, 16]. Later on, the administration of density-gradient purified splenic DC pulsed with either a soluble protein expressed by a B cell lymphoma [17] or with a synthetic MHC class I-restricted peptide derived from a tumour model Ag could induce the generation of peptide-specific CTL, which accompanied protective responses. Therefore, these early experiments provided proof of principle that by loading DC with tumour lysate or Ag ex vivo, it was possible to induce tumour-specific immune response in immunized mice, which led to the proposal that this strategy could result in an effective cancer vaccine.

The discovery that granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and IL-4 (added to suppress the outgrowth of monocytes) can promote the generation of large numbers of iDC in vitro from murine bone marrow cultures [18, 19] has allowed considerable progress in this field [20]. Clinical trials of DC vaccination were made possible by obtaining large numbers of human DC using similar in vitro culturing techniques. Two general protocols have been routinely exploited: (1) the purification of iDC precursors from peripheral blood and (2) the in vitro differentiation of DC from peripheral blood monocytes or CD34⁺ hematopoetic progenitor cells in the presence of GM-CSF. After activation of DC precursors by GM-CSF, DC differentiation may be influenced by a variety of cytokines, including IL-4 [21, 22], IL-15 [23], TNF- α [24] and IFN- γ [25].

In principle, either defined or undefined TAA can be delivered to DC and these can be composed of single-Ag in the form of tumour specific peptides [26], proteins [27], single messenger RNA (mRNA) transcripts [28] or TAA expressed endogenously by tumours transfected by plasmid or viral constructs [29]; or multiple Ag, including the use of peptide mixes [30], whole tumour lysates [31], total tumour mRNA [32], whole tumour cells [33], apoptotic bodies [34], tumour derived heat shock proteins (hsp)[35] and tumour/DC fusions [36].

In contrast to the multiple Ag approach, loading with single Ag is specific and avoids the possible development of autoimmunity against a normal cellular Ag. Moreover, this strategy is easier to document and quantify, however, on the down side, the single Ag approach suffers from a variety of deficiencies including tumour immune escape, human leukocyte antigen (HLA) specificity in the case of peptides, lack of T cell help and the fact that the system is not allowed to choose the epitopes from the total pool that will be most useful for the mounting of the immune response. To generate an optimal anti-tumour response it is now thought that in addition to an Ag-specific CTL response, immunization should include helper epitopes for the priming of CD4 T cells, which provide important help signals for the maintenance of potent CTL responses and the development of immunological memory [37]. Peptides with dual major histocompatability complex-I (MHC-I) and MHC-II specificities have been identified for the TAA, NY-ESO, and reported to induce strong CD8 and CD4 T cell responses [38].

Clinical trials

In 1995, Murherji et al [39] reported the results of the first clinical trial that established the feasibility and safety of immunization with MAGE-1 peptideloaded DC for the treatment of metastatic melanoma. Supporting trial studies followed reporting successful results [40, 41], including a phase I trial demonstrating a clinical response rate of 27 % (9 partial response (PR) out of 33 patients) after administration of prostate-specific membrane Ag (PSMA) peptide pulsed DC to patients with metastatic prostate cancer [40].

In 2001, Banchereau et al [42] published a study reporting very encouraging results, where CD34⁺ progenitor derived DC were pulsed with 4 HLA-A2 melanoma peptides (MART-1, tyrosinase, MAGE-3 and gp100) in the presence of KLH and TNF- α , and delivered subcutaneously (s.c) to 18 patients with stage IV metastatic melanoma, which is a fatal disease with a survival of 6-10 months. Ag-specific IFN- γ secretion in response to at least 1 of 4 peptides was detected by ELISPOT in 17 of the 18 patients, and in general, the patients who acquired immunity against more than one peptide showed the best clinical outcome. Additionally, this trial produced impressive clinical results, with 3 CR and 4 PR out of 17 patients (41 %).

A follow-up study with the long term outcome of these patients has been recently published and patients who have survived longer are those in whom vaccination with CD34-DC elicited T cell immunity to at least two melanoma peptides. Despite the limitations in correlating clinical responses and T cell immunity in such a small trial, it was reported nevertheless that 7 of 10 patients with immunity to at least two melanoma peptides survived longer than the median survival of 20 months and as to August 2005, there were 4 surviving disease free patients. Although this trial showed a direct correlation of T cell immunity and clinical outcome, more often than not, clinical data fail to translate the generation of Ag-specific T effector cells detected by ELISPOT, proliferation or CTL lysis assays to the clinical setting [43-48].

Since the initiation of the first DC-based vaccine trials, our general knowledge of DC immunobiology has expanded and strong evidence has been presented demonstrating that the maturation status of DC can affect its ability to mount a potent immune response. Results by Dhodapkar et al demonstrated that administration of iDC could result in the development of Ag-specific tolerance [48-50] and when Jonuleit et al [51] directly compared the immunogenicity of mature DC and iDC, the mature DC were clearly superior inducers of effector T cells. Table 2 identifies some of the trials with DC cultured in the presence of a maturation stimulus reported for the treatment of melanoma.

Culture protocol	DC origin	Route	T-cell response	No. patient s	Clinical	Ref.
IL-4/GM-CSF/FCS	moDC	i.n	n.d.	16	2CR, 3PR	[52]
IL-4/GM-CSF/IL-1β/IL-6/TNF- α/PGE2	moDC	S.C.	13	30	8SD, 1CR	[53]
Calcium ionophore/IL-12/IL-2	moDC	i.v./i.d/ i.n.	13	28	3PR	[54]
IL-4/GM-CSF/IL-1β/IL-6/TNF-α/ PGE2	moDC	i.n.	5	11	3SD	[55]
IL-4/GM-CSF/MCM/IL-6/TNFα/ PGE2	moDC	i.d.+i.v.	2	10	4SD, IPR	[56]
FLT3-L/GM-CSF/TNF-α	CD34 ⁺	S.C.	16	17	3CR,4PR	[42]
IL-3/IL-6/SCF/IL-4/GM- CSF/TNF-α	CD34 ⁺	i.v.	2	14	6SD,1PR	[57]
IL-4/GM-CSF/TNF-α	CDI4 ⁺	i.d.	7	13	5SD,2PR	[58]

Table 2 DC vaccine clinical trials in the treatment of advanced melanoma.

Although a great number of clinical trials investigating the effectiveness of cancer vaccines have been published, the great majority of them are phase I/II trials testing the toxicity and dosage of these vaccines in small groups of patients with advanced, non-curable, treatment resistant tumours rather than their clinical effectiveness. Furthermore, even when clinical responses are reported, it is extremely difficult to evaluate and compare the data, mainly because some trials do not specify the exact criteria used to determine clinical response, which taking in consideration that most of these patients have progressive tumours, anything can be categorized as a clinical response, from the stabilisation of the tumour progression to complete remissions.

In addition to the confusion involving the criteria employed for observed clinical responses and immuno-monitoring of the patients, DC based vaccines, in particular, have other areas of extensive variability as a result of the necessity to culture DC progenitors in vitro in the presence of a combination of a wide range of cytokines and growth factors which does not facilitate the comparison between trials. Therefore, the direct comparison of clinical efficacy between DC based and other cancer vaccines strategies remains to be evaluated in larger controlled phase III trials where a consensus exists on the, optimal method of DC generation, the best protocol to assess the immune responses, and clinical outcome in the patients.

Nevertheless, it is clear from the published clinical data that DC vaccines can effectively augment immunogenicity to TAA (refer to the T cell response column in Table 2) and it can result in clinical remission [59]. Although comparison between trials is difficult as previously emphasized, Rosenberg et al [60] selected 35 reports of vaccines trials that included 765 patients whom they believed represented the majority of published trials, and these included multiple cancer types treated with a variety of the most common vaccines. The summary of their analyses suggest that there were 7 (4 %) clinical responses in 175 patients following immunization with peptide vaccines, no responses in 206 patients receiving pox viruses, 6 (4.2 %) responses in 142 patients treated with native or modified tumour cells and 14 (7.1 %) responses in 198 patients receiving DC

vaccines. Thus, this analysis highlights that for at least a portion of the patients, vaccination with DC loaded with 1 or more peptides is an effective intervention with a great potential for the treatment of less advanced cancer patients or as prophylactic treatment in the prevention of future relapse in patients that were successfully treated.

The most remarkable aspect of DC based vaccines is the safety records assembled from the large number of trial performed to date, which report that side effects are uncommon and only mild and temporary adverse effects were reported by patients, such as fever, local reaction, fatigue and vitiligo (among melanoma patients), with no serious or life threatening effects recorded, which at this early stage in the development of a novel cancer treatment may be unparalleled by any of the traditional anti-cancer agents.

As we reached 10 years from the first DC vaccine trial, more follow-up studies are being published reporting the long term effect of these vaccines and in many cases clinical responses were not durable and relapse was common place. The failure to mount effective memory anti-tumour responses in patients when preclinical data shows long term protection in animal models is thought to be a result of a number of factors that render the system tolerant to tumour Ag. For instance, TAA generally have low-immunogenicity (as they may be self-Ag), and the development of tumours in humans tends to be very slow which facilitates the tolerization of the system against the Ag thereby enabling the tumour to grow and actively suppress any anti-tumour response (Table 3 summarizes some of these factors).

The large numbers of complex tumour escape mechanisms identified to date also suggest that the effectiveness of DC vaccines can be improved by combining it with therapies aimed at blocking or removing immunosuppressive molecules, cytokine or cells. Promising approaches would include the administration of mAb to deplete or block CD25⁺ T reg. cells or blockade CTLA-4 signalling both which have been shown to potentiate T cell immunity [61].

Lymphocyte factors

Lack of T cell help

Insufficient number of anti-tumour T cells

Low avidity of T cell for tumours

T cells are anergic

Down-regulation of T cell receptor signal transduction

Apoptosis of T cells function when encountering tumour

Inadequate T cell function (cytokines, lysis)

T cell cannot infiltrate tumour

Active suppression by suppressor lymphocytes (e.g. T reg.)

DC mediate suppressive function and promote T reg. proliferation

Tumour factors

Insufficient TAA expression

Loss of HLA expression by tumour cells

Tumour production of immunosuppressive factors (e.g. TGF-β, IL-10, IL-6)

Tumour resistance to apoptosis or other cell destruction pathways (e.g. p53 mutation,

downregulation of Fas receptor, over expression of Bcl-2)

Prevention of cell death by increasing expression of serine protease inhibitor (PI9), secretion of

NO, activity of IDO to protect from T cell immunity

Decreased expression of molecules involved in antigen presentation (e.g. TAP-1)

Tumours acquire ability to secrete their own growth factors and upregulate expression of growth factor receptors

 Table 3 Summary of factors that contribute to the development of tumours, despite the apparent generation of anti-tumour effector cells.

Abbrv: T regulatory cells (T reg.), Human leukocyte Antigen (HLA), Transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), Interleukin-10 (IL-10), Protease inhibitor-9 (PI-9), Nitric Oxide (NO), Indoleamine 2,3-deoxygenase (IDO), Transporter associated with antigen processing -1 (TAP-1).

Moreover, although the clinical effectiveness of currently available DC vaccines are to a certain extent disappointing, it should not be interpreted to mean that cancer vaccines are of no therapeutic value, because different types of cancer have unique challenges for successful vaccination [62]. Thus, despite the fact that the majority of the patients were not reported to show complete tumour regression, these data should rather emphasise the need for changes and increased efforts to generate a more potent anti-tumour response. Areas of focus should include: (1), the generation of anti-tumour CD4 T cells that recognise MHC-II restricted Ag, which would enhance the CTL response and sustain the survival of memory cells; (2), the exploration of improved adjuvants such as TLR-agonists to activate innate immunity; (3), the use of agonistic mAb (e.g. 4-1BB mAb), which stimulate CD8 T cells, or the administration of proinflammatory cytokines; and (4), the blockade of secretory immunosuppressive molecules such as TGF- β , IL-10, IL-13, as well as eliminating T reg cells and blockade of CTLA-4 molecules.

Furthermore, there are other attractive practical points associated with this approach, such as the fact that Ag-bearing DC vaccines do not cause significant side effects and can be administered in out-patients, unlike most conventional therapies. Moreover, considering that cancer is a chronic condition, disease control with prolonged survival and good quality of life might be considered a therapeutic success in itself even if complete remission is not obtained. However, the current drawbacks associated with DC based vaccines is related to the cost involved in the isolation and expansion of the DC in vitro to induce their maturation and Ag loading before being injected back into the patient; together with the fact that these vaccines are patient specific and are not easily stored.

Thus, because of these weaknesses, investigators continue to look for new strategies that can increase the efficacy of DC vaccines and reduce their cost, and one of these new strategies rely on the expansion of DC in patients and/ or direct targeting of Ag to endogenous DC in situ, thereby circumventing the need to extract and expand cells in vitro. A potential candidate for expanding human DC numbers in vivo without activating them is pre-treatment with FLT3-L. Whether the dramatic increase in DC numbers seen in vivo following FLT3 ligand treatment enhances immune responses to vaccines remains to be established [63]. Like tumour cells, murine DC have been reported to secrete Ag presenting vesicles of endosomal origin, termed exosomes. Peptide coated DC-derived exosomes were shown to induce potent anti-tumour immune responses [64]. A phase I clinical trial has recently been launched, aimed at vaccinating subcutaneously metastatic melanoma and inoperable lung cancer patients with autologous DC-derived exosomes pulsed with MAGE-3 class I and II peptides [65].

Of more interest to us is the approach that has so far been only tested in mice, which involves the in situ delivery of Ag to DC by targeting Ag to molecules expressed on these cells using mAb. Recently several DC-associated C-type lectin receptors such as DEC205, DC-specific ICAM-3 grabbing non-integrin (DC-SIGN) and CD206 have been shown to efficiently bind and internalise Ag, which was subsequently directed into the endocytic compartments for loading of MHC-II and presentation to CD4 T cells [66, 67]. More importantly, when mice were immunized with Ag complexed with α -DEC205 mAb, a strong response of IFN- γ secreting CD8 and CD4 T cells was generated. This result showed that Ag targeting via DEC205 can be efficiently cross-presented to CD8 T cells and Agspecific immunity mounted provided a DC maturation stimulus (e.g. α -CD40 mAb) was co-administered with the vaccine, to prevent the induction of tolerance. The therapeutic effectiveness of this vaccine in a melanoma animal model was reported to prevent the development and reduce the progression of established tumours [68, 69].

Apotolopous' group [67] also reported that ex-vivo targeting of the CD206 on macrophages and DC, with oxidized mannan linked to MUC-1 (an adenocarcinoma TAA) gave rise to highly effective CTL production and tumour protection after adoptive transfer, and suggested that this method might be suitable for immunisation of patients as both DEC205 and CD206 have been reported to be expressed in human DC.

Another example of efficient Ag-targeting to DC was reported by Wang et al in 2000 [70], when they showed that by targeting Ag to CD11c molecules, a marker of all subsets of DC with a hamster α -mouse CD11c mAb (N418), enhanced the serum IgG Ab levels in the primary response. A single low-dose immunization with CD11c-Ag, produced high titre IgG Ab in only 7 days, whereas the irrelevant mAb conjugated to the same Ag in the presence of adjuvant produced little measurable serum IgG until day 20. In agreement with these data, Berry et al [71] reported that CD11c conjugated to a synthetic peptide corresponding to an exposed region of DC-SIGN generated a rapid peptide-specific serum IgG1 response, which was also the predominant IgG class recovered by Wang et al

[70]. The molecular basis for this enhanced humoral response remains to be determined.

Therefore, as these few examples suggest, in vivo targeting and loading of DC might be the ideal vaccination strategy, as it is cell free, not as labour intensive as ex-vivo culturing of DC, a vast array of TAA or tumour cells could be easily delivered to the patients regardless of their HLA haplotype, administration is very easy and potentially the Ab-complexes could be manufactured on a large scale resulting in off-shelf reagents. Based on the encouraging data reported in animal models and the potential advantages that this approach would have over the current DC vaccines, we aimed to investigate the effectiveness of targeting our model Ag, Ova, to DC in situ via different molecules and determined the most efficacious target molecule to evoke a robust CD4 and CD8 T cell response with long lived memory responses that could be reflected in a therapeutic model.

1.2 Dendritic cells

1.2.1 DC subsets

The several, and often opposing, roles now attributed to DC cannot be all performed at once by the same cell, suggesting the existence of different sets of DC that perform different functions. Originally, two models were proposed to account for this diversity: (1), the functional plasticity model, which suggested that distinct DC subsets might represent different activation states of a single lineage, the functional differences depending solely on local environmental signals; and (2), the specialized lineage model, which argued that the DC subsets were products of completely separate developmental lineages and that the precursors of the DC would already be separated and functionally committed at an early stage. However, our current understanding suggests a combination of the two models may occur with a large degree of functional plasticity.



Diagram 1 Summary of the six major DC subsets identified to date and some of their main functional differences.

The first major subdivision of DC is between the plasmacytoid DC (pDC) and conventional subsets. This subdivision was originally made in humans [72] and was later extended to the mouse [73]. The conventional DC can be further subdivided into three subsets of blood-derived DC and two tissue-derived DC (Diagram 1). The conventional DC subsets identified in the spleen are all blood-derived [74], because there is no lymphatic drainage to this organ. There are three blood-derived subsets: CD8⁺CD4⁻ DC, CD8⁻CD4⁺ DC, CD8⁻CD4⁻ DC. These are also found in the lymph nodes (LN) [75], together with the progeny of tissue-derived DC. In the case of the LN draining the skin, there are two distinct tissue-derived subsets, these are the Langerhans' cells (LC) and the dermal or interstitial DC. Non-cutaneous LN do not contain LC, but these organs will have their own interstitial DC.

These six major DC subsets were characterized and distinguished from each other on the basis of the expression of different phenotypic markers including CD11c, CD11b, CD4, CD8, DEC205, CD45RA and langerin. Table 4

summarizes the phenotypic differences associated with the DC subsets characterised to date. All mature blood-derived DC subsets freshly isolated from the spleen in the steady-state are characterized by the expression of high levels of CD11c and MHC-II, as well as expression of co-stimulatory molecules, such as CD80, CD86 and CD40, and adhesion molecules (e.g. ICAM-1). Plasmacytoid DC on the other hand, express low levels of CD11c and MHC-II. The presence of a danger signal, such as that provided by LPS, is known to induce DC maturation and activation of all DC subsets, resulting in upregulation of surface MHC-II, CD40, CD80 and particularly CD86 [76].

DC type	CD11e	CD8	CD4	DEC205	CD11b	CD45RA	Origin	Functions
CD8⁺ DC	+	+	-	+	-	-	Blood	High IL-12 Cross-priming Cross-tolerance
CD4 ⁺ DC	+	-	+	-	+	•	Blood	Ag presentation
CD8 ⁻ CD4 ⁻ DC	+	-	1000	1047. THE	+	-	Blood	High IFN secretion
Langerhans' DC	+	-/Low	inn is hean	Very High	+	Nume mit	Skin	Traffic from skin to LN Transport/present contact sensitizing Ag
Dermal/ Interstitial DC	+	n con L juo			+/-		Tissue	In the periphery Traffic to LN Present Ag to T cells
Plasmacytoid DC	Low	+/-	+/-	die etc		+	Blood/ Tissue	High IFN secretion Involved in viral immunity

 Table 4 Phenotypic profiles of the six major murine DC subsets identified to date and their main functional properties.

In conclusion, there are 3 major subsets of murine conventional blood-derived DC: CD8⁺ CD4⁻ CD11b⁻ DEC205⁺; CD8⁻ CD4⁺ CD11b⁻ DEC205⁻; CD8⁻ CD4⁻ CD11b⁺ DEC205⁻ and two tissue-derived ones, CD8^{low/-} CD4⁻ CD11b⁺ DEC205^{high} langerin⁺ and CD8⁻ CD4⁻ CD11b^{+/-} DEC205⁻ langerin⁻. Plasmacytoid DC are identified as CD11c^{low} CD11b⁻ CD8⁺ (subset) CD4⁺ (subset) DEC205⁻ CD45RA^{+.}

In contrast to the many studies on mouse DC, there are relatively few studies on mature human DC (hDC) freshly isolated from tissue and hDC lack the expression of CD8 α , which makes direct comparisons difficult. Nevertheless, at

least 3 subsets of mature hDC are known [77]: interstitial DC. $CD11c^{+}HLADR^{+}CD11b^{+}CD4^{+};$ LC containing Birbeck granules, CD11c⁺HLADR⁺CD11b⁺ CD4⁺langerin ⁺CD1a^{+;} and lastly, pDC which in humans lack CD11c, unlike murine pDC, CD11c⁻CD11b⁻HLADR⁺CD4⁺ DEC205⁻CD45RA⁺.

1.2.2 Developmental origin of the murine DC subsets

There is considerable confusion about the origins of the distinct subsets of DC, if they are products of separate developmental lineages or whether they are different activation states of a single lineage.

Early work suggested that DC were of myeloid origin, because myeloid haematopoietic progenitor cells (HPC) can develop into LC DC and interstitial DC [78]. Furthermore, DC can be generated from bone marrow (BM) cells, cord blood progenitors and peripheral blood in the presence of the myeloid growth factor, GM-CSF in combination with TNF- α , or IL-4 [79] or IL-5 [80]. However, later work provided evidence that certain subsets had lymphoid origins. For instance, in vivo studies showed that adoptive transfer of purified thymic precursors into irradiated recipients resulted in the development of T cells, B cells, NK cells and thymic CD8⁺ DC but not cells of the myeloid lineage [81].

However, direct tests of the lineage segregation model only became possible when both myeloid-restricted and lymphoid-restricted precursor cells were isolated from BM. This confirmed that both precursors could produce all the mature splenic and thymic DC subsets, albeit with some bias in the subset balance [82, 83]. Furthermore, tracking studies with 5-bromo-2-deoxyuridine (BrdU) indicated that none of the DC subsets are products of the others [84]. Thus, a degree of phenotypical and functional commitment must occur downstream of the early haematopoietic precursors.

Although monocytes can differentiate into DC in the presence of inflammatory cytokines, the extent to which they do so in vivo and especially for the turnover

of DC in the steady state remains unknown. Recently, Fogg et al [85] reported that a clonogenic BM progenitor that is CD117⁺ (c-kit), CD115⁺ and CX₃CR1⁺ has been identified and was demonstrated to gives rise to monocytes, macrophages and resident CD8⁺ and CD8⁻ splenic DC. These cells were suggested to be upstream precursors of bona fide monocytes, but they may circulate somewhat independently of monocytes and have a greater plasticity for differentiation than the conventional blood monocyte. Other studies have shown that under severe inflammatory conditions (e.g. local UV irradiation) there is a recruitment of Gr-1^{hi} monocytes (a monocyte marker also referred to as Ly-6c/G) to the inflamed skin and these cells were able to proliferate locally and differentiate into functional LC or dermal macrophages in vivo [86]. Furthermore, in agreement with these findings, Le Borgne et al [87] showed that depletion of monocytes prevents in vivo priming of CD8⁺ CTL against an innocuous protein antigen administered with adjuvant. Thus, all together these results support the notion that a subset of monocytes could act as circulating precursors of DC and macrophages during inflammatory conditions when there is a demand for DC and macrophages, however if this is true under steady state condition remains to be determined.

The microenvironment has also been shown to have profound effects on the phenotype and function of DC. Oldston's group [88] showed that virus infection of BM derived pDC induced their differentiation into conventional DC, thereby undergoing phenotypic changes, enhanced Ag presentation capacity and recognition through Toll-like receptors (TLR) mainly expressed by myeloid DC, which exemplifies the degree of plasticity involved in DC phenotypes and function.

1.2.3 Distinct localization and lifespan of DC subsets

Briefly, the $CD8^+ DC$ subset has been found to be localized in the T cell areas of the mouse spleen, LN, and Peyer's Patches. In the steady-state, $CD8^- DC$ are found in the MZ of the spleen, the subcapsular sinus and T cell areas of the LN

[89, 90]. Upon stimulation these cells have been demonstrated to rapidly migrate from the MZ to the T cell areas where they can prime naïve T cells [91]. In addition, LC and interstitial DC are found only in the T cell areas of the LN and not the spleen, as these have migrated from epithelial and dermal tissues, respectively [92]. The remaining subset, the pDC, has been described in the MZ of the spleen.

Furthermore, BrdU-labelling studies by Shortman's group et al [76, 93] have showed that in the steady-state the distinct DC subsets also differ in their lifespan. All three subsets of mature DC in the spleen have remarkably short lifespan, with CD8⁺DC being the first to be generated from bone marrow precursors and having the fastest turnover in the spleen (half-life 1.5 days), so almost all of the cells were replenished by 3 days. The CD4⁻CD8⁻ DC and CD4⁺CD8⁻DC had half-lives of 2 and 2.9 days, respectively. These rates were for mice aged 5-7 weeks old, older mice (20 weeks) showed a 15-20% slower rate of turnover. The continuous and rapid labelling of all three subsets in the spleen also suggested that the dividing precursors are from independent pathways. Both skin derived subsets had longer life-spans (half life >21 days), probably a reflection of long residence time in the skin rather than presence in the LN presenting Ag.

When the turnover of the DC subsets in other lymphoid organs was assessed, the data indicated that as in the spleen, CD8⁺DC in the LN, had a shorter lifespan than the CD8⁻DC subsets, however, the turnover rate varied with the location of the LN, as the total time for this subset to be replaced was approximately 3 days in spleen, 4 days in mesenteric LN and 9 days in cutaneous-draining LN. The factors causing these differences remain unclear. Moreover, these studies conclude that the tissue specific DC subsets from the cutaneous LN had longer lifespans than the blood derived subsets found in the spleen and LN, with only 40 % of unlabelled LC being replaced after 21 days and dermal DC preceding them by 2-3 days.

This strikingly low turnover of LC agreed with data from other groups [94, 95] showing that DC that migrate from the skin, and in particular LC, have an

exceptionally long lifespan as measured from the last dividing precursor and their death in the LN. Dermal DC had a faster turnover and movement from the skin than LC, however, once they arrived in the LN, all DC present in healthy, uninfected mice displayed a rapid turnover from short (9 days) to very short (2-3 days), which was shorten by the presence of Ag or microbial products, possibly as a safety mechanism to limit the prolonged priming of DC. These findings contradict the conclusion from Ruedl et al [94] that these DC have long lifespan in the LN, which implied that these DC have a prolonged contact with T cell in the LN than the other subsets. Overall, DC in the spleen and LN turnover rapidly (within 6 days) and the DC in the skin take longer (> 12 days)[76].

1.2.4 Antigen uptake, internalization and presentation

In most tissues, DC are present in an immature state unable to stimulate T cells. Although these DC lack the requisite accessory signals for T cell activation, they are extremely well equipped to capture Ag. Thus, iDC are thought to act as sentinels specialized in the detection, internalization and processing of Ag. They can acquire Ag via different mechanisms, such as phagocytosis, macropinocytosis and receptor-mediated endocytosis.

In iDC, macropinocytosis is constitutive [96], enabling them to rapidly and nonspecifically sample large amounts of surrounding fluid. Phagocytosis, in contrast, is initiated by the engagement of specific receptors that trigger a cascade of signal transduction necessary for actin polymerization and effective engulfment. In general, the same receptors mediate both phagocytosis and receptor-mediated endocytosis. Apoptotic and necrotic cell fragments can also be internalised by iDC, in a process reported to involve the scavenger receptor CD36, heat-shock protein binding receptor CD91, phosphatidylserine receptor and vitronecting receptor ($\alpha_V\beta_{3}$) or $\alpha_V\beta_5$ integrins [97, 98], as well as viruses, bacteria and intracellular parasites[99, 100].

1.2.5 Receptor-mediated endocytosis

Receptor-mediated endocytosis allows the uptake of macromolecules through specialised regions of the plasma membrane, termed clathrin-coated pits comple [101]. Viral and tumour Ag can be taken up by DC as soluble proteins or shed from live tumour cells. The most efficient pathway of viral and tumour Ag loading to DC, however, seems to be the uptake of apoptotic or necrotic tumour cells [102]. Therefore, the development of new Ag delivery strategies applicable for the in vivo loading of MHC-I and -II molecules via the exogenous route is of special interest.

A large number of endocytic receptors are selectively expressed by subpopulations of iDC, but like mouse macrophages, iDC also express non-Ag specific endocytic receptors including FcRI (CD64), Fc γ RIII (CD16), Fc γ R II(CD32) [103, 104] and complement receptors CR3 and CR4 [105]. These receptors are involved in the binding and internalization of opsonized Ag, by Abs and/or by complement fragments, to phagocytic cells.

• Fc receptors

Ag complexed with IgG Ab bind to and are taken up by the FcR mentioned above. Internalization of Ag-IgG immune complexes via FcRII (CD32) in human DC was shown to enhance the efficacy of Ag-presentation 100-fold in comparison compared to free Ag [106]. Furthermore, it also resulted in efficient peptide loading of MHC-II molecules and promoted MHC-I restricted cross-presentation at very low Ag concentrations [107].

However, targeting with IgG type Ab can result in opposing effects due to the different intracellular signalling sequences of various FcR. Using human xenografts, both the activation and inhibitory effect of different FcR was demonstrated [108]. Indeed, FcγRIIB contains an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif (ITIM), which is able to interfere with the stimulatory effect of other FcR upon cross-linking by immune complexes, which suggests that tumour cell-specific IgG-Ab participate in the stimulation of cellular anti-
tumour immune responses by activating DC and by modifying anti-tumour effector functions [109].

• Complement receptors

There are a number of complement receptors but more emphasis will be given to CD11c/CD18, also known as CR4, p150, 90 and $\alpha_x\beta_2$, as it expressed at high levels by DC and has been shown to be an important target in our current research.

CD11c/CD18 is a member of the integrin superfamily, which is comprised of α and β - subunits. Currently, more than twenty different kinds of integrins have been identified, which can be classified in eight subgroups based on the β - subunit. The β_2 (CD18) integrins are expressed mainly on leukocytes: leukocyte function-associated Ag-1 (LFA-1, CD11a/CD18), MAC-1 (CD11b/CD18), p150, 95 (CD11c/CD18) and CD11d/CD18. These integrins have been reported to mediate several leukocyte activities including adhesion, spreading, chemotaxis, migration, phagocytosis and respiratory burst [110].

As transmembrane receptors, each subunit contains a large extracellular domain, a single membrane spanning segment and a short cytoplasmic tail. The cytoplasmic tail of the β -subunit is necessary and sufficient to mediate the linkage of integrins to the actin cyskeleton. Although α -subunits can bind cytoskeletal proteins, current evidence indicates that the major functional role of the α -cytoplasmic tail is to modulate cytoskeletal interactions by directly interacting in a ligand dependent fashion with the cytoplasmic region of the β subunit [111]. In several types of the α -integrin subunits (α L, α M, α X, α E, α 1, 2, 10 and 11), there are characteristic inserted domains (I-domains) which are responsible for the binding of ligands. I-domains have a unique structure containing a metal ion dependent adhesion site (MIDAS) at the top of the domain where the ligand is bound [112]. There are five exposed loops surrounding MIDAS, which have been shown to undergo conformational changes to bind their physiological ligands [113]. CD11c/CD18 has been shown to act as a receptor for the complement C3 cleavage product iC3[114], fibrinogen [115], denatured proteins [116], intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) [117] and, interestingly, to be involved in Ag capture and delivery to Ag processing compartments [118]. CD11c/CD18 is expressed on monocytes, macrophages, granulocytes, a subset of NK cells and in a small proportion of activated T and B cells. However, it is still considered a DC surface marker because it is expressed at significantly higher levels on these cells and it is the predominant leukocyte integrin on DC. CD11c is expressed on the surface of all subsets of mouse DC [119] and all human DC of myeloid origin [120].

• C-type lectin receptor superfamily

Together with the TLR family, the C-type lectins represent another group of PRR, which are best known for their ability to bind specific pathogen associated glycosylated Ag. C-type lectins recognise carbohydrate residues in a calcium dependent manner via a highly conserved carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD). C-type lectins are the most abundant Ag receptors on DC and are implicated in immunoregulatory processes, such as Ag capture, DC trafficking and DC-T cell interactions [121]. Based on the location of the amino (N) terminus, two types of membrane-bound C-type lectins can be distinguished on DC. Type I lectins have their N-terminus located outside, while type II have it inside the cell.

Type I lectins include the macrophage mannose receptor (CD206) and DEC205 (CD205), which have been shown to be involved in cellular interactions and Ag endocytosis. Like other type I lectins, DEC205 is internalized from the cell surface by clathrin mediated endocytosis. It has been estimated that constitutively endocytosed receptors, such as those in this family, mediate ten or more rounds of recycling each hour [122].

Investigations on the cytoplasmic domain of these receptors demonstrated that they contain two potential endocytosis motifs based on a conserved tyrosine residue and a dihydrophobic motif [123]. In contrast to CD206, which has been shown to recycle between the plasma membrane and early endosomes, DEC205, after internalisation passes through late endocytic compartments containing MHC-II molecules, due to a specific molecular motif (EDE) in its cytoplasmic tail [124], thereby enhancing the efficiency of Ag presentation.

To date, no physiological ligands have been identified for DEC205 and therefore the basis of its ligand specificity remains to be determined. CD206 has been shown to bind a wide variety of microorganisms including *Candida albicans* and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, amongst others [123]. Regarding their expression profiles, DEC205 has been shown not to be restricted to DC, as it has also been detected on some epithelial cells, B cells, bone marrow stroma and endothelial cells albeit to a lower level [125]. In the case of CD206, which was originally identified as a macrophage receptor, it is now known that its expression is also not restricted to these cells. DC, lymphatic and hepatic endothelium, kidneys have also been shown to express CD206 [123].

Type II lectins include langerin (CD207), which is specifically produced by LC. DC-specific ICAM-3 grabbing non-integrin (DC-SIGN) (CD209) represents another member of this group and it has been demonstrated to act as an endocytic receptor mediating Ag presentation [126]. In humans, DC-SIGN expression is restricted to professional APC and expression levels are high. It is abundantly expressed by DC residing in lymphoid tissues and at mucosal surfaces and by dermal DC, together with macrophages. A recent study has demonstrated that Ab-mediated targeting of Ag to DC via DC-SIGN effectively induces Agspecific naïve as well as memory T cell responses in humans, making it a promising target for DC based vaccination strategies [127].

Furthermore, there are other receptors on DC that have been reported to mediate Ag endocytosis which are not members of the families mentioned above, including the CD91 receptor (the α_2 -macroglobulin, also known as low density lipoprotein-related protein, LRP) that binds heat-shock proteins (e.g. gp96 and hsp70, hsp90 and calreticulin) derived from tumour or infected cells [128]. Scavenger receptors are also implicated in the internalization of various bacteria,

and DC express at least one, CD36 (classB-SR), which is involved in the uptake of apoptotic bodies [129].

1.2.6 DC maturation

iDC are thought to require 2 independent signals in order to become fully activated: the direct recognition of pathogen via a range of PRR and indirect danger signals. The latter signals include inflammatory cytokines (e.g. TNF- α , IL-1 β), LPS, intracellular components, and direct signals from viruses and bacteria via TLR. In response to these, DC become activated and initiate the process of maturation, which transforms the Ag-capturing DC into efficient Ag-presenting cells. Maturation is associated with several coordinated events, including downregulation of endocytic and phagocytic receptors, upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules such as CD40, CD80, CD86 and CD58, adhesion molecules, MHC molecules and changes in morphology.

The five main families of surface receptors reported to trigger DC maturation are summarized below.

1) Toll-like receptors (TLR)

Different pathogen-associated pattern molecules are specifically recognized by one or a combination of TLR (64). Different subsets of DC also express distinct overlapping sets of TLR. For example, in mice TLR3 is preferentially expressed by CD8⁺ DC, while TLR5 and 7 are mainly expressed by CD8⁻ DC. Plasmacytoid DC express high levels of TLR7 and 9, focusing on the recognition of viral pathogens, whereas conventional DC, express the remaining members of this family, which target mainly bacterial pathogens. Moreover, TLR recognise different motifs, for instance TLR4 binds LPS (GRAM- bacteria), TLR2 peptidoglycan (GRAM+bacteria), and TLR5 flagellin from both types of bacteria and TLR9 unmethylated CpG motifs.

2) Cytokine receptors

DC sense danger through the binding of inflammatory cytokines (e.g. TNF- α and IL-1 β) to their respective receptors [130].

3) TNF-receptor family molecules

CD4 T helper cells induce DC maturation and survival via the interaction of members of the TNFR-family, such as CD40/CD40L. Moreover, DC maturation leads to the upregulation of other members (e.g. OX40L and 4-1BBL) in distinct patterns depending on the activation signal received, which allows them to induce and modulate the T cell response as required. Evidence suggest that the interaction of 4-1BBL/4-1BB is more important in a CD8 T cell response, much like OX40L/OX40 in a CD4 T cell response, with both being essential for the accumulation and survival of large numbers of primes T cells over time[131].

4) Heat-shock protein (Hsp) receptors

Cell death can also be sensed via Hsp receptors (e.g. CD91) as hsp are released by necrotic cells [132].

1.2.7 Migration of activated DC

All mediators of maturation trigger peripheral DC migration into the T cell area of lymphoid organs. This migration involves the coordinated action of several chemokines. Like adhesion molecules, the expression of chemokine receptors can be altered as cells differentiate, allowing them to coordinate their migratory route. Ligand binding to their chemokine receptors transmits signals to induce the expression of adhesion molecules, in particular integrins such as $\alpha_4\beta_7$ or $\alpha_4\beta_1$, which mediate the arrest of the circulating lymphocytes by forming strong interactions with adhesion molecules expressed on endothelial cells (e.g. intercellular adhesion molecule-1 and -2, ICAM-1/-2) at the site of inflammation or lymphoid organs[133].

After Ag uptake, activation of iDC inhibits their sensitivity to MIP-3 α (and other chemokines specific for iDC) through either downregulation or desensitisation of its receptor [134, 135]. Consequently, maturing DC escape from the local gradient of this cytokine. Upon maturation, DC upregulate the expression of a single known chemokine receptor CCR7(116) and accordingly, acquire

responsiveness to CCL19 (also known as MIP-3 β) and CCL21 (or secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine-SLC) [134], which allows them to leave the periphery and enter the lymphatic stream. Mature DC are driven into the paracortical area in response to MIP-3 β and/or SLC by cells in the T cell zone [134, 136]. The DC may themselves become a source of these chemokines [134-136] allowing them to amplify the chemotactic signal. Furthermore, these two chemokines can also attract naïve T cells and play an important role in bringing the Ag-bearing DC closer to naïve T cells [136] (Diagram 2).



Diagram 2 Life cycle of a dendritic cell.

When immature DC (iDC) circulating the body, encounters antigens (Ag) in the periphery it induces the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g. IFN- α), which in turn can recruit eosinophils, macrophages and natural killer cells (NK) to the site. After Ag capture, iDC expressing low levels of co-stimulatory molecules migrate to the lymphoid organs, as they become insensitive to local MIP- α due to the loss of chemokine receptor CCR5. As DC mature (mDC), the increased expression of CCR7 allows them to respond to the MIP-B/CCL21 chemokines released by resident cells at the lymphoid organ. mDC potentiate their Ag presentation capacity by expressing high levels of co-stimulatory molecules and MHC-peptide complexes, thereby being able to directly present peptides to CD4 T cells and cross-priming CD8 T cells. These activated lymphocytes help DC in their maturation via co-stimulatory molecules (e.g. CD40/CD40-L), which results in lymphocyte expansion and differentiation into effector cells (cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) and T helper cells. Helper T cells also secrete cytokines that permit the activation of macrophages, NK cells and eosinophils. B cells can recognise either native Ag via their B cell receptors or in the form of immune complexes captured on follicular DC. B cells become activated when in contact with Th2 effector cells and their cytokines, which induce them to migrate into various areas where they mature into plasma cells producing Abs, and memory B cells. In the absence of co-stimulation T regulatory cell may develop. It is believed that, after interaction with lymphocytes, DC die by apoptosis. Adapted from [78].

Upon interaction with T cells, DC receive additional maturation signals from CD40L, RANK/TRANCE, 4-1BB and OX40L, which induce the release of IL-8, fractalkine and macrophage derived chemokines that attract lymphocytes to the site [137, 138].

1.2.8 Ag processing and presentation

To trigger an immune response, Ag have to be degraded into short peptides, loaded onto MHC complexes and presented at the cell surface. Early experiments examining the nature of MHC-restriction during T cell priming showed a strict compartmentalisation of loading of exogenous and endogenous Ag onto MHC-II in the endocytic pathway and the selective loading of endogenous only, on MHC-I molecules in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). However, over 20 years ago, Bevan et al demonstrated that exogenous Ag could also be presented by MHC-I molecules and initiate a cytotoxic response, in a process called cross-priming [139].

1.2.8.1 MHC-class II restricted presentation of Ag

After internalization, most Ag are digested into peptides by several proteases, including cathepsins and asparaginyl endopeptidase [140] in the endocytic pathway (refer to diagram 3). Soon after synthesis in the ER, newly synthesised MHC-II molecules are targeted to the endocytic compartment through a signal in the cytoplasmic tail of the invariant chain (Ii) [141]. Once in endosomes and lysosomes, which have an acidic environment, the Ii chain is degraded, leaving only class II-associated peptide (CLIP) in the peptide binding groove. The non polymorphic HLA-DM and HLA-DO in humans and H2-M and H2-O in the mouse, catalyze the exchange of CLIP for the Ag-derived peptides [142] and the MHC-II-peptide complex is delivered to the surface to present the peptide to naïve CD4 T cells.

Unlike other APC, DC tightly regulate the formation and transport to the surface of MHC-II-peptide complexes during their life cycle, thereby preventing the iDC from presenting self-peptide from engulfed healthy cells to T cells. First, Ag degradation is inefficient in iDC and internalised Ag can remain intact in lysosomal compartments for several days [143]. Second, in mouse DC, newly synthesised MHC-II molecules have been shown to be retained in lysosomal compartments due to the poor degradation of Ii [144], and were unable to reach the cell surface [145]. Upon maturation of the DC, the degradation of Ii is rapidly increased resulting in efficient transport of the complex to the cell surface [146] together with co-localised co-stimulatory molecule CD86 (B7.2) and MHC-I molecules as clusters involved in T cell stimulation [147]. In addition, anti-inflammatory cytokines can interfere with the regulation of MHC-II processing by DC. For example, IL-10 inhibits the rise in protease activity induced by maturation signals by increasing the endosomal pH causing the long-term inhibition of Ag processing and presentation by mature DC [148].



Diagram 3 The three major pathways involved in antigen presentation by dendritic cells.

Grey shaded area of diagram represents the route of exogenous antigen processing and presentation (divided into direct and cross-priming pathways) by dendritic cells; white area, indicates the pathway taken by endogenous antigen (direct priming).

1.2.8.2 MHC-class I restricted presentation of Ag

In contrast to exogenous Ag, peptides derived from endogenous Ag (i.e. from self-components or from virus-derived Ag expressed within the cell) are thought to become associated with MHC-I molecules, which are recognised by CD8 CTL. Thus, CD8 T cells would only be activated by an APC synthesising the Ag within itself.

Endogenous Ag peptides are generated by proteasome degradation of newly synthesised ubiquitinated proteins in the cytosol (refer to diagram 3). The resulting peptides are transferred to the ER by specialised peptide transporters (e.g.TAP) and loaded onto new MHC-I molecules under the control of a loading complex composed of several ER resident chaperones, such as tapasin, calnexin and calreticulin [149]. They are then rapidly transported through the Golgi apparatus to the membrane. As well as there being a marked increase in MHC-I synthesis upon maturation of DC [150], several proteasome subunits characteristic of the immunoproteasome (e.g. LMP2 and LMP7) are induced [151, 152], which may modify the pattern of epitopes being presented to T cells [152].

In most cases, however, cytotoxic responses need to be initiated against Ag that are not synthesised by the DC. Indeed, the immune system mounts a cytotoxic response against allotransplants [139], tumour cells [153] or virally infected non-haematopoietic cells [154], which require Ag transfer to DC to prime naïve CD8 T cells. This process is called cross-priming and therefore, DC are also capable of presenting exogenous Ag [155]. DC are particularly efficient for cross-presentation and the acquisition of the Ag can be mediated via different mechanisms. Two main intracellular pathways for cross-presentation were reported, resulting in the occurrence of either endocytic loading, where low levels of recycling MHC-I molecules are found, or ER conventional loading on newly synthesised MHC-I molecules. Evidence for both sites of peptide loading exists [155].

Castellino et al [156] suggested that internalised Ag may access the cytosol for processing by the proteasome and loading in the ER. The existence of transport from endosomes to the cytosol was initially proposed by Kovacsvics-Bankowski and Roch [157] and such a transport pathway was evidenced in macrophages [157, 158] and DC [159, 160]. Indeed, DC bear a unique endosome to cytosol transport pathway that allows selective delivery of internalised Ag to the cytosol [160]. In vivo cross-priming against tumour Ag requires TAP [153], suggesting that in this case the cytosolic pathway is predominant. In addition to MHC-class I and II, DC express a third class of MHC molecules involved in Ag presentation to T cells and NKT cells, and these are the family of CD1 proteins. However, discussion of this topic is unfortunately beyond the scope of this thesis.

1.3 T and B cell priming

1.3.1 Signals regulating T cell function

Over 30 years ago, the two-signal hypothesis for T and B cell activation was first proposed [161] and it has become widely accepted that T cells require two distinct signals for optimal T cell precursor (TP) cell expansion. Signal 1, is provided by the interaction of the TcR with the MHC-peptide complex on the surface of APC, and signal 2, comes from costimulatory molecules such as CD80 and CD86 on the surface of APC stimulating CD28 on the T cells. Signalling through signal 1, in the absence of costimulation, leads to either the termination of activation and depletion of activated TP cells or a prolonged state of anergy or clonal unresponsiveness [162] (discussed further in section 1.3.6). Costimulation may simply promote the more efficient engagement of TcR molecules to enhance the initial activation, or may provide additional signals to promote cell survival or induce effector functions, such as cytokine secretion or cytotoxicity. Many receptors have now been described to be costimulatory, and these can be divided into two main families: the immunoglobulin superfamily (e.g. CD28/B7) and the tumour necrosis factor receptors (TNFR) superfamily (e.g. CD40/CD40L).

1.3.2 Priming of T cells by DC

The ability to prime naïve CD4 T cells constitutes a unique and critical function of DC both in vitro and in vivo. As certain APC, such as resting B cells that express low levels of co-stimulatory molecules constitutively, are not competent APC and require activation first in order to prime CD4 T cells. In the presence of Ag, T helper cells primed by DC can interact with B cells and stimulate Agspecific Ab production. In addition, DC are equally important in priming naïve CD8 T cells and induce their expansion [163]. This can happen directly in the absence of T cell help [164], although they often require CD4 T cell help. In the sequential model, help from CD4 T cells is proposed to be transmitted directly to B cells and indirectly to CD8 T cells via CD40L-mediated stimulation of CD40 on DC. This is thought to induce DC licensing and the induction of more potent stimulatory signals to CD8 and presumably other CD4 T cells [165].

Interestingly, CD8 T cells transiently express CD40 following activation, and thus, can also benefit from direct help from CD4 T cells [166]. This finding favours the concomitant "three cluster model" more than the sequential model, previously described. Although concomitant T cell help might not be a strict requirement, it is likely to have an impact on CD8 T cell activation. Therefore, costimulatory molecules are thought to play a key role in the initiation and modulation of the priming and differentiation of T cells.

Nevertheless, it remains to be determined whether the unique ability of DC to prime T cells is a consequence of the expression of costimulatory molecules unique to DC or of the high density of these molecules involved in DC-T cell interactions. The crucial factor that constitutes signal 2 required to sustain T cell activation is the interaction between CD86 on DC and CD28 on T cells (discussed above). T cells can activate DC via CD40-CD40-L signalling leading to increased expression of CD80/CD86 and cytokine release (e.g. IL-1, TNF- α , chemokines, IL-12) [167]. CD40 stimulation on DC also causes the upregulation of OX40-L [168], which subsequently signals activated CD4 T cells to express IL-4 and chemokine receptor CXCR5, whose ligand directs T and B cells into the B cell follicles leading to their encounter at the edges of the follicle. Furthermore, mature DC also express 4-1BB-L , which complements the function of OX-40L[169]. 4-1BB is a costimulator expressed primarily on activated CD4 and CD8 T cells and its signals preferentially induces CD8 T proliferation and production of IFN- γ , leading to the amplification of CTL responses [170]. Engagement of RANK by RANK-L/TRANCE expressed on activated T cells, stimulates the secretion of cytokines like IL-1, IL-6 and IL-12 by DC, which increases the survival of DC, inhibits DC apoptosis and enhances proliferation of T cell. TRANCE has been suggested to be a key player in the CD40-independent activation of T helper cells [171].

1.3.3 CD4 T helper effector cells

Towards the end of the proliferative phase induced by the secretion of IL-2, which is synthesized and secreted by activated T cells themselves, T cells become effector cells. Mature naïve CD8 T cells are already committed to becoming cytotoxic effector cells should they be activated by Ag (see section 1.3.6). However, the effector options for CD4 T cells are more varied and commitment is made only when the naïve CD4 T cell is first stimulated by Ag. They can give rise to either CD4 T_H1 cells or T_H2 cells. The T_H1 cells bias the immune response towards macrophage activation, via the secretion of macrophage stimulating cytokines such as IFN- γ , GM-CSF, TNF- α , IL-1 and others like IL-3, TNF- β , IL-2 and the expression of CD40-L, Fas-L and TRANCE, thereby leading to inflammatory cell mediated immunity dominated by cytotoxic CD8 T cells and CD4 T_H1 cells.

In contrast, the cytokines secreted by T_H2 cells mainly induce B cell differentiation and production of Abs leading to a humoral response initiated and modulated by cytokines such as IL-4, IL-5, IL-3, GM-CSF, IL-10, TGF- β and the expression of CD40L. Because a continuous inflammatory response controlled by T_H1 cells can be very harmful to the host, cytokines secreted by Th2 cells such as TGF- β , IL-4, IL-10 and IL-13 inhibit Th1 differentiation and

also act on DC to inhibit IL-12 secretion [172], thereby polarizing the system and amplifying the type of response required at non-damaging levels.

The different subsets of conventional DC have been suggested to share the common capacity to present Ag to T cells. However, they differ in the other aspects of DC-T cell signalling that determines the subsequent fate of the T cell they activate. The most striking difference is the ability of the CD8⁺DC to induce a T_H1-biased cytokine response, whereas CD8⁻DC tend to induce a T_H2-biased response [173, 174]. Consistent with this, GM-CSF, which preferentially mobilizes myeloid DC in mice, elicits mainly IgG1 Ab in response to soluble Ag, whereas FLT3-L, which mobilizes both lymphoid and myeloid DC subsets also elicits IgG2a Ab, a T_H1 signature [175]. The main factor in this difference has been postulated to be the production of IL-12p70, as in IL-12 deficient mice there is a failure to induce T_H1 responses [174, 176]. Lymphoid CD8⁺DC but not myeloid CD8⁻DC can be induced to make large amounts of IL-12 [174] and IFN- γ [176].

The mechanisms by which myeloid DC induce T_H2 cytokines is not established, and although CD8⁺DC have the greatest capacity for IL-12 production, different stimuli can change the balance. For instance, LPS from *Escherichia coli* stimulates CD8⁺DC to produce IL-12 and induce T_H1 responses, LPS from *Porphyromonas gingavalis* does not stimulate IL-12 production and preferentially induces a T_H2 response [177]. Additionally, DC subsets can influence the amount of cytokines these T cells secrete, for example, CD4⁻CD8⁻ DC induce more IL-12, IFN- γ , IL-3 from CD8 and CD4 T cells than do CD8⁺DC [178].

A further functional difference is that CD8⁺ DC have been reported to cause early apoptotic death in CD4 T cells activated in culture, unlike CD4⁻CD8⁻DC [179]. The in vivo significance of this may suggest that CD8⁺ DC could be a specialized subset of tolerogenic or regulatory DC, and there is some evidence of this in in vivo models [180, 181]. Nevertheless, the specialization of the individual DC subsets in the priming of distinct T cell subsets remains unclear.

1.3.4 CD8 T cell cytotoxic function

Naïve CD8 T cells are stimulated to proliferate and to develop into cytotoxic effector T cells after recognition of peptides associated with MHC-I molecules on APC, in particular DC. Endogenous cytosolic proteins are generally the source of MHC-I restricted Ag, however, DC can cross-present Ag in the context of MHC-I molecules. Both direct priming and cross-priming, leads to the activation of naïve CD8 T cells, which differentiate into effector CTL.

Variations in the requirement by CTL for help from CD4 T_H1 cells, appears to be related to the inflammatory nature of the immunogen. Ag such as tumour cells, minor alloantigens and loaded cells are considered to be rather noninflammatory, thus requiring help to circumvent their poor stimulatory nature. In contrast, highly inflammatory stimuli such as viral or bacterial infection do not require help. In several recent studies, it has been shown that secondary expansion of memory CTL is greatly impaired if help is absent during the priming phase [166], even for those responses previously classified as helper independent. However, the need for "help" in the CTL primary effector phase remains highly controversial, where some reports suggested that CTL responses in general appeared to be helper independent in the primary effector phase but secondary expansion was highly dependent on receiving help during the primary phase. Interestingly, help was not required during secondary expansion once it was received in the priming phase [166, 182]. On the other hand, experimental models using different immunogens suggested that primary expansion of CTL was dramatically reduced in the absence of help [183].

In 1998, three groups provided strong evidence that signalling of CD40 on the DC was the prime means of helper-dependent DC licensing for CTL generation [165, 184, 185]. Schoenberger et al [167] found that CTL priming to a tumour Ag was CD40-dependent and, furthermore, they showed that helpers could be replaced by the CD40-stimulating mAb. Matzinger's group[165] further demonstrated that the use of α -CD40 mAb could prime a normally-dependent CTL response in mice deficient of helper cells. The ability to signal CD40 on the

DC alleviated the need for the helpers and CTL to recognise Ag at the same time, so that T helper cells should be able to license several DC for priming of CTL. There is also evidence that 4-1BB signalling on the CTL can replace the need for help [186].

Another factor determining the efficiency of CTL priming is the subset of DC cross-priming the naïve CD8 T cells. Both $CD8^+$ and $CD8^-$ DC subsets can elicit efficient Ag-specific CTL responses to peptide Ag in vivo and in vitro [187]. However, in the case of particulate or soluble protein Ag, studies have shown that while all subsets could capture, process and present to CD4 T cells, only the $CD8^+$ DC were capable of cross-presenting to Ag-specific CD8 T cells [188].

1.3.5 B cell priming

The "classical model" proposes that activated CD4 T cells expressing CD40L provide signals to B cells that induce proliferation [189], Ig class switching [190], Ab secretion [191] and rescue from apoptosis at different times during the life of a B cell [192]. Moreover, this signal has been shown to have a role in the development of germinal centres (GC) and the survival of memory B cells [193]. Thus, this suggests that a conditioned DC could act as a temporal bridge between a CD4 T helper cell and a B cell by analogy to the previously discussed sequential model, in which DC offer costimulatory signals to CD4 and CD8 T cells.

However, the whole story seems to be more complex than previously understood, because B cells upregulate the expression of CD40L on their surface following contact with Ag [194]. Furthermore, recent data have shown that DC can take up and retain Ag in its native state, and transfer this Ag to naïve B cells to initiate Ab responses [195, 196]. Therefore, these observations lead to the hypothesis that DC could display Ag to both T and B cells in a ménage a trois. Indeed, DC-B cell clusters have been shown to be stable complexes [197], indicating a serious cross-talk between these cells, possibly via the interaction of CD40 molecules on DC and CD40L on activated B cells. DC have also been reported to

interact with B cells to initiate T-independent Ab responses [198] suggesting that CD40L on B cells may play an important role in early B cell activation in T-dependent and T-independent Ab responses.

1.3.6 T cell tolerance

Stem cells continually migrate from the bone marrow to the thymus, where they develop into T cells. Since T cells recognise peptides on MHC molecules and these are highly polymorphic, the desirable immature T cells are those that can recognise self-MHC molecules but that are not autoreactive. This objective is achieved by thymic selection, a process that involves both positive and negative selection.

The induction of central tolerance requires the presence of self-Ag in the thymus, however, not all self-Ag occur in the thymus, which leads to the requirement of the existence of additional tolerance mechanisms to prevent autoimmunity. Mechanisms occurring elsewhere in the body are referred as peripheral tolerance and they complement central tolerance. Tolerance of CD4 and CD8 T cells has been demonstrated to be achieved by either clonal deletion [199] or anergy [200]. In addition, peripheral tolerance can also be generated via immunological ignorance (Diagram 4). Under normal circumstances autoreactive T cells that cannot enter normal tissues other than the lymphoid organs ignore their Ag, thereby maintaining self-tolerance[201].

Efficient tolerance mechanisms were shown to be especially important at sites of infection, where maturing DC process and present both self and non-self Ag. It has been known for some time that maturation is a control point for initiating immunity, but the concept that this carries substantial risks emerged when DC were found to process Ag from dying cells and that DC were continually capturing and presenting self and harmless environmental Ag in the steady state [202]. Early studies suggested that $CD8^+$ DC in mice have a propensity for inducing tolerance [179, 203], but recent literature has also demonstrated the ability of $CD8^+DC$ to produce IL12p70 in response to several stimuli. This

paradox suggests that the function of the DC is influenced heavily by external signals such as inflammatory cytokines and cell-cell interactions with CD4 T cells.

This principle was elegantly demonstrated by Steinman's group in an experiment where mice were immunized with α -DEC205 mAb linked to an Ag in the presence or absence of a maturation signal (e.g. α -CD40 mAb). In the absence of the maturation signal, the Ag-specific CD4 T cells underwent initial proliferation, but then were almost entirely deleted, which resulted in the tolerization of the system. In contrast, when the maturation signal was present, immunity occurred, generating high number of Ag-specific CD4 T cells that were not deleted and produced large amounts of IFN- γ [204]. These results indicated that low doses of soluble proteins targeted to DC in the steady state are successfully cross-presented and lead to deletional tolerance if a maturation signal or inflammatory signal is not provided. It is theoretically possible that these different outcomes are a result of presentation by different subsets of DC, but the literature favours the interpretation that the same DC function in immunity and tolerance depending on their state of maturation.

The actual mechanism by which these cells are deleted in the periphery is via the Fas-Fas-L interaction. Engagement of Fas induces apoptosis in Fas-positive cells and since T cells express both Fas and Fas-L on activation, the interaction between the two molecules can induce apoptosis [199]. In addition to clonal deletion, the immune system also mediates tolerance via the action of T regulatory (Treg) cells (Diagram 4). Immune regulation by Treg cells has the additional advantage that as well as preventing autoimmunity as with clonal deletion, it also serves to limit the development of harmful pathology during normal immune responses. Studies in a number of experimental autoimmune disease models provide convincing evidence that specialised Treg cells are an integral part of the T cell repertoire [205].

CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells, which constitute approximately 10% of the peripheral murine CD4 T cell population, have been shown to possess a potent regulatory activity [206]. These cells show a partially anergic phenotype, in that they

proliferate poorly upon TcR stimulation and their growth is dependent on exogenous IL-12 [207]. $CD4^+CD25^+Treg$ cells have been demonstrated to inhibit diabetes in mice [208], induce tolerance to alloantigens [209], impede anti-tumour immunity [210] and regulate the expansion of CD4 T cells [211]. The regulatory function of $CD4^+CD25^+$ T cells has been suggested to involve the inhibition of IL-2, the overexpression of CTLA-4 [212, 213], secretion of TGF- β [214] and IL-10 [215].



Diagram 4 Major mechanisms associated with peripheral T cell tolerance (Adapted from [216]). Refer to text for description of the pathways.

Other subsets of CD4 Treg cells have been identified and these include the type 1 Treg (Tr1) cells, which secrete high levels of IL-10, but no IL-2 and IL-4, and low to moderate levels of TGF- β . Functional studies on Tr1 cells have suggested that their bystander immunosuppressive properties are mediated mainly by the secretion of IL-10, as neutralisation of IL-10 reversed the inhibition of T_H 1 clones regardless of their Ag specificities [217]. T_H3 cells are part of another subset of CD4 Treg cells and contrary to Tr1 cells; they secrete high levels of TGF- β and moderate of IL-10. Recently, certain tumour cell lines were reported to produce TGF- β [218], which may represent another strategy by which tumours suppress the induction of tumour-specific CTL responses [218]. In addition to the

CD4 Treg populations, recent data have identified CD8 Tr cells, secreting IL-10 or TGF- β [219, 220] but not much more is known about their functional properties. Together these data indicate that these cells might use multiple and as yet undefined mechanisms to mediate suppression.

There are reports in the literature suggesting that activation of DC that secrete IL-10, but not IL-12, can direct naïve T cells towards a Tr1 subtype [221]. Additionally, IL-10 inhibits the stimulatory capacity of DC through the downregulation of MHC II molecules, CD80 and CD86, thus preventing DC maturation [222]. Based on these findings, it should be possible to design therapies for the treatment of certain chronic infections and cancers by selectively inhibiting the induction or function of Tr cells, however, skewing established T cell responses might prove more difficult than inducing polarised responses in naïve individuals and obviously there is also the danger of inducing the development of autoimmunity.

Project

There is now convincing evidence from studies in both animals and humans that DC vaccination has distinct potential for inducing immune responses and is a safe and feasible approach for cancer immunotherapy. The results from Phase I and II trials, although difficult to compare, have demonstrated encouraging clinical activity for several tumour types. However, the great majority of the current protocols involve administration of in vitro cultured, loaded and conditioned DC, which makes this strategy labour intensive, expensive and patient-specific.

Aiming to circumvent these limitations, we generated a panel of Ab-based vaccines, which targeted our model Ag, Ova, to APC in situ. Whole Ova protein was chemically linked to mAb specific for surface molecules expressed on APC, in particular DC (listed in table 5).

[FabxOva] conjugate Target		
N418xOva	CD11c	
DEC205xOva	DEC205	
Mc39-16/ Mc106A5xOva	Bcl1/A31 Idiotype (controls)	
3/23xOva	CD40	
M5/114xOva	MHC-II	
LOB15.1xOva	TLR2	
2.4G2xOva	FcRy II/III	

Table 5 List of [FabxOva] conjugates and their targets on antigen presenting cells.

The advantage of this strategy is that by effectively delivering Ag directly to DC in vivo, we aimed to amplify Ag-specific T and B cell immunity without having to expand the DC in vitro, which would eliminate the major costs and drawbacks associated with the current protocols (diagram 5). Furthermore, we investigated the efficacy of the individual [FabxOva] conjugates as potential therapeutic vaccines in cancer immunotherapy by using animal tumour models.



Diagram 5 Diagrammatic representation of the objectives aimed to be achieved in this project.

By delivering ovalbumin directly to surface molecules on dendritic cells in situ, we aimed to potentiate anti-ovalbumin T cell and humoral immunity, and assess the efficacy of these conjugates as potential cancer vaccines.

Chapter 2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Cell culture

Cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium (Invitrogen Ltd, Paisley, UK), supplemented with 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin (Invitrogen), 2 mM L-glutamine (Invitrogen), 1 mM pyruvate (Invitrogen) and 10 % (v/v) Foetal Calf Serum (FCS; Myoclone Plus, Invitrogen) and maintained at 37 °C in a 5 % CO₂ humidified incubator. Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) K1 cells stably transfected with the FLT3-L-Fc fusion protein were cultured in GMEM-S (First Link, UK) supplemented with 10 % (v/v) dialysed FCS (First Link, UK), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin and 50 μ M methionine sulfoximine (MSX) (Sigma). The supernatant was collected and purified using a protein-A column.

2.2 Cell quantitation

Cell numbers were determined using a Coulter Industrial D Cell counter (Coulter Electronics, Bedfordshire, UK), or by manual counting using a haemocytometer (Improved Neubauer).

2.3 Reagents

H-2K^b-restricted OVA ₂₅₇₋₂₆₄ peptide (SIINFEKL) and an I-A^b-restricted peptide (LSQAVHAAHAEINEAGR; OVA₃₂₃₋₃₃₉) were obtained from Peptide Protein Research Ltd (Fareham, U.K.) The lyophilised peptide (> 95 % purity) was dissolved in phosphate buffered saline (PBS; 1.37mM NaCl, 10 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.47 mM KH₂PO₄) and its concentration measured by BCA assay (Pierce, Rockford, USA). PE-labelled H-2K^b OVA ₂₅₇₋₂₆₄ tetramers were obtained from Proimmune (Oxford, U.K.) and Beckman Coulter UK Ltd (Buckinghamshire, UK). LPS from *Salmonella minnesota* was obtained from Sigma (Poole, UK).

2.4 Mice

Ovalbumin (Ova)-specific, OT-I TcR transgenic mice crossed onto C57BL/6 mice were obtained from Dr Matthias Merkenschlager (Imperial College, London) and bred in the in-house animal facility (Tenovus). OT-II TcR transgenic mice were obtained from the University of Edinburgh. Wild-type C57BL/6 mice were bred and maintained in our in house animal facilities, and at few occasions, mice were also obtained from Charles River Laboratories (Harlan, UK). TLR4-deficient mice, C3H/HeJ, and control mice, C3H/HeN, were obtained from Charles River Laboratories (Harlan, UK). All mice were used at approximately 8-12 weeks of age. Animal experiments were carried out according to the UK Home Office licence guidelines, and were approved by the University of Southampton's ethical committee.

2.5 mAb

A list of the mAb used in this project and their sources is given in table 6. All hybridoma lines secreting mAb were expanded in tissue culture and purified from culture supernatant using a Protein-A column (Amersham Biosciences UK Ltd, Little Chalfont, Bucks, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions and the purity of the mAb produced was routinely assessed by electrophoresis (Beckman EP, Beckman, USA). All mAb used for FACS analysis were fluorescein (FITC) or phycoerythrin (PE)-conjugated in house with the exception of α -mouse CD83:PE (IgG1, eBiosciences), α -mouse V α_2 –TcR:FITC (clone B20.1, IgG2a, BD Pharmigen), α -mouse V $\beta_{5.1,5.2}$ TcR:PE (clone MR9-4, IgG1, BD Pharmigen), α -mouse allophycocyanin (APC)-labelled α -CD8 α (clone 53-6.7, BD Pharmingen), APC-labelled α -CD4 (clone RM4-5 BD Pharmingen). Rabbit α -Ova (Nordic Immunological Laboratories, The Netherlands), polyclonal rabbit α -Ova-HRP was labelled in house with HRP from Sigma.

mAb	Specificity	Isotype	Source
N418	CD11c	Hamster IgG	ATCC
DEC205	DEC205/CD205	Rat IgG2a	ATCC
M5/114	MHC II	Rat IgG2b	ATCC
2.4G2	FcRγ II/III	Rat IgG	ATCC
3/23	CD40	Rat IgG2a	G. Klaus
LOB15/1	TLR2	Rat IgG	In house
GL-1	B7.1/CD86	Rat IgG2a	ATCC
1610A15	B7.2/CD80	Hamster IgG	ATCC
YTS169	CD8	Rat IgG2a	S. Cobbold
YTA 3.1.2	CD4	Rat IgG2a	S. Cobbold
5D3	MMR/CD206	Rat IgGa	Serotec Ltd.
YN1.4.7	ICAM-1/CD54	Rat IgG2b	ATCC
Mc39-16	A31 lymphoma- idiotype	Rat IgG2a	In house
Mc106A	BCL ₁ lymphoma- idiotype	Rat IgG2a	In house
1D3	CD19	Rat IgG2a	D. Fearon
1452C11	CD3	Hamster IgG	In house

Table 6. List of α -mouse mAb, their isotypes and source.

ATCC- American Type Culture Collection, US; , S.Cobbold (Sir William Dunn School of Pathology, Oxford, U.K.); G.Klaus (National Institute of Medical Research, London, U.K.); D. Fearon (University of Cambridge School of Clinical Medicine, Cambridge, U.K.) and Serotec Ltd (Oxford, U.K.).

2.6 Conjugation of Ova to monovalent mAb

In brief, purified IgG was digested with pepsin (1% w/w) and the F(ab')₂ fragments collected after passing the mixture through an Ultragel chromatography column (AcA44). The $F(ab')_2$ fragments were reduced by the addition of 1/10 volume of the reducing solution (220 mM 2-Mercaptoethanol and 1 mM EDTA) for 30 min at 30 °C and separated from the reducing agent over a G25 column. The endotoxin-low chicken ovalbumin (Sigma) was activated with the linker succinimidyl-4-(N-maleimidomethyl) cyclohexane-1carboxylate (SMCC, Pierce) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The unconjugated Ova was removed by passing the mixture through a G25 column and then mixed with the Fab_{SH} fraction overnight at 4 °C. The mixture was separated on an AcA44 column and the [FabxOva] conjugate fraction evaluated by HLPC. To remove contaminating IgG and endotoxin, the conjugate was passed through an α -Fyc immunosorbant column and a polymixin column, Multi-test Limulus Amebocyte Lysate (Pyrogen Plus, Bio respectively. Whittaker), an endotoxin assay, was performed following the manufacturer's instructions, to confirm that the [FabxOva] conjugates were endotoxin low. Conjugates were considered endotoxin low when less than 5 ng of endotoxin per mg of conjugate was detected. [FabxOva] conjugates were characterised by SDS-PAGE and quantification of the Ova content of the conjugates estimated by comparison with known quantities of Ova in an ELISA system. Conjugates were estimated to contain 20-30% Ova. The production of the conjugates was routinely carried out by Alison Tutt.

2.7 Chapter 3: Phenotyping of DC and T cell immunity

2.7.1. Preparation of splenic DC

Spleens were removed aseptically from C57BL/6 mice and digested with Collagenase D (from *Clostridium histotyticum*, Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Germany) (1 mg/ml) for 40 min at 37 °C. A single cell suspension was prepared using a cell strainer and cells were washed in PBS. Red blood cells were lysed by incubating the resuspended pellet for 5 minutes at room temperature in lysis solution (0.83 % (w/v) ammonium chloride, 0.1 % (w/v) KHCO₃ in dH₂O), after

which the splenocytes were washed once in PBS, counted and resuspended in 10 % RPMI. CD11c⁺ splenocytes were purified by MACS® beads.

2.7.2. Standard protocol for staining cell surface antigens

Approximately 1 x 10^5 cells were incubated on ice for 20 min with fluorophoreconjugated antibodies (10 µg/ml final concentration for FITC or appropriately titrated for PE). Cells were then washed in FACS buffer (PBS, 1 % (w/v) Bovine Serum albumin (BSA)-reduced endotoxin; AvonChem, UK and 0.1 % (w/v) sodium azide (Sigma)) and stained with 7-aminoactinomycin D (7AAD) (2 µg/ml) for 5 min before subsequent analysis on a FACSCalibur (Becton Dickinson, Mountain View, CA, USA) flow cytometer. Counts were gated on the viable lymphocyte population of CD11c⁺/7AAD⁻cells. Data were analysed using CellQuest software (BD Biosciences).

2.7.3 Phenotyping of splenic DC

CD11c⁺splenocytes were pre-treated with α -FcRII/III mAb (2.4G2) (10 µg/ml) to block non-specific binding of fluorescent labelled mAb. DC maturation was induced by culturing DC in the presence of LPS (1 µg/ml), IL-4 and GM-CSF (10 ng/ml) for 24 h prior to surface staining.

2.7.4 In vitro T cell proliferation assays

The proliferation status of the cells was determined by measuring radiolabelled $[{}^{3}H]$ - thymidine incorporation. Only replicating cells will incorporate $[{}^{3}H]$ -thymidine, and therefore, an increase in the number of dividing cells will be evidenced by an increase in $[{}^{3}H]$ -thymidine incorporation compared to controls.

In vitro proliferation assays were performed by culturing OT-I or OT-II T cells from fresh spleens in round-bottomed 96-well plates for a total period of 66-68 h in the presence of gamma-irradiated (2500 rad) total splenocytes. [FabxOva] conjugates or Ova₂₅₇₋₂₆₄ (SIINFEKL)/Ova₃₂₃₋₃₃₉ peptide (used as a positive

controls) were added to the plate in combination with α -CD40 mAb. Cell numbers and concentrations are indicated in the figure legends. Methyl-³H-thymidine (0.5 μ Ci /well; Amersham, Buckingham, UK) was added to the cultures in the last 16-18 h of culture, before cells were harvested onto glass fibre filters (Unifilter GF/B, Perkin Elmer) using an automated harvester (Filtermate harvester, Packard). [³H]-thymidine incorporation was subsequently determined by liquid scintillation counting.

Ex vivo proliferation assays were performed using spleens from C57BL/6 mice immunized with [FabxOva] conjugates (2.5 μ g) and α -CD40 mAb (50 μ g) i.v. 24 h prior to performing the assay. Freshly isolated spleens were treated with Collagenase D (1mg/ml) and red blood cells lysed with lysing buffer (as described in section 2.7.1). A splenocyte single cell suspension was prepared, irradiated and cultured with OT-I or OT-II T cells from spleens as described above and [H³]-thymidine incorporation detected via liquid scintillation counting. As an internal control, to demonstrate that splenocytes were viable APC, Ova peptide (0.002nM) was added to a well of each irradiated splenocyte suspension (stock 4x10⁵cells/well) to give a final concentration of 0.001nM, and co-cultured with the OT-I or OT-II T effector cells.

2.7.5 In vivo priming and proliferation of T cells

In vivo priming and proliferation of CD8 or CD4 T cells were evaluated by adoptively transferring OT-I or OT-II T cells, respectively, into naive C57BL/6 recipients. Twenty-four hours later mice were immunized (i.v.) with [FabxOva] conjugates (2.5 µg) in the presence or absence of α -CD40 mAb (50 µg). For tracking Ag-specific CD8 T cells in vivo, blood samples (50 µl) were stained with titrated amounts of PE- labelled H-2K^b Ova₂₅₇₋₂₆₄ tetramers and APC-labelled α -CD8 α . For tracking CD4 T cell, cell were labelled with APC-labelled α -CD4, FITC labelled α -V α_2 TcR and PE labelled α -V $\beta_{5.1,5.2}$ TcR. Cells were washed and red blood cells lysed with BD FACS lysing solution (1/10 volume) (BD Biosciences) before analysis on a FACS Calibur. Endogenous CD8 T cell

responses to [FabxOva] immunization were assessed using the same protocol, but without the transfer of transgenic T cells.

Memory responses were induced by re-challenging the immunized mice with H-2Kb-restricted Ova $_{257-264}$ (SIINFEKL; OT-I) peptide (30 µg) (i.v) for CD8 T cell responses and I-A^b-restricted peptide OVA $_{323-339}$ (OT-II) peptide (90 µg) (i.v.) with LPS (20 µg) for CD4 T cell responses.

When assessing the effects of FLT3-L on T cell proliferation, mice were pretreated with 10 μ g of FLT3-L s.c. daily for 9-10 days before being immunized with the [FabxOva] conjugates.

2.7.6. Effector function of primed T cells

The effector activity of primed T cells was assessed by α -IFN- γ ELISPOT assays. Briefly, 96-well plates (BD ELISPOT plates, BD Biosciences) were coated for 24 h with purified α -mouse IFN- γ monoclonal antibody (1:200, BD Biosciences) at 4 °C. Plates were washed, blocked with complete 10 % FCS/RPMI for 2 h at RT. Cell suspensions of splenocytes from mice immunized with [FabxOva] (2.5 µg) with or without α -CD40 mAb (50 µg) 6 days prior to the assay were prepared and plated at 4x10⁵/well. Cells were restimulated, or not, with Ova ₂₅₇₋₂₆₄ peptide (1µM) or Ova₃₂₃₋₃₃₉ (1 µg/ml) and incubated for 24 h. Following washes, biotinylated α -mouse IFN- γ (1:500, BD Biosciences) was added and incubated overnight at 4 °C. Streptavidin–alkaline phosphatase conjugate (1:500, Mabtech AB, Sweden) was added, and the plates were incubated at room temperature for 1 h. Plates were developed using BCIP/NBT substrate (Zymed Laboratories, CA).

The in vivo CTL assay was performed by immunizing them with [FabxOva] (2.5 μ g) with or without α -CD40 (50 μ g). Seven days later, a 1:1 mixture of OVA ₂₅₇₋₂₆₄ peptide loaded (1 μ M) and unpulsed syngeneic splenocytes (~1x10⁷ cells each) labelled with 5 μ M (CFSE^{hi}) and 0.5 μ M (CFSE^{lo}) carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CFSE, Molecular Probe), respectively, was injected i.v. After

18 h, the splenocyte single cell suspensions were evaluated by flow cytometry. Specific killing was measured by the reduction of the CFSE^{hi} population in relation to the CFSE^{lo} population (values in profiles refer to the ratio between populations).

2.7.7 In vivo proliferation of CFSE labelled T cells

C57BL/6 mice were immunized (i.v) with [FabxOva] (2.5µg) and α -CD40 mAb (50µg), or with PBS, for 1, 4, 7 or 15 days prior to the adoptive transfer of OT-I (4x10⁶cells) or OT-II T cells (1.5x10⁶cells) labelled with CFSE (5 µM, Molecular Probes). Spleens were removed 3 days later and cell suspensions analysed by flow cytometry. Cells were gated on Ova-specific CD8 and CD4 T cells.

2.8 Chapter 4: Humoral response to immunization with [FabxOva] conjugates

2.8.1 Enzyme-Linked Immunsorbant Assay (ELISA) for the detection of serum α -Ova Ab

C57BL/6 mice were immunized i.v. or s.c. with [FabxOva] conjugates (2.5 µg) in the presence or absence of α -CD40 mAb (50 µg) (see figure legend) on D0 and serum samples were obtained from tail bleeds on D7 and D28. To detect the presence of α -Ova IgM and IgG in the serum of the immunized mice, an ELISA was performed according to the following standard protocol. Primary rabbit α chicken Ova mAb was diluted in coating buffer (15 mM Na₂CO₃, 28.5 mM NaHCO₃, pH 9.6) to 25 µg/ml and 100 µl/well added to 96-well ELISA plates (Nunc Immunoplate; Invintrogen, U.K.) and incubated overnight at 4 °C. Unbound antibody was removed and the non-specific binding sites were blocked by the addition of blocking solution (1 % (w/v) BSA in PBS) with Ova (5 µg/ml) (Albumin from chicken egg white, Sigma, Grade VI) for 1 h at 37 °C. The plates were washed twice with wash solution (PBS + 0.05 % Tween-20) and dilutions of the test sera and standards of known concentrations were added in a final volume of 100 µl/well, with all dilutions being made in blocking solution. Following incubation for 90 min at 37 °C, the plates were washed (5x in wash solution). Horse-radish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated rabbit α -mouse IgG antisera was diluted 1:2,000 in blocking solution and added (100 µl/well) for a final 90 min. Following washing (5x), 100 µl of HRP substrate (20 mg ophenyldiamine free base (o-PD; Sigma) in 100 ml phospho-buffered citrate pH 5.0 + 50 µl of 30 % (w/v) H₂0₂) was added and incubated in the dark at room temperature for 30 min. The reaction was terminated by the addition of 50 µl/well 2.5 M H₂S0₄ and the subsequent colour change quantified by measurement of absorbance at 495 nm on an automatic ELISA reader (Dynatec 400, Dynatec). The serum titre was defined as the highest dilution of serum that gives an OD490 value of double that of serum from naïve mice (NMS).

For the depletion of CD4T cells, mice were pre-treated with three injections of α -CD4 mAb (1mg) i.p. on days -4,-1 and 3. On day 0, the depletion of CD4 T cells was analysed by flow cytometry and mice were immunized with [α -CD11cxOva] (2.5 µg) with or without α -CD40 mAb (50 or 500 µg).

2.8.2 The influence of TLR-L on the mAb production by [α -DEC205xOva].

Mice received $2x10^6$ OT-I T cells i.v. and 24 h later were immunized with [FabxOva] conjugates (2.5 µg) and the different TLR-L (20 µg) i.v.. Blood samples were collected and the number of SIINFEKL-tetramer and CD8 positive T cells measured by flow cytometry. On D7, serum samples were also collected and levels of α -Ova IgG assessed by ELISA. On D33, all animals were boosted with [α -CD11cxOva] (2.5 µg) and serum samples assayed 7 days later.

2.9 Chapter 5: Biodistribution of [FabxOva] conjugates within the spleen

2.9.1 Biodistribution of radiolabelled mAb

 $F(ab')_2$ fragments of a panel of mAb were radiolabelled with Iodine-125 (for protein iodination, carrier-free and free from reducing agent; Amersham Biosciences/GE Healthcare, UK) using Iodobeads (Pierce Chemicals, Rockford, IL) according to the manufacturer's instructions and dialysed into PBS to remove unbound iodine. Samples of each labelled mAb were counted using a γ -counter (Wallac) to determine the specific activity of the mAb being administered to the animals.

For the biodistribution studies, groups of C57BL/6 mice were injected (i.v.) with varying concentrations of radiolabelled mAb (refer to legends) and sacrificed 6 or 24 h later. Selected tissues were sampled, weighed and counted. The data is presented as the mean percentage uptake of the injected dose per gram of tissue (% ID/g). The effect of FLT3-L and LPS on the biodistribution of the mAb was also assessed, by pre-treating the mice with FLT3-L (s.c.) (10 μ g) daily for 10 days prior to injection with the radiolabelled mAb.

2.9.2 Localization of labelled mAb within the spleen by immunohistochemistry and immuno-fluorescence

Mice were injected i.v. with 10 µg of FITC-conjugated α -CD11c, α -DEC205 or α -MHCII F(ab')₂ mAb in combination with unlabelled α -CD40 mAb (50 µg). After 1, 4 or 8 h, the mice were perfused (by Jessica Teeling) with saline solution containing heparin. The fresh spleens were embedded in Tissue-Tek ® Optimal Cutting Temperature (O.C.T.) compound (R.A. Lamb Ltd, UK) and snap frozen in isopentane placed on dry ice. Frozen spleen sections were cut using a Microm HM560 cryostat (8 µm thick; at ~ -15 °C) and dried for 30 min at 37 °C and fixed in 100 % acetone for 10 min at 4 °C, subsequently, sections were washed in PBS (3x) and stained with various labelled mAb (refer to legends). All spleen sections were cut, labelled and analysed by Sonya Martin.

• Immuno-histochemistry

Fixed spleen sections were treated with ImmunoPuro peroxidase suppressor (as per manufacturer's instructions; Pierce). Non-specific binding sites were blocked in PBS containing 10 % normal goat serum (pH 7.6 for 30 min).

Sections were stained with the following primary mAb for 2 h at RT or overnight at 4 °C: biotinylated rabbit α -FITC (Molecular Probes), rat α mouse CD19 (1D3, in house), hamster α -mouse CD11c (N418, in house), hamster α -mouse CD3 (1452C11, in house), rat α -mouse CD3 (KT3, in house), rat α -mouse MHCII (M5114, in house), rat α -mouse DEC205 (in house), biotinylated rat α -mouse MOMA-1 (Insight Biotech). Biotinylated secondary mAb: goat α -rat (Stratech) and goat α hamster (Serotec). Biotinylated mAb were detected with StrepABCComplex/HRP (as per manufacturer's instructions; DakoCytomation) followed by the substrate, diaminobenzidine (DAB) (DakoCytomation). Secondary and tertiary incubations were for 45 min at room temperature. Sections were washed in water and counterstained with haematoxylin before mounting in aqueous mountant (Vector Laboratories).

• Immuno-fluorescence

Fixed spleen sections were treated with PBS containing 10 % normal goat serum (30 min) to block non-specific binding sites. All mAb dilutions were prepared in PBS containing 0.1 % Tween20. Sections were stained with primary unlabelled mAb, as mentioned above, with the addition of Alexa Fluor 488 rabbit α -FITC (Molecular Probes). Fluorescent secondary and tertiary mAb included Alexa Fluor 488 goat α -rat; Alexa Fluor 488 goat α -hamster, Alexa Fluor 546 streptavidin (all from Molecular probes) and were incubated for 45 min at room temperature. Sections were washed in PBS between labelling stages and counterstained with TOPRO-3 for 30 min (Molecular Probes) and mounted in Vectashield (Vector Laboratories). Microscopy: images were collected sequentially on a Leica SP2 CLSM using Argon (488 nm), GreNe (543 nm) and HeNe (633 nm) lasers.

2.10 Chapter 6: Immunotherapy

2.10.1 Prevention of tumour development by immunization with [FabxOva] conjugates.

C57BL/6 mice were immunized with [FabxOva] (2.5 μ g) or soluble Ova (0.5 μ g or 1 mg) and α -CD40 mAb (50 μ g) i.v. 30 days prior to s.c. challenge with Ovabearing B16 melanoma cells transfected with Ova (B16-Ova) (4x10⁶) and tumour development was measured over time. Therapy was assessed by monitoring total tumour area and the survival rate of the animals. Some animals had to be culled before reaching the maximum tumour load (above 300 mm²) due to development of ulceration on the tumour, as required by the Home Office regulations. Seven days after tumour challenge, blood samples were collected and the number of circulating endogenous Ova-specific CD8 T cells was analyzed by flow cytometry as described in section 2.7.5. Natural killer cells were labelled with α -NK1.1 mAb.

Chapter 3 Dendritic cell phenotyping and T cell immunity

63

3.1 Introduction

Despite its complexity, the adaptive immune system depends on APC to initiate and modulate an acquired response. DC have the unique ability to prime naïve T cells leading to the establishment of immunological memory. These cells are a sparsely distributed, migratory, group of bone-marrow derived leucocytes that are specialized in the uptake, transport, processing and presentation of Ag to naïve T cells. At an "immature" stage of development, DC act as sentinels in peripheral tissues monitoring their environment for the presence of foreign Ag or damaged tissue. They can capture Ag via different mechanisms, such as phagocytosis, micropinocytosis and receptor mediated endocytosis. The latter being mediated by a variety of surface receptors involved in endocytosis of Ag, in particular members of the C-type lectin receptors (macrophage mannose receptor (CD206), DEC205 (CD205) as well as Fc-receptors). Detection and ingestion by organ-resident DC of PAMPs provide a signal for maturation and migration towards the draining secondary lymphoid organs (i.e. LN and spleen), where they are able to present the products of the Ag digestion on MHC molecules to naïve T cells, thereby inducing a cellular immune response that involves $CD4^+$ T helper cells and cytotoxic $CD8^+$ T cells.

Immature DC efficiently capture Ag and present Ag derived peptides in the context of MHC molecules. CTL recognize Ag in the context of MHC class I molecules and two general mechanisms have been reported to contribute to how DC process such Ag into this pathway for the activation of naïve T cells. The original hypothesis suggested that only endogenous Ag, that is, Ag synthesized within the cells either by viral infection or tumour transformation, were routinely processed into the MHC I pathway. The second, more recent approach is for the DC to capture Ag from another source and process these captured exogenous Ag into the MHC I pathway, in the same way it has been postulated for exogenous Ag being processed via the MHC II system presenting Ag to CD4 T helper cells. This form of presentation is referred to as "cross-presentation", contrasting with the "direct" or "classic" presentation for endogenously synthesized proteins.
The major APC type known for its capacity to cross present Ag is the DC population and of the three blood-derived DC subsets, the immunological function of the CD8⁺DC subset has been more well documented [223]. The roles of CD4⁺DC and CD4⁻CD8⁻DC are poorly understood, but there is some evidence that CD4⁻CD8⁻DC preferentially produced IFN- γ [224], while no dominant cytokine production has been attributed to the CD4⁺DC population as yet. However, recent evidence suggests that the CD8⁻DC subsets are involved in priming CD4 T cells to produce T_H2 cytokines, whereas CD8⁺DC prime naïve CD4 T cells to produce T_H1 cytokines in a process that involves IL-12 [173, 175, 225], which leads to the generation CTL. Furthermore, this polarization into different T cell subsets also depends on the nature of the activation signals received by the DC, for example, LPS from different pathogens can induce distinct T cell repertoires [226] and CD40L-activated monocyte-derived DC have been shown to prime Th1 response whereas pDC activated with IL-3 and CD40L prime T_H2 responses [227].

Encouraged by the body of evidence showing the importance of DC in the induction of different T cell responses, we linked Ova, our model Ag, to Fab' fragments derived from IgG mAb targeting a range of surface receptors on DC that could be involved in Ag uptake and cross-presentation to CTL. This strategy enabled us to identify surface molecules which could be of therapeutic value when targeting a tumour Ag to DC in situ and consequently mounting a potent anti-tumour response.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Phenotypic characteristics of the distinct subsets of splenic DC

The differential expression of certain cell surface markers has already pointed to substantial DC heterogeneity and we wished to assess the surface phenotype of splenic DC, which were subsequently used in some of our functional assays. DC isolation may require many steps depending on the tissue of origin and since viability and function can be influenced by cytokines such as GM-CSF, IL-1, IL-4 and TNF [228], it is important to characterize fresh isolates.

Here, we identified fresh murine splenic DC using a PE-labelled mAb, N418, directed against CD11c. In figure 3.2.1 (A) DC were enriched by positive selection of PE-labelled CD11c⁺ splenocytes using MACS α -PE beads and MACS columns, and analysed by flow cytometry for their expression of surface markers. Dead cells were stained using 7AAD and excluded from analysis. A small proportion of the splenocytes, probably macrophages [229], were excluded on the bases of their autofluorescent properties (as indicated by the arrow). To prevent non-specific binding of mAbs via FcR on DC, these cells were first incubated with the α -Fc γ RII/III mAb, 2.4G2, prior to labelling the positive cells with FITC-conjugated mAbs against different surface markers. In this manner, we were able to identify the distinct subsets of murine splenic DC.

Immature splenic DC, defined as the population expressing high levels of CD11c (< 5 % of total cells), also expressed high levels of MHC II, together with moderate levels of ICAM-1 and low levels of CD80, CD86 and CD40. Furthermore, CD11c^{Hi} cells could be subdivided according to the presence of the T cell markers, CD4 and CD8 (Figure 3.2.1(B)). CD8 expression on DC is in the form of a $\alpha\alpha$ -homodimer, rather than the $\alpha\beta$ -heterodimer found on T cells. Our profiles clearly show the existence of two distinct subsets of splenic CD11c^{Hi} DC: CD11c^{Hi} CD8⁺CD4⁻, CD11c^{Hi} CD8⁻CD4⁺, which have been reported to account for 25 % and 50 % of the DC population, respectively, with the remaining 25 % being the double negative CD11c^{Hi} CD8⁻CD4⁻ population [230].



в

Α





С

Figure 3.2.1 Expression of phenotypic surface markers on murine splenic DC

Splenocytes were isolated from fresh spleens treated with collagenase D (1 mg/ml). (A) The CD11c⁺ DC population was enriched by positively selecting CD11c⁺ splenocytes using α -PE-labelled beads and MACS columns. Dead and/or autofluorescent cells (indicated by arrow) were excluded from analysis by light scatter properties and 7AAD staining. Cells were blocked with α -Fc γ RII/III mAb (2.4G2) before being labelled with FITC-conjugated mAb against different markers. (B) Splenic DC were prepared as in (A), double labelled with α -CD8 and α -DEC205 mAb. (C) Fresh splenocytes were cultured in the presence of LPS (1 µg/ml), IL-4 and GM-CSF (10 ng/ml) for 24h and matured DC isolated as in (A). PE-labelled CD11c⁺ matured DC were stained with a panel of FITC-conjugated mAbs. Dead cells were excluded from analysis by light scatter properties and 7AAD staining, and profiles gated on the CD11c^{hi} cells. Filled purple histograms correspond to immature DC and green histograms to mature DC.

To dissect the phenotypic differences between these populations further, threecolour analysis was used and Figure 3.2.1 (B) demonstrates that the expression of DEC205 is restricted to the CD11c^{Hi}CD8⁺ subset as there was no expression above background levels in the CD11c^{Hi}CD8⁻ population. To investigate the phenotypic changes associated with DC maturation, mouse splenocytes were cultured in vitro for 24 hours with LPS, IL-4 and GM-CSF. LPS induces the maturation and activation of DC by signalling via TLR4 expressed on these cells. The results in Figure 3.2.1 (C), show that this led to an increase in the surface expression of MHC II molecules, CD80 and most dramatically, CD86, ICAM and CD83 (a DC maturation marker). Maturation also induced a modest increase in DEC205 expression; however, CD11c expression remained mostly unchanged. In summary, all these features are consistent with the increased ability of activated mature DC to present Ag to naïve T cells.

3.2.2 In vitro targeting of Ag to distinct molecules on APC can enhance T cell priming.

As part of our investigation into finding the most efficient strategy of targeting Ag during vaccination, we developed a range of [FabxOva] conjugates by chemical coupling (see Material and Methods), using various mAb specificities. Fab' fragment-containing conjugates were used to exclude any possibility of Fc:FcR interactions which are known to impact on Ag delivery [231]. The Fab' fraction from the mAb was coupled to whole Ova protein using a chemical linker and the conjugate was subsequently purified on a protein G column. Free unconjugated mAb was removed by passing the conjugate through an anti-Fc γ Immunosorbant column. The Ova component of the conjugates represented approximately 20-30% by weight when measured by ELISA (data not shown). To ensure that our preparations were endotoxin low, all the conjugates were passed through a polymixin column.

To investigate the efficiency with which our panel of conjugates delivered Ova protein to APC and induced its processing and presentation to T cells, we first assessed the proliferation of OVA-restricted TcR transgenic CD8 OT-I and CD4 OT-II T cells in vitro in a coculture system, where freshly isolated and irradiated splenocytes were loaded with the [FabxOva] conjugates together with α -CD40 mAb and OT-I or OT-II T cells.

In these in vitro coculture assays, splenocytes from naïve mice were irradiated and used as the APC population $(2x10^5 \text{ cells per well})$, of which less than 4 % are thought to be conventional blood-derived DC. Total splenocyte cell suspensions from OT-I or OT-II mice were used as the effector population $(2x10^5 \text{ per well})$, with 15-20 % shown by flow cytometry (data not shown) to be Ova-restricted CD8 OT-I or CD4 OT-II T cells. A ratio of approximately 1:10 DC to Ova-restricted T cells was used.



Figure 3.2.2 In vitro targeting of Ova to splenic DC with [FabxOva] conjugates and their effects on the proliferation of T cells.

Spleens were harvested from C57BL/6 mice and treated with collagenase D (1mg/ml). Splenocytes were used as APC ($2x10^5$) and cocultured with [FabxOva] conjugates (1-200 ng/ml) in the presence of α -CD40 mAb (1 µg/ml) and OT-I or OT-II effector cells ($2x10^5$) for 48 h. As positive controls, APC were cocultured with OT-I or OT-II and their respective peptides, H-2K^b-restricted OVA ₂₅₇₋₂₆₄ (OT-I) peptide (1 µM) or I-A^b-restricted peptide OVA₃₂₃₋₃₃₉ (OT-II) peptide (0.01-0.00001nM) (data not shown). Cultures were pulsed with [⁵H]-thymidine (0.5 µCi/well) for 16-18hr. Data representative of three individual experiments, MEAN±SEM of triplicates.

Figure 3.2.2 demonstrates that when targeting splenic APC in vitro, the conjugates specific for CD11c, MHC-II and DEC205 were by far the best targets which were equally effective in inducing the proliferation of OT-I T cells. With OT-II T cells, targeting to CD11c and DEC205 showed similar proliferative activity and the [α -MHCIIxOva] conjugate was the most potent, giving effective proliferation at a 10-fold lower concentration. The sharp decline in OT-II T cell proliferation seen at the highest concentration of [α -MHCIIxOva] was probably a result of exhaustion of nutrients in the culture medium. Thus, overall, the data from this in vitro presentation assay with fresh splenocytes as APC, shows that DEC205, CD11c and MHC-II molecules are the most effective targets for Ag delivery.

3.2.3 In vivo targeting of Ova to APC and the induction of T cell proliferation in vitro.

We next investigated the effectiveness by which the conjugates deliver Ag to splenic APC in vivo. Mice were primed i.v. with 2.5 μ g of conjugate together

with 50 μ g of agonistic α -CD40 mAb, then 24 hours later splenocytes were prepared, irradiated and used as APC for presentation to OT-I and OT-II T cells in vitro.



Figure 3.2.3 In vivo targeting of OVA to APC and the proliferation of T cells.

C57BL/6 mice were immunized with [FabxOva] conjugates (2.5 μ g) and α -CD40 mAb (50 μ g). Splenocytes were isolated 24h after immunization and cocultured with OT-I or OT-II splenocytes (2x10⁵cells/well) for 48h. Cultures were pulsed with ³H-thymidine (0.5 μ Ci/well) for 16-18h. The mean of each group and the SEM are shown. Data representative of 3 individual experiments.

Pilot experiments determined that 24 hours was the optimal length of time required for the capture and processing of Ag by APC in vivo (data not shown).

Figure 3.2.3 (A) shows that splenic APC from mice receiving [α -CD11cxOva] were by far the most effective at inducing both OT-I and OT-II proliferation. With OT-I cells, targeting with [α -CD11cxOva] was at least four times better than with [α -DEC205xOva], whereas [α -MHCIIxOva] and [α -CD40xOva] were ineffective. A similar pattern was seen when the [FabxOva] conjugates were administered subcutaneously, albeit the magnitude of the CD8 T cell responses was slightly lower (data not shown).

A different trend emerged when these APC were used to stimulate OT-II T cells (Figure 3.2.3 (B)), and although CD11c targeting was still the most effective, targeting with [a-MHC-IIxOva] was shown to be the second best, although at least three times less effective than $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva]. These data highlight the tendency of this conjugate to prime CD4 T cells rather than CD8 T cells, which was also evident when APC were targeted in vitro. Most importantly, these results were in marked contrast to those obtained for the in vitro targeting of splenic DC, where $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva], $[\alpha$ -MHCIIxOva] and $[\alpha$ -DEC205xOva] were similarly effective at inducing OT-I proliferation, and where $[\alpha$ -MHCIIxOva] was the most effective at inducing OT-II proliferation. These results suggest that Ag delivery to APC in vivo via CD11c molecules is the most efficient strategy, generating the most robust OVA-specific CD4 and CD8 T cell response in comparison to the other targets. The disparity in the in vitro and in vivo potency of the [α-CD11cxOva] conjugate highlights the importance of translating in vitro data into a more physiological setting, where the bioavailability of the target molecules may have a profound impact on the efficacy of the vaccine being tested.

3.2.4 Immunization with [α-CD11cxOva] generates strong primary and memory CD8 T cells responses

In support of the findings from our in vitro proliferation assays, we next confirmed that immunization with $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva] generates the strongest CD8 T cell response in vivo. To assess the proliferation of T cells in vivo, we adoptively transferred OT-I or OT-II T cells into naïve mice and 24 hours later

immunized these mice with the various conjugates with or without α -CD40 mAb. The results in Figure 3.2.4 (A/B) show that a single low dose of 2.5 µg of [α -CD11cxOva] is highly effective at stimulating the proliferation of CD8 OT-I T cells, generating 3.5 % tetramer positive cells by day 4. However, only when α -CD40 mAb was given concomitantly did these cells continue to divide and accumulate to give more than 30 % circulating OT-I T cells by day 7. In contrast, in the absence of α -CD40 mAb, the OT-I T cells were practically absent from the blood compartment as their numbers fell below those found in naïve mice by day 7 and were not replenished by the end of the primary response.



73



Figure 3.2.4 Immunization with [FabxOva] can induce strong primary and secondary CD8 T cell responses.

Mice received $(4x10^6)$ OT-I T cells on day 0 and 24 h later were immunized (i.v.) with [FabxOva] conjugates (2.5 µg) or soluble Ova (0.5 µg) in the presence or absence of α -CD40 mAb (50 µg). (A) Flow cytometry dot plots of the primary response. Mean values with SEM are shown. Representative of 3 experiments. (B) Seventy-one days (arrow) after the primary immunization, mice were boosted with H-2Kb-restricted OVA ₂₅₇₋₂₆₄ (SIINFEKL) peptide (30 µg) (i.v). OVA-specific CD8⁺ T cells in peripheral blood were detected by staining with SIINFEKL tetramers and α -CD8 mAb. Data representative of 2 experiments.

In Figure 3.2.4 (A/B) we showed that α -CD40 mAb was required in order to maintain high numbers of Ova-specific CD8 T cells after immunization with [α -CD11cxOva]. To investigate whether the absence of α -CD40 mAb during the primary immunization had any effect on the memory response, we re-challenged the mice with H-2Kb-restricted OVA ₂₅₇₋₂₆₄ (SIINFEKL) peptide (i.e. restricted to the priming of CD8 T cells) 71 days after the primary immunization. SIINFEKL peptide was used instead of soluble Ova to prevent the priming of naïve T cells and the generation of a second wave of primary responses, and so only memory cells were re-activated and expanded.

Figure 3.2.4 (B), clearly confirms that in the absence of α -CD40 mAb, the Ovaspecific CD8 T cell population depleted during the primary response was not replenished even when these mice were re-challenged with Ova peptide, suggesting that these cells were deleted and the system tolerized against Ova. The tolerization of the immune system to Ag as a consequence of clonal deletion has been previously reported on animals which were immunized with [α -DEC205xOva] without the maturation signals provided by α -CD40 mAb [69].

Conversely, when α -CD40 mAb was given concomitantly with [α -CD11cxOva], a strong memory response was detected, where approximately 60 % of total lymphocytes in the blood of these mice were Ova-specific CD8 T cells. Considering that there was a 6-fold difference in the magnitude of the peak primary response for [α -CD11cxOva] and [α -DEC205xOva], one might have expected a proportional difference for the memory responses, however, memory responses to DEC205 and MHC-II targeting in the presence of α -CD40 mAb, almost reached that with [α -CD11cxOva], possibly because it induced such a rapid and potent proliferative response that the splenic compartment may have reached it physical capacity.

Together these findings clearly emphasize that the most efficacious target for a vaccine cannot be predicted based solely on in vitro studies, as the bioavalability of the targets can have a profound effect on the overall physiological response as illustrated by the strong primary response induced by [α -CD11cxOva] in vivo, despite having not shown any outstanding potency when delivered in vitro. Furthermore, the administration of a maturation signal was shown to be crucial in mounting and sustaining of a robust primary and memory response, and avoiding tolerance induction.

3.2.5 Pre-treatment with FLT3-L amplifies T cell responses.

FLT3-L acts by targeting haematopoietic progenitors in the bone marrow, inducing their expansion and differentiation into DC and NK cells [232]. Here, mice were pre-treated with FLT3-L (10 μ g) for 10 consecutive days and splenocytes isolated and analysed by flow cytometry. Figure 3.2.5(A), clearly illustrates the effect of FLT3-L on DC numbers, as there was an approximate 6-fold increase in CD11c⁺ cell number, increasing from 3.2 % to 18.1 % of total splenocytes. However, the treatment has been observed not to interfere with the

developmental and maturation status of the DC (data not shown) as reported by other studies [233].



Figure 3.2.5 Pre-treatment with FLT3-L amplifies the T cell response to [FabxOva] conjugates.

Mice were pre-treated with FLT3-L (10 μ g, s.c.) for 10 consecutive days. (A) Naïve and FLT3-L treated spleens were treated with collagenase D (1 mg/ml) and the number of live CD11c⁺ cells measured. (B) On D10, CD8⁺ OT-I cells (2.5x10⁶) were adoptively transferred and 24 h later mice were immunized with [FabxOva] (2.5 μ g) with α -CD40 mAb (50 μ g) (i.v.). Ova-specific CD8⁺ T cells in blood samples taken 7 days later were detected by staining with SIINFEKL tetramers and α -CD8 mAb. Mean values and SEM are shown.

Figure 3.2.5 (B) demonstrates that the peak response generated by [α -CD11cxOva] with α -CD40 mAb can be doubled by pre-treating the mice with FLT3-L, when at least 50 % of the circulating lymphocytes on day 7 after immunization were Ova-restricted CD8 T cells. The amplification of the response to [α -DEC205xOva] was slightly higher (\sim 2.5-fold). Again, the increase in T cell response to [α -CD11cxOva] was not proportional to the 6-fold increase in DC numbers, which is probably due to the limited physical capacity of the splenic compartment. In addition, these data indicate that the priming of T cells is being performed mainly by DC, as an increase in their number led to a marked potentiation of these responses.

3.2.6 Immunization with [FabxOva] conjugates generate strong primary and memory CD4 T cell responses

The generation of a strong CTL response is not the only important aspect of an effective vaccine. CD4 T cells also play a crucial role in mounting a robust anti-Ova immune response by differentiating into cytokine secreting cells and initiating a humoral response. Thus, we next studied the efficacy of the conjugates in priming and inducing CD4 T cell proliferation by adoptively transferring CD4 OT-II T cells into naïve mice and immunizing them with the conjugates 24 hours later.

Figure 3.2.6 (A) indicates that as for CD8 OT-I T cells, immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] is the most efficient strategy to stimulate the proliferation of CD4 OT-II T cells, generating 2-fold more CD4 T cells than [α -MHCIIxOva] and 12-fold more than [α -DEC205xOva]. Mice receiving [α -MHCIIxOva] with α -CD40mAb, induced a stronger CD4 T cell proliferative response (6-fold higher) than [α -DEC205xOva] with α -CD40 mAb, reinforcing the previous in vitro data suggesting that [α -DEC205xOva] favours a CD8 T cell response and [α -MHCIIxOva] a CD4 T cell response. Interestingly, the addition of α -CD40 mAb had no effect on the proliferation of CD4 T cells induced by [α -CD11cxOva] (Figure 3.2.6 (A)).



77



Figure 3.2.6 Primary and memory CD4 T cell responses following immunization with [FabxOva] conjugates.

Mice received CD4⁺/ V α_2^+ / V $\beta_{5.1,5.2}^+$ OT-II T cells (3x10⁶) (i.v.) on D0 and 24 h later were immunized with [FabxOva] conjugates (2.5 µg) with or without α -CD40 mAb (50 µg). Peripheral blood samples were stained with α -CD4, α -V $\alpha_{2.1}$ and α -V $\beta_{5.1,5.2}$ mAb. Data representative of 3 experiments. (B) On D7, blood samples from the immunized mice in (A) were double stained with SIINFEKL-tetramers and α -CD8 mAb, and the number of endogenous Ova-specific CD8 T cells assessed by flow cytometer. (C) CD4⁺/ V α_2^+ / V $\beta_{5.1,5.2}^+$ OT-II T cells (1x10⁶) were adoptively transferred into naïve mice and immunized as in (A) 24 h later. Mice were rechallenged with I-A^b-restricted peptide OVA₃₂₃₋₃₃₉ (OT-II) peptide (90 µg) (i.v.) and LPS (20 µg) on D70. Mean values and SEM are shown. Data representative of 2 experiments.

However, when blood samples from day 7 were analyzed for the level of endogenous $CD8^+$ SIINFEKL tetramer⁺ T cells (Figure 3.2.6 (B)), the results confirmed that there was a higher number (3-fold) of CD8 T cells when α -CD40 mAb was given in combination with [α -CD11cxOva]. Additionally, in contrast to the CD4 response, there was no marked difference in CD8 T cell numbers induced by [α -DEC205xOva] and [α -MHCIIxOva].

С

Aiming to clarify the long term effect of the presence or absence of α -CD40 mAb on the CD4 T cell memory response, we ensured that the primary response had finished and then re-challenged the mice with I-A^b-restricted peptide OVA323-339 (OT-II) peptide so that only the memory CD4 T cells were reactivated and expanded. Figure 3.2.6 (C) clearly shows that although α -CD40 mAb had little or no effect on the initial magnitude of the primary response to $\left[\alpha\right]$ CD11cxOva], it did influence the long term survival of memory CD4 T cells, as when immunized in the presence of α -CD40 mAb, they never fell back to the pre-immunization level, and consequently, generated a stronger (approximately 9-fold higher) memory response than that observed when immunized in the absence of α -CD40 mAb. In contrast, the primary response to immunization with $[\alpha$ -DEC205xOva] in the absence of α -CD40 mAb was 2.5-fold less than in the presence of α -CD40 mAb, and this difference persisted following re-challenge. Therefore, although the requirement for a maturation signal during the primary CD4 T cells response does not seem to be essential, it is crucial for the survival and/or maintenance of CD4 T memory cells, which are responsible for long term recall responses to Ag.

3.2.7 Endogenous T cell responses to [FabxOva] conjugates and the characterization of their effector functions.

Aiming to assess the potency of [FabxOva] conjugates under more physiological conditions, we measured the number of endogenous Ova-specific CD8 T cells generated following immunization with the conjugates and α -CD40 mAb by flow cytometry. The data in Figure 3.2.7 (A) concur with the in vivo adoptive transfer experiments, as they also demonstrate that a maturation signal, again provided by α -CD40 mAb, is required for the effective priming and expansion of endogenous Ova-specific CD8 T cells. The co-administration of 50 µg of α -CD40 mAb with [α -CD11cxOva], [α -DEC205xOva] or soluble Ova enhanced the CD8 T cell response by approximately 88-, 21- and 9-fold, respectively, when compared to the administration of the conjugates or soluble Ova alone, based on the mean values of the distinct treatments .

Additionally, we noticed that the difference in the strength of the CD8 T cell responses to $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva] and $[\alpha$ -DEC205xOva] with α -CD40 mAb (50 µg) observed in the endogenous model was not as marked as previously observed in the OT-I T cells adoptive transfer experiments and there was a higher degree of variability associated with these responses. This small discrepancy is probably a result of two factors, firstly, OT-I transgenic CD8 T cells are thought to be more sensitive to stimulation than their endogenous counterparts; secondly, the sensitivity limitations associated with the flow cytometric data for such low numbers of circulating endogenous CD8 T cells also has an impact in the variability of the response. Thus, we attempted to amplify the endogenous response by administering a higher dose of α -CD40 mAb with the conjugates (figure 3.2.7 (A)). However, the results show that 50 μ g α -CD40 mAb, the amount routinely used in our in vivo experiments, was the optimal dose for both $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva] and $[\alpha$ -DEC205xOva], as higher concentrations inhibited the response slightly.

Soluble Ova was also investigated to highlight the efficacy of targeting Ag directly to DC, and in this case, 2 mg of soluble Ova, which contains 4000 times more Ova than that present in 2.5 μ g of the [FabxOva] conjugates, together with 400 μ g of α -CD40 mAb was needed to generate a similar number of Ova-specific CD8 T cells obtained with 2.5 μ g of [α -CD11cxOva] (~ 0.5 μ g of Ova) and α -CD40 mAb (50 μ g). Overall, immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] and α -CD40 mAb evokes the strongest proliferative response for both endogenous and OT-I CD8 T cells.

Furthermore, in support of the flow cytometric data on the endogenous CD8 T cells responses to the conjugates, we also measured the number of endogenous IFN- γ secreting CD8 and CD4 effector T cells using the more sensitive ELISPOT assay. In Figure 3.2.7 (B), results show mice immunized with a single dose of [FabxOva] (2.5µg) with or without α -CD40 mAb (50 µg). Six days later, spleens were removed and splenocytes re-stimulated in vitro with H2K^b-restricted (recognized by CD8 T cells) or I-A^b restricted (recognized by CD4 T cells) Ova peptide for 24 hours. The results clearly demonstrate that immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] and α -CD40 mAb generated approximately

2.5-fold more endogenous Ova-specific IFN- γ secreting CD8 and CD4 effector T cells than [α -DEC205xOva], and 3-4 fold more than [α -MHCIIxOva]. The number of Ova-specific IFN- γ secreting CD4 and CD8 T cells was comparable for most treatments. In addition, immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] and α -CD40 mAb generated a higher number of total effector cells secreting IFN- γ without re-stimulation with peptide than did all the other treatments.



В



PBS ControlxOva + α-CD40 unpulsed pulsed 0.97 CD11cxOva DEC205xOva MHCIIxOva CD11cxOva + a-CD40 + α-CD40 + α-CD40 0.97 0 96 0.11 0.93 Max count CFSE

Figure 3.2.7 Proliferation of endogenous T cells and the characterization of their effector functions.

(A) Mice were injected (i.v.) with [FabxOva] (2.5 μ g) or soluble Ova (2 mg) with or without α -CD40 mAb (50 or 400 μ g). The number of endogenous CD8⁺ T cells was monitored 7 days after immunization by double staining blood samples with SIINFEKL-tetramers and α -CD8 mAb. Cells were gated on live lymphocytes. (B) Naïve C57BL6 mice were immunized (i.v.) with [FabxOva] conjugates (2.5 μ g) with or without α -CD40 mAb (50 μ g). Six days later, splenocytes (4x10⁵) were re-stimulated in vitro with H-2K^b-restricted OVA ₂₅₇₋₂₆₄ peptide (1 μ g/m) or I-A^b-restricted peptide OVA₃₂₃₋₃₃₉ (1 μ g/ml) for 24 h and the number of IFN- γ positive cells evaluated by ELISPOT. Data representative of 2 individual experiments. (C)) C57BL/6 mice were immunized as in (A) and seven days later, CFSE-labelled syngeneic splenocytes from naïve mice were pulsed with Ova₂₅₇₋₂₆₄ peptide (1 μ M) (CFSE^{hi}) or not (CFSE^{lo}) and a 1:1 mixture (~1x10⁷ cells each) was prepared and injected i.v.. Then, 18 h later, splenocytes from immunized mice were analyzed for the ratio of surviving pulsed versus non-pulsed targets by flow cytometry.

As expected, immunization with any of the conjugates without α -CD40 mAb, failed to generate effector cells with the number of IFN- γ secreting CD4 and CD8 T cells being comparable to those in the control groups. Indeed, when [α -CD11cxOva] was administered without α -CD40 mAb, the number of IFN- γ secreting effector T cells was diminished to the low numbers present in naïve mice (Figure 3.2.7 (B)). Interestingly, although immunization with [α -MHCIIxOva] has been shown to induce a strong CD4 T cell response both in vitro and in vivo, when we actually measured the number of effector CD4 T cells for this conjugate in comparison to [α -DEC205xOva], which has been shown to favour a CD8 T cell response, there was no marked difference between them. This suggests that although [α -MHCIIxOva] biases the expansion of CD4 T cell

С

thereby producing high numbers of Ova-specific CD4 T cells, these cells later fail to become effector cells.

Another important characteristic of effector CD8 T cells is their cytolytic capacity to kill target cells. To assess the cytotoxicity of the CD8 T cells generated in response to our conjugates, we immunized naïve mice with our conjugates with or without α -CD40 mAb and at the peak of the primary response (day 7) we transferred a 1:1 mixture of CFSE labeled syngeneic splenocytes composed SIINFEKL peptide loaded and unloaded cells. Eighteen hours later, the spleens from the recipient mice were analyzed by flow cytometry.

Figure 3.2.7 (C) shows that the effector cells generated by the immunization with $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva] and α -CD40 mAb, possess Ag-specific cytolytic functions as most of the Ova peptide loaded target cells were eradicated within 18 hours. In contrast, in the absence of α -CD40 mAb, there was virtually no change in the number of target loaded cells in comparison to the unloaded cells. Moreover, although $[\alpha$ -DEC205xOva] has been shown to evoke a strong CD8 T cell response, based on these results, we propose that the number of effector cells generated failed to reach the threshold required to eliminate the target cells, as this treatment and $[\alpha$ -MHCIIxOva], were unable to kill the target cells to a noticeable level.

In summary, these data reinforces the fact that immunization with $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva] and α -CD40 mAb, is the most effective vaccine as it generates the highest number of CD8 and CD4 T cells and these cells are Ag specific bona fide effector cells, capable of secreting IFN- γ and lysing target cells.

3.2.8 Ag targeted to DC can be presented to naïve T cells for long periods and favour distinct immune responses depending on the target molecule.

We next investigated for how long targeted DC are able to present Ag to naïve CD8 and CD4 T cells in vivo. CFSE-labelled OT-I or OT-II T cells were adoptively transferred 1, 4, 7 and 15 days after immunization with [FabxOva]

conjugates and α -CD40 mAb and their proliferation assessed by flow cytometry (Figure 3.2.8).



CD8 T cell

CD4 T cell

Figure 3.2.8 Antigen delivered to DC via distinct molecules can favour the priming of different T cell subsets

C57BL6 mice were immunized (i.v) with [FabxOva] (2.5 μ g) and α -CD40 mAb (50 μ g), or with PBS, for 1, 4, 7 or 15 days prior to the adoptive transfer of CFSE labelled OT-I (4x10 ⁶cells) or OT-II T cells (1.5x10 ⁶cells). Spleens were removed 3 days later and cell suspensions analysed by flow cytometry. Cells were gated on Ova-specific CD8 and CD4 T cells. Data representative of 3 experiments. Figures (red) represent the percentage of CFSE labelled SIINFEKL tetramer⁺ CD8 T cells and V_{β5.1,5.2}⁺ CD4 T cells.

The interesting results from this work suggest that there is a difference in the length of time in which Ag derived peptides are expressed on the surface of DC depending on the molecule or DC subset being targeted by the conjugate, and

consequently, different conjugates can favour the priming of distinct T cell subsets

Figure 3.2.8 demonstrates that the presentation of Ova derived peptides by splenic DC to CD8 OT-I T cells is detectable for at least 7 days following immunization with both [α -CD11cxOva] and [α -DEC205xOva]. This prolonged presentation by splenic DC is surprising because these cells have been reported to have half-lives of approximately 2 days [84, 93], however, this persistent presentation has been previously observed by another group[69]. Although [α -CD11cxOva] generates higher numbers (4-fold) of Ova-specific CD8 T cells after 1 and 4 days from immunization than [α -DEC205xOva], Ag is still available for T cell priming even after 7 days from immunization with both treatments, as shown by the profiles of CD8 T cells undergoing cell division.

More interestingly, in contrast to the CD8 T cell data, after immunization with $[\alpha$ -DEC205xOva], proliferation of OT-II CD4 T cells was only detectable 1 day post immunization (as shown by the 6-fold lower number of CFSE labelled OT-II T cells undergoing cell division), whereas after immunization with $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva], proliferation of CD4 T cells was still detectable at day 4, albeit weaker than for CD8 T cells.

From these data we propose that although targeting to CD11c and DEC205 can prime and initiate the proliferation of both CD8 and CD4 T cells, delivery of Ag by [α -CD11cxOva] induces the presentation of peptides on MHC-II complexes for longer than [α -DEC205xOva], which suggests a bias towards CD4 T cell priming. It is possible that by targeting DEC205 molecules, we are delivering Ag to a small subset of CD8⁺DC that have been reported to efficiently cross-present exogenous Ag to CD8 T cells [234], whereas CD11c molecules, are expressed on both CD8⁺ and CD8⁻DC subsets, and therefore, the targeting of the latter subset may preferentially generate a stronger CD4 T cell response as reported by some studies [188, 223, 235].

3.3 Discussion

First, we started by identifying the main blood derived DC subsets found in the spleen of naïve mice (i.e. CD8⁺DC, CD8⁻DC and CD4⁻CD8⁻DC subsets) and highlighted that all of these expressed high levels of CD11c molecules on their surface, which was unaltered by maturation signals. In contrast, only the CD8⁺ DC subset was shown to express DEC205, which was upregulated following DC maturation. Consistent with the notion that mature DC decrease their endocytic capabilities and enhance their ability to prime naïve T cell, when immature splenic DC were activated with LPS, they were shown to upregulate the expression of MHC-II and co-stimulatory molecules (e.g. CD80, CD86, ICAM-1) (Figure 3.2.1).

Next, we targeted Ova to splenic APC with our [FabxOva] conjugates in vitro and concluded that of all the conjugates, delivery of Ag via CD11c, DEC205 and MHC-II molecules were the most promising targets for the development of strong Ag-specific CD8 and CD4 T cell immunity (Figure 3.2.2). Furthermore, these results clearly demonstrate that Ag targeted to all three surface molecules is efficiently delivered to both MHC-I and MHC-II processing compartments, as they all primed CD8 and CD4 T cells. Indeed, targeting of MHC-II molecules seemed to favour CD4 T cells priming, probably because Ag delivered via MHC-II can be directed to the MHC-II compartment more readily. Nevertheless, at this point we were unable to define the role of the different DC subsets in the priming of CD8 T cells.

Although, targeting of TLR2 has been reported to amplify T cell immunity [236], the data shown here indicates that this molecule is relatively ineffective in comparison to CD11c, DEC205 and MHCII molecules. Like for CD40 molecules, stimulation of TLR2 seems to be more important for the induction of various signaling pathways associated with the activation and modulation of DC rather than Ag-uptake and processing. Delivery of Ova with [α -FcRxOva], which targets both the inhibitory Fc γ R-II and the activating Fc γ R–III, failed to facilitate T cell priming. Many studies have shown that IgG-immune complexes bound to the activating Fc γ R-I and Fc γ R–III expressed on APC are efficiently internalized

and processed for the priming of T cells [237, 238]. On the other hand, FcyRIIB is thought to function as an inhibitory receptor for tyrosine kinase initiated cell activation when it is cross-linked with activation receptors such as the TcR, BcR and FcRyI/III [239, 240]. Targeting with [a-FcRxOva] conjugate failed to potentiate T cell priming. This conjugate, composed of 2.4G2 mAb, binds FcyRIIB and FcyRIII equivalently [241], therefore, it is possible that the lack of T cell response was a result of higher expression levels of the inhibitory FcRyIIB on the DC. Indeed, studies by Kalergis et al [238] have demonstrated that wild type iDC derived from BM or from spleen, predominantly expressed FcyRIIB, which accounted for approximately 75 % of the total FcyR expression. It seems that the balance between activating and inhibitory FcyR influences the maturation signals received by the DC, which determines their ability to prime T cells. In this model, IC loaded FcyRIIB-deficient DC were shown to have antitumour effects unlike the wild-type [238, 242, 243]. Alternatively, because this conjugate can bind various cells expressing FcyR other than DC, which are particularly efficient in naïve T cell priming, this could limit their availability to these cells and consequently lead to poor T cell responses.

Further studies were performed to examine the effectiveness of the three best conjugates in delivering Ag to APC in vivo, particularly to DC. DC have been demonstrated by numerous studies to be important for the cross-priming of CTL, as these cells were shown to persist in the absence of B cells [167], but were abrogated by depletion of phagocytes [244]. The results from the proliferation assays using ex vivo loaded DC, indicated that although targeting of Ag to CD11c, DEC205 and MHC-II molecules were shown to have comparable efficacies in vitro, when targeted in vivo, [α -CD11cxOva] was strikingly better than any of the other targets (Figure 3.2.3). These findings suggested that the accessibility to the target molecules in the lymphoid organ could be having an impact on the efficacy of [α -DEC205xOva] and [α -MHCIIxOva], or that the cell biology of the CD11c molecule favoured efficient uptake and processing of Ag in this setting.

In addition, it was evident at this point that DEC205 targeting, unlike MHC-II targeting, favoured the proliferation of CD8 T cells rather than CD4 T cells.

These interesting findings were confirmed by adoptive transfer experiments, where the proliferation of transgenic Ova-specific CD8 and CD4 T cells was monitored during their primary and secondary responses following immunization with the conjugates (Figure 3.2.4).

It was clear from the collective data that immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] evoked the most potent CD8 and CD4 T cell responses, and as previously observed for the ex vivo data (Figure 3.2.3), immunization with [α -DEC205xOva] favoured CD8 T cell priming, whereas [α -MHCIIxOva], the priming of CD4 T cells (Figure 3.2.6). Furthermore, targeting of DEC205 did not seem to permit the presentation of peptides for the priming of CD4 T cells for longer than 1 day following immunization, as observed for CD11c targeting (Figure 3.2.8). The latter in contrast, favoured the presentation of peptides in a MHC-II context for at least an additional 3 days compared to [α -DEC205xOva], suggesting that immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] biases the prolonged priming of CD4 T cells unlike [α -DEC205xOva] (Figure 3.2.8). Unfortunately, the data for [α -MHCIIxOva] is not available at this time as it is currently being investigated, but one would expect it to resemble [α -CD11cxOva] in favouring CD4 T cell priming as it has always been shown to generate higher numbers of these cells than [α -DEC205xOva].

The ability of distinct DC subsets to cross-prime CD8 T cells is still highly controversial as many reports suggest that splenic CD8⁺ and CD8⁻ DC do not exhibit significant differences in their ability to stimulate naïve CD8 T cell in vitro and in vivo [187]. In contrast, there is also strong evidence suggesting that when fully activated, CD8⁺DC, are the most efficient subset for MHC-I cross-presentation, which produces high levels of IL-12 and strongly bias CD4 T cells towards an T_H1 response with extensive IFN- γ secretion, which results in the induction of a potent CD8 T cell response [175, 224, 225]. Moreover, CD8⁺DC have been suggested to express lower numbers of MHC-II molecules than CD8⁻ DC [245] and have a lower capacity to stimulate CD4 T cell proliferation and production of IFN- γ in culture, compared with either of the CD8⁻DC subsets, which in contrast, have been shown to favour MHC-II-restricted presentation [179, 188, 223]. Thus, as clearly demonstrated in our phenotypic analyses

(Figure 3.2.1 (B)), only the CD8⁺ DC subset expresses DEC205 and therefore, Ag delivered via [α -DEC205xOva] selectively targets these cells, whereas [α -CD11cxOva] and [α -MHCIIxOva] are not restricted to a specific subset.

The controversy associated with the specialization of the distinct DC subsets in their ability to prime and modulate CD4 and CD8 T cell immunity, has been very recently investigated in more detail by Shortman's group. In one study [235], they demonstrated that both CD8⁺ and CD8⁻DC can provide activating signals to the CD4 T cells in culture and, in addition, the overall death rate of these CD4 T cells before entering the first cell division was not significantly different nor was the time taken to enter the first cell cycle. However, when CD4 T cells were primed by CD8⁺ DC, a larger proportion each CD4 T cell division was lost before the next division. The nature of the death signal causing the loss of these cells remains undefined [235].

Even more recently, another study by this group assessed the ability of both CD8⁻ and CD8⁺DC to cross-present exogenous Ag administered in vivo [234]. They conclude that the unique ability of CD8⁺DC to cross-present Ag is not dictated by Ag capture but by the ability to deliver the Ag to the cross-presentation pathway, a capacity found primarily and constitutively in this subset. The nature of the exogenous Ag was shown to have an effect on the efficiency by which these cells were able to cross-present to CD8 T cells. The cross-presentation of Ova bound to latex beads administered in vivo, was completely dependent on the CD8⁺DC, even though CD8⁺and CD8⁻DC had captured exactly the same amount of Ag. Similar results were obtained for cellular Ag (cell associated Ova). In the case of soluble Ova, however, it was endocytosed and presented on MHC-II complexes by all subsets, but CD8⁺DC were by far the most efficient at crosspriming [234].

These recent findings suggest that targeting soluble Ag to $CD8^+DC$ is the main, if not the only way, to induce potent cross-priming of exogenous Ag to CD8 T cells. When we delivered Ag to DC in vitro, we recorded comparable effectiveness in the priming of CD8 T cells by all three conjugates [α -DEC205xOva], [α -CD11cxOva] and [α -MHCIIxOva], but we were unable to distinguish the involvement of the different DC subsets at this stage because the latter conjugates could be interacting with all subsets. However, when Ag was delivered in vivo, the CD8 T cell priming response to [α -DEC205xOva] and [α -MHCIIxOva] was markedly lower than [α -CD11cxOva] (Figure 3.2.4). The distinct distribution of the DC subsets within the lymphoid organs has been previously reported [89, 91], and our data presented in chapter 5, confirmed that CD8⁺DC are found mainly within the deep regions of the T cell zone of the white pulp, whereas the CD8⁻DC subsets are more easily accessible to blood borne Ag as they are scattered in the marginal zone (MZ) of these organs. This suggests that the lower CD8 T cell response to [α -DEC205xOva] and [α -MHCIIxOva] might be a result of the inability of these to physically reach the DC subset (i.e. CD8⁺DC) required for potent CD8 T cell priming.

More importantly, the observation that Ag delivery by [α -MHCIIxOva] has the capacity to generate a strong CD4 T cell response but fails to prime CD8 T cells effectively (Figure 3.2.6), in contrast to [α -CD11cxOva] that efficiently primes both CD8 and CD4 T cells, raises a few important points: firstly, there are three types of APC in the lymphoid organs that express MHC-II molecules (i.e. DC, B cells and macrophages) which have the potential to be involved in the activation of these CD4 T cells. However, macrophages are located mainly in non-lymphoid tissues (e.g. liver), the red pulp of the spleen and the subcapsular and medullary sinuses of LN, and not in the T cell areas where they would interact with naïve T cells [246], which suggests that these cells are more important for the activation of effector CD4 T cells that migrate into non-lymphoid tissues later in the response [247].

Although B cells have been shown to prime naïve CD4 T cells [248-251], the current view is that naïve CD4 T cells are primed by DC and only interact subsequently with B cells [252]. The main arguments supporting this position include: (1) the frequency of B cell clones bearing a receptor for a particular Ag is too low (1 in 10^4 – 10^5 cells) for them to take part significantly in T cell priming [253]; (2) in vivo proliferation of Ag-specific CD4 T cells after immunization is normal in B cell-deficient mice [254]; (3) studies show interactions between Agbearing DC and Ag-specific CD4 T cells in situ within 12-24 h following Ag

administration [255, 256], which is supported by data from real-time microscopic studies showing that DC-T interaction occur before B-T interaction [257-259]; (4) studies comparing the Ag-presenting capacity of B cells and DC showed that B cells are less efficient than DC [260, 261]; (5) resting B cells do not express the costimulatory molecules needed to activate naïve CD4 T cells, however, they are capable of activating memory and effector CD4 T cells due to their lower costimulatory requirements [249].

Moreover, the activation and expansion of Ag-specific B cells requires two distinct signals, like for T cell activation. Signal (1) is provided via the engagement of the BcR by antigen, and (2), by the ligation of CD40 by CD40L, which is expressed by activated CD4 T cells. In addition to recognizing Ag, the cross-linking of BcR by Ag provides intracellular signals essential for B cell proliferation and survival. Furthermore, it induces signals for BcR internalization [262], the direction of the BcR–Ag complex through the endocytic pathway towards MHC-II rich compartments (MIIC) [263] and the upregulation of costimulatory molecules necessary for CD4 T cell engagement, such as CD86 molecules [264]. Thus, in view of all these data and the fact that by targeting Ova directly to MHC-II molecules we are bypassing the critical stimulatory signals provided by BcR ligation, it seems unlikely that B cells are the predominant APC inducing the strong CD4 T response observed following immunization with [α -MHCIIxOva] (Figure 3.2.6).

Secondly, although immunization with [α -MHCIIXOva] induces a stronger CD4 T cell response than CD8 (Figure 3.2.6), it is not a result of its failure to successfully deliver the Ag to the MHC-I compartment, because when targeted in vitro [α -MHCIIxOva] was almost as effective as [α -CD11cxOva] and [α -DEC205xOva], therefore they can all process Ag and present it on MHC-I complexes. Thus, although Ag is being efficiently targeted to DC by [α -MHCIIxOva], it is clear that the anatomical structure of the spleen is preventing the delivery of Ag to possibly the only DC subset capable of effectively cross-priming CD8 T cells (i.e. CD8⁺DC), and therefore, since [α -CD11cxOva] can generate a potent CTL response, one suggests that Ag bound to CD11c molecules are transported and transferred to CD8⁺ DC located in the T cell zone

of the white pulp, whereas MHC-II molecules fail to do so. If this hypothesis is correct, one would expect that the ability of $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva] to evoke strong CD4 and CD8 T cell responses is a result of Ag delivery to a large number of CD8 DC located in the MZ, which in the presence of a maturation signal migrate into the T cell zone where they can efficiently prime CD4 T cells and by transferring a proportion of the bound Ag to CD8⁺DC they can also effectively prime the CD8 T cells.

More interestingly, these findings raise an important question regarding the function of CD11c molecules in the transfer of Ag to other DC subsets. A proposal for inter-DC Ag transfer is not without precedent; in 1998, Inaba et al [265] proposed the MHC-II-restricted Ag transfer between migrating DC and a separate subset within the T cell zone (i.e. DEC205⁺CD8⁺DC). Surprisingly, this was found to be a highly efficient way of spreading relatively low amounts of injected Ag over a large proportion of lymphoid resident DC leading to the amplification of the immune response against Ag entering the periphery.

Moreover, a study by Shortman and Carbone's group [266] reinforced this hypothesis by demonstrating that CTL responses to herpes simplex virus was dependent on the migration and transfer of Ag by skin emigrating DC to lymphoid resident DC to mount a robust cytotoxic response, and these latest findings support other previous studies highlighting the possible existence of inter-DC Ag transfer [267-273]. Proposed mechanisms for the transfer of Ag include the release of exosomes or apoptotic bodies [245, 274] by migratory DC. Thus, various mechanisms for Ag presentation may exist, including: (1), the conventional pathways of immigration into the lymphoid tissue by DC originally present at the site of Ag challenge; (2), lymphoid resident DC (CD8⁺DC) might have access to Ag in the lymph and blood contents, in addition to the capture of Ag transferred by migratory DC; and (3), the possible ingestion of dead DC; all of which result in the amplification of Ag-specific adaptive responses.

Nevertheless, we are still unable to explain how [α -DEC205xOva] can reach their targets on CD8⁺DC (discussed further in chapter 5), but this result supports the idea that this subset of DC is highly efficient in the capture of the low

amounts of $[\alpha$ -DEC205xOva] that had access to this area and that specifically targeted the Ag to these cells specialized in the cross-priming of CD8 T cells.

In addition to the effective delivery of Ag to DC by the different conjugates, the data here also highlighted the crucial role of a maturation signal, which we provided by α-CD40 mAb, to prevent the system from becoming tolerized to the delivered Ag. As previously reported for DEC205 targeting [69], when a low dose of Ag was delivered to DC in vivo in the steady state via CD11c, these cells failed to maintain a strong CD8 T cell response even when they were effectively presenting Ag and inducing extensive T cell proliferation initially (Figure 3.2.4). The expanding T cells seemed to be unable to maintain their proliferation and differentiation, which resulted in their deletion after approximately 5 days unless a maturation signal was provided concomitantly with $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva]. These findings are consistent with the sequential model that supports the notion that DC in the lymphoid organs constitutively present Ag on both MHC I and II molecules leading to peripheral tolerance, and, unless they are exposed to cellular signs of danger, for example in the form of factors released from damaged cells, TLR-ligands from pathogens or maturation signals (e.g. CD40-L/ α -CD40 mAb) from CD4 T cells which license them to be converted from crosstolerant to cross-priming APC, CTL immunity will not be induced.

For some time now it ha been known how strongly CD8 T cells can respond to infection with viruses or bacteria. A naïve T cell can rapidly undergo up to 15 divisions to produce more than 10⁴ progeny within 7 days of antigenic stimulation [275], but for constant protection, it is essential that these expanding cells become memory cells capable of dealing rapidly with the reappearance of a pathogen, whether it is by re-emerging from a latent or chronic site of infection or by a new infection. The role of CD4 T cells and of activation, growth and survival signals provided by other cells, such as DC, in the CD8 T cell response is not entirely understood. The sequential model, proposes that for non-inflammatory cellular Ag (e.g. tumour cells, dead cells), the priming of CD8 T cells required help from CD4 T cells and both of these cells had to recognize helper and CTL epitopes on Ag presented by DC but not necessarily on the same DC.

Furthermore, many reports [165, 167, 185] have shown that the function of Agspecific CD4 T cells recognizing Ag on the DC could be replaced, at least partially, by activating DC with an agonist α -CD40 mAb as we have used in our system. These groups demonstrated that CD40 ligation on DC, results in the secretion of cytokines such as IL-1, IL-6, IL-12, TNF- α together with the upregulation of costimulatory molecules (e.g. ICAM-1, CD80 and CD86), which enable these activated DC to prime CD8 T cell in the absence of CD4 T cell help. Our findings are in accordance with this model because when mice were immunized with a non-inflammatory Ag, they required an adjuvant to induce the activation of DC and priming of CD8 T cells.

One weakness of this sequential model was that a strong primary response by CTL to many infectious agents can be readily measured in animals lacking CD4 T cells [276]. This lack of requirement for CD4 T cell licensing was later explained by proposing that the DC could be directly activated by the infectious pathogens, which unlike tumour cells and necrotic cells, express PAMPs that can be recognized by TLR expressed on DC and circumvent the need for CD4 T cells. In addition, another model was proposed by Matzinger et al [277], suggested that factors released from damaged and transformed cells could also provide strong danger signals.

Two sets of studies have questioned this sequential model and turned this field around. The first set suggested that primary CD8 T cell responses to noninflammatory cellular Ag is in fact help independent, and help during the priming phase is required solely to programme the CTL to become effector and memory cells capable of rapidly responding to restimulation [166, 278]. However, other groups have shown that not all CTL responses to non-inflammatory Ag are independent of CD4 T cell help [279].

The other set of data includes results indicating that primary CTL responses to pathogens are independent of CD4 T cells, but there is in fact a requirement for these cells to allow the generation of long-lived, functional memory CD8 T cells able to rapidly respond to rechallenge with pathogen [280]. Our ELISPOT and IFN- γ intracellular staining data support the idea that the CD8 T cells had to be

primed in combination of a maturation signal (i.e. α -CD40 mAb) to generate IFN- γ secreting effector cells and as expected, immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] induced the highest number of effector CTL, followed by [α -DEC205xOva] and [α -MHCIIxOva] (Figure 3.2.7).

In addition, the effector cells generated after immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] and α -CD40 mAb, were shown to have potent in vivo cytolytic functions as most of the Ova-loaded splenocytes transferred into the immunized mice were rapidly eradicated (Figure 3.2.7). All the other treatments were unable to kill the Agloaded cells, probably as a result of the lower number of effector cells generated after immunization. When mice were rechallenged with MHC-I-restricted Ova peptide, only those primed in the presence of α -CD40 mAb generated functional memory cells, whereas mice immunized with [α -CD11cxOva] alone were tolerized to Ova.

Potential mechanisms for the maintenance or programming of memory CTL by CD4 T cells are still being debated but they suggest a new model involving a more complex conversation between the three cells involved in CTL responses. One suggested cross-talk mechanism includes the possible interaction between CD4 and CD8 T cells, mainly because the maintenance of CTL memory cells has been shown to be independent of the continued interaction with APC [281] and CD4 T cells may provide direct signals to the CTL or indirectly by the secretion of growth factors [282].

In contrast to CD8 T cells, the priming of CD4 T cells with [α -CD11cxOva] alone, evoked a primary response comparable to when α -CD40 mAb was present, but when [α -DEC205xOva] was administered alone, it was shown to be half as effective as when given with α -CD40 mAb (Figure 3.2.6). The reasons for the discrepancy in the requirement of a maturation signal for the priming of CD4 T cells is unclear, however, it is possible that in the case of [α -CD11cxOva], the conjugate delivers a large amount of Ag to the DC, which may affect the threshold of the costimulatory signal required for the effective priming of CD4 T cells and this lowered requirement can be met by the higher number of CD4 T cells present in the system following the adoptive transfer of OT-II T cells. The

fact that CD8 T cell proliferation and expansion following immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] in the same mice was dependent on the adjuvant, suggests that the costimulation threshold for these cells is higher than for CD4 T cells, which is not surprising as these cells have harmful cytolytic functions that need to be constantly monitored to prevent unnecessary tissue damage.

Nonetheless, signalling via CD40 was required for the mounting of a potent memory and effector CD4 T cell response, as only the animals immunized with α -CD40 mAb were able of produce IFN- γ secreting CD4 T cells and resulted in strong memory responses. Even though [α -MHCIIxOva] was demonstrated to evoke the expansion of CD4 T cells, most of these cells failed to differentiate into effector cells as a lower number was shown to secrete IFN- γ upon restimulation of Ova peptide than when targeted to DEC205, implying that although Ag can be efficiently presented to CD4 T cells via MHC-II molecules, the intrinsic function of these molecules is not of an endocytic receptor and this is reflected on their inability to generate effector CD4 T cells (Figure 3.2.7).

In conclusion, of all the [FabxOva] conjugates investigated here, [α -CD11cxOva] generated the most potent CD4 and CD8 T cell responses in vivo, in contrast to when splenic DC were targeted in vitro, which suggest that the anatomical distribution and availability of the DC subsets being targeted by the different conjugates have an impact on its overall effectiveness. Thus, it is proposed here that CD11c molecules may be involved in the transfer of intact Ag to other DC subsets and it is thereby capable of evoking strong CD4 and CD8 T cell responses. Co-administration of [α -CD11cxOva] with α -CD40 mAb prevented the establishment of tolerance against Ova and allowed the proliferating T cells to acquire bona fide effector and memory cell functions.

Chapter 4 Humoral response to immunization with [FabxOva] conjugates

4.1 Introduction

Targeting of Ag to DC not only initiates T cell mediated immunity but it also activates the other arm of the adaptive system, which is comprised of memory B cells and plasma-cells secreting Ag-specific Abs. Ag-specific B cells recognise soluble Ag in its native form unlike T cells, and the origin of these Ag can be blood-borne or transported by DC (e.g. in the form of immune-complexes). B cells can proliferate and secrete IgM in response to the binding of Ag to its Agspecific B cell receptor (BcR) but to generate memory B cells help from Agspecific CD4 T cell is required.

As demonstrated in vivo in the rat, DC can capture and retain unprocessed Ag to be presented to B cells in its native form [195], in addition to their ability to efficiently process Ag into peptides and present them to CD4 T cells. This ability to present Ag to both B and T cell at the same time was the basis for the "ménage a trois model", which proposes that once CD4 T are primed by the DC they upregulate the expression of CD40-L on their surface, which can bind to CD40 constitutively expressed on B cells. However, to prevent the generation of autoantibodies, these activated CD4 T cells also need to recognise peptides derived from the same Ag presented on MHC-II complexes on the surface of these B cells, which are also professional APC like DC. Together with the secretion of immunostimulatory cytokines secreted by effector CD4 T cells, the differentiation of naïve B cells into memory B cells characterized by Ab isotype switching and affinity maturation can occur.

Indeed, the interaction between CD40-L on activated CD4 T cells and CD40 on B cells has been shown to be crucial for their differentiation process, including rescue from apoptosis, differentiation into germinal centre cells, isotype switching, selection and maturation into memory cells [283]. During this ménage a trois, there is evidence of a more direct DC-B cell dialogue; including the possible interaction between CD40 molecules on activated DC and CD40-L on B cells that is upregulated upon activation [284]. Furthermore, CD40-activated DC can secrete soluble factors, including IL-12 and soluble IL-6rα gp80, which binds IL-6 secreted by the B cells and some DC, and leads to the differentiation of

CD40 activated B cells into plasma cells secreting IgM. DC also orchestrate Ab isotype-switching of activated B cells, where DC alone can induce the expression of IgA on the B cells but, IL-10 and TGF- β is required for further differentiation into IgA secreting cells [285].

In addition, DC have been reported to express B cell activating factor belonging to the TNF family (BAFF/Blys-L) at high levels at the steady-state, which is upregulated upon maturation with bacterial products. BAFF receptor appears to be restricted to B cells and induces both proliferation and Ig secretion by B cells, suggesting that BAFF may represent an important costimulator through which DC regulate B cell proliferation and function [286]. However, one also needs to consider that a conditioned DC can be only a temporal bridge between a CD4 T helper cell and B cells in analogy to the sequential model in which DC interact with CD4 T cells and CD8 T cells sequentially rather than at the same time, for instance when B cell bind soluble Ag rather than Ag presented by DC.

In our previous chapter, we concluded that targeting of CD11c evoked robust CD4 and CD8 T cell responses, and in addition, it was shown to prime CD4 T cells for longer than CD8 T cells, unlike DEC205. Here, we demonstrate the effectiveness of our conjugates in the initiation of a humoral reponse.

and the second secon

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Immunization with [α-CD11cxOva] generates high titres of anti-Ova antibodies

Based on the most promising targets highlighted by the T cell proliferation assays, we immunized mice with 2.5 μ g of conjugates targeting CD11c, DEC205, MHC-II and CD40 with or without α -CD40 mAb. Serum samples were collected at different time points and anti-Ova mAb titres measured by ELISA.

Figure 4.2.1 clearly shows the striking ability of immunization with a single low dose of [α -CD11cxOva] to induce the secretion of high titres of Ova-specific antibodies at a very early stage. By day 7, immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] generated titres approximately 120-fold higher than any of the other conjugates, with a mean titre of 1: 6,000. Targeting to DEC205, MHC-II and CD40 failed to generate anti-Ova antibodies above background levels. As seen for the proliferation of CD4 T cells following immunization with [α -CD11cxOva], antibody production was also independent of α -CD40 mAb. The antibody response was maintained at high levels beyond day 27, but the titres were halved reaching a mean titre of approximately 1: 3,000, which was still around 30-60-fold higher than the other conjugates.

Importantly, the comparison between the antibody responses generated by targeted Ag and soluble Ova demonstrated that immunization with soluble Ag using an amount at least 8,000-fold more than that present in 2.5 μ g of conjugate, failed to evoke titres comparable to [α -CD11cxOva] at day 7, as the response was approximately 10-fold lower. Although by day 27, immunization with soluble Ova at the highest concentration reached its peak and antibody titres were twice as high as those with [α -CD11cxOva]. The ELISA assay used to assess the antibody titres in these experiments measured both IgM and IgG antibody isotypes but IgM production is restricted to early antibody responses before the process of isotype-switching is concluded. Therefore, these data suggest that immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] generates high levels of IgG antibodies as
the response was maintained high for nearly one month after immunization. Further analysis using an isotype-specific ELISA showed that the responses to Ag targeted to CD11c contained a mixture of IgM and IgG, with a predominance of IgG1 (personal communications with Alison Tutt).



Figure 4.2.1 Immunization with $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva] generates a potent α -Ova antibody response.

C57BL/6 mice were immunised with soluble Ova or [FabxOva] conjugate (2.5 μ g) i.v. with or without α -CD40 mAb (50 μ g), and serum samples collected on days 7 and 28. ELISA plates were coated with rabbit α -OVA mAb and blocked in the presence of soluble Ova (10 μ g/ml). Mouse serum IgG Ab was detected with an α -mouse IgG-HRP conjugate. The serum titre was defined as the highest dilution of a serum that gives an OD490 value of double that of serum from naïve mice (NMS). Symbols represent individual mice and horizontal lines indicate the mean value of each group.

4.2.2 The role of CD4 T cells in antibody production

Α

В

We next investigated the production α -Ova antibody in mice depleted of CD4 T cells. Figure 4.2.2 (A) indicates that after three injections of depleting α -CD4 mAb, circulating CD4 T cells were reduced by more than 95 %. The depletion of CD4 T cells completely abolished the antibody response induced by immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] (Figure 4.2.2 (B)).



Figure 4.2.2 The role of CD4 T cells in antibody production in response to [α-CD11cxOva]

Mice were pre-treated with three injections of α -CD4 mAb (1mg) i.p. on days -4,-1 and 3. On day 0, the depletion of CD4 T cells was analysed and mice were immunized with [α -CD11cxOva] (2.5 µg) with or without α -CD40 mAb (50 or 500 µg). (A) FACS profiles of CD4 T cell depletion. (B) Anti-Ova antibody production was measured by ELISA. The serum titre was defined as the highest dilution of a serum that gives an OD490 value of double that of serum from naïve mice.

In addition, the role of CD4 T cells could not be replaced by the presence of α -CD40 mAb. Anti-CD40 mAb has been used as a standard adjuvant and it is thought to act by mimicking the signal provided by activated CD4 T cells expressing CD40-ligand (CD40-L), which provides help to B cells and DC by interacting with CD40 molecules on their surfaces. Therefore, these results suggest that the help provided by CD4 T cells is not dependent on the CD40:CD40-L interaction as even 500 µg of the adjuvant was unable to induce any antibody response.

4.2.3 Different routes of administration

The effect of delivering Ag via different routes of administration on the production of antibodies was investigated by administering the conjugates intravenously or subcutaneously and assessing the titre of Ab produced.



Figure 4.3 Different routes of administration and its effect on antibody production

Mice were immunized with [FabxOva] conjugates (2.5 μ g) with or without α -CD40 mAb (50 μ g) subcutaneously (s.c.) or intravenously (i.v.) and seven days later serum α -Ova IgG titres were measured by ELISA. The serum titre was defined as the highest dilution of a serum that gives an OD490 value of double that of serum from naïve mice.

Figure 4.2.3 suggests that delivery of Ag via CD11c is the only treatment capable of generating high titres of α -Ova antibody. Although the titres generated by subcutaneous immunization were slightly higher than the intravenous injections (approximately 2-fold), there was no significant difference between the two routes of administration (p > 0.05 unpaired t-test). Interestingly, we must assume that the delivery of Ag to Langerhans' DC (LC) resident in the skin, which express high levels of DEC205, failed to facilitate the production of mAb following immunization with [α -DEC205xOva].

4.2.4 TLR-ligands and antibody responses

Here we attempted to induce a humoral response with [α -DEC205xOva] by using strong TLR-L as adjuvants. Figure 4.2.4 (A), first highlights the advantage of immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] over [α -DEC205xOva] in the generation of a strong CD8 T cell response. Secondly, it demonstrates that immunization with [α -DEC205xOva] in the presence of TLR-L, such as R848 and Poly I: C (ligands for TLR7/8 and TLR3, respectively) evokes a stronger CD8 T cell response than α -CD40 mAb. However, [α -CD11cxOva] with α -CD40 mAb still induces the strongest response, generating twice as much Ova-specific circulating CD8⁺ T cells compared to [α -DEC205xOva] with R848, and in addition, this robust response lasted longer.

Moreover, the fact that TLR-L amplified the T cell response to [α -DEC205xOva] led us to investigate their effect on the generation of Ova-specific Ab. Figure 4.2.4 (B) clearly indicates that targeting of Ag to DEC205 fails generate high titres of mAb even in the presence of various TLR-L, as the Ab titres remained around background levels after 7 days from immunization. To ensure that the mice were not tolerized following immunization with [α -DEC205xOva], mice were boosted thirty-three days later with [α -CD11cxOva] alone and this resulted in the secretion of high titres of Ova-specific IgG Ab seven days later by all animals, including the control animal primary immunized with [ControlxOva] and CpG (Figure 4.5 (C)).



4.2.4 The influence of TLR-L as adjuvants on CD8 T cell proliferation and antibody production in response to [α-DEC205xOva]

Mice received 2×10^6 OT-I T cell i.v. and 24 h later were immunized with [FabxOva] conjugates (2.5 µg) and the different TLR-L (20 µg) i.v.. (A) Blood samples were collected and the number of SIINFEKL-tetramers and α -CD8 mAb positive cells measured by flow cytometry. (B) On D7, serum samples were isolated and α -Ova IgG levels were assayed by ELISA. (C) On D33, all animals were injected with [α -CD11cxOva] (2.5 µg) and 7 days later serum samples collected and α -Ova IgG titres measured as in (B).

These results suggest that targeting to DEC205 does not generate an Ab response even when a modest T cell response can be detected. In addition, this lack of humoral response is not a result of tolerization of Ova, as all animals were capable of raising Ova-specific Ab when Ag was delivered by $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva] as a boost.

4.2.5 Immunization of TLR-4 deficient mice

To ensure that the responses measured in our functional assays were not the result of endotoxin contamination, we routinely measure the amount of endotoxin present in our conjugates when first synthesized. In addition, to verify that the reason for the similar antibody responses observed following immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] alone or in combination with adjuvants was not a consequence of endotoxin contamination. (ligand for TLR4), we immunized TLR-4 deficient mice with the conjugate and measured antibody titres on day 7.



Figure 4.2.5 The generation of antibody responses in TLR-4 deficient mice

Wild-type C3H/HeN or TLR-4 deficient C3H/HeJ mice were immunized with [α -CD11cxOva] (2.5 µg) and α -CD40 mAb (50 µg) i.v.. Serum samples were collected on day 7 and serum α -Ova antibody titres measured by ELISA.

Figure 4.2.5 indicates that the generation of high titres of antibody with [α -CD11cxOva] is independent of endotoxin, as there was no significant difference between the antibody titres by wild-type C57BL/6 mice and the TLR-4 deficient C57BL/6 mice.

4.2.6 Immunization with [α-CD11cxOva] induces long term immunity

To determine whether immunization with $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva] conjugate generates long-lasting humoral immunity, we next primed the mice with $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva] and boosted them with soluble Ova (2 µg) 4, 6, 8 or 10 weeks after primary immunization (Figure 4.2.6).



Figure 4.2.6 Antigen targeting to DC evokes long-lasting antibody production

Anti-Ova antibody responses measured by ELISA in mice immunized i.v. with $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva] (2.5 µg) 4, 6, 8 or 10 weeks before i.p. boost with soluble Ova (2µg) (on D0). IgG titres were measure 7 days after primary immunization, before boost, 7 and 14 days after boost. Symbols represent individual mice and horizontal lines indicate the mean value of each group.

High antibody titres were detected 7 days after primary immunization (average of 1: 7,000) and after the Ag boost, these titres were amplified even further. A robust antibody response was still detected in response to the boost after 10 weeks from the primary immunization, the longest period tested, which indicates the persistence of functional memory B cells long after immunization with a single low-dose of conjugate without adjuvant.

a na sana ang sana a

108

4.3 Discussion

In this chapter, we demonstrate that with a single low dose treatment, [α -CD11cxOva] is the only conjugate capable of generating a rapid and potent Ovaspecific humoral response. The data also highlighted the efficiency with which this conjugate targets Ag to DC compared to soluble Ova, which even at a concentration 8,000 times higher than that present in the injected conjugate, was unable to produce such high titres of Ab (Figure 4.2.1). This robust response was maintained over a month and further analysis using an isotype-specific ELISA (data not shown, personal communications), indicates that the majority of the response was composed of the IgG1 subtype, in line with the published data [70, 71].

The observation that immunization with $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva] evokes the secretion of IgG1 Ab as early as day 7 (i.e. before the development of germinal centres where class-switching occurs) was surprising, but many studies including a report by Wykes et al [287] demonstrated that immunization with Ag-pulsed DC produced consistently higher titres of IgG than IgM, which suggests that DC might actually directly interact with B cells and provide a signal for isotype switching soon after Ag transfer, before T helper cells have been recruited. The strong Ab response to immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] was completely abolished when animals were depleted of CD4 T cells, which indicates this is a T cell dependent (TD) response (Figure 4.2.2).

In contrast to CD11c targeting, DEC205 targeting failed to generate an antibody response. This is consistent with the results of previous studies [288, 289]. Ruprecht and Lanzavecchia [290] proposed that TLR-L like CpG can provide a powerful signal that, in synergy with cognate T cell-help and BcR cross-linking, induces primary B cell responses. Here we demonstrate that the addition of various TLR-L as adjuvant for [α -DEC205xOva], failed to evoke a humoral response (figure 4.4). In contrast, immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] produced comparable titres of α -Ova mAb when injected alone or in the presence of any of the TLR-L adjuvants confirming that this humoral response is independent of adjuvant help.

Moreover, our data indicate that immunization with $[\alpha$ -DEC205xOva] is unable to generate high titres of Ab even when administered subcutaneously, which would target Ag to the skins resident DC, LC, known to express high levels of DEC205 (Figure 4.2.3). In conclusion, these collective findings indicate that the inability of DEC205 targeting to generate a robust humoral response is either characteristic of the function of this endocytic receptor and/or of the subset of DC on which they are expressed.

Targeting of MHC-II was previously demonstrated to favour CD4 rather than CD8 T cell responses (Figure 3.2.3, 3.2.4, 3.2.6), but it failed to generate α -Ova Ab even in the presence of α -CD40 mAb, despite this adjuvant being reported to activate DC and upregulate the expression of MHC-II molecules [291]. Unlike DEC205, all conventional DC subsets express high levels of MHC-II on their surfaces, suggesting that the inability of $[\alpha$ -MHCIIxOva] to evoke an Ab response is not due to subset specialization but rather a functional characteristic of this molecule. Early experiments were focused on the targeting of MHC-II [292, 293], but the increasing awareness of the highly specialized role of DC, resulted in comparative studies which indicated that DC targeting was a more effective strategy to produce a strong Ab response [294]. The explanation that DEC205 and MHC-II targeting fails to generate high titres of Ab as result of lower amounts of these conjugates reaching their respective DC subsets must be considered, but it seems unlikely, as the targeting of DEC205 and MHC-II can evoke strong CD8 and CD4 T cell responses, respectively, suggesting that the Ag does indeed reach their target cell, however, they are unable to prime B cells.

Ag can arrive in the secondary lymphoid organs (e.g. spleen) as soluble Ag, immune-complexes (IC) or in association with DC. The Ag is first encountered by the B cells, macrophages and DC residing in the marginal zone (MZ), which are strategically positioned to respond rapidly to blood borne Ag by priming naïve T cell and follicular B cells passing through the MZ en route to the white pulp. Whereas small molecules appear to gain access to lymphoid follicles, others appear to be transported by Ag-transport cells (ATC). Although ATC remain poorly defined, a population of circulating immature DC have been reported to be involved in the effective capture of circulating Ag and transfer to

MZ B cells once they migrate into the spleen [198]. Thus, it is possible that by targeting CD11c, we are delivering Ag to these cells which are subsequently transferring it to MZ B cells capable of rapidly producing Ag-specific IgG before the formation of germinal centres.

Furthermore, recent work shows that MZ B cells can also act as ATC themselves, by binding IC, possibly from DC, and transporting them to follicular DC (FDC), which are responsible for the Ag transfer to follicular B cells. Similar to follicular B cells, Ag-engaged MZ B cells have been shown to migrate to the B-T boundary zone and be able to transfer Ag directly to naïve B cells [295]. In addition, a recent study has shown that unlike follicular B cells, Ag-engaged MZ B cells are capable of priming naïve CD4 T cells and induce their differentiation into effector cells in the T cell zone [296]. In this respect, MZ B cells are thought to behave more like DC than follicular B cells. Therefore, it is possible that some of the early IgG production observed here is due to the transfer of Ag to MZ B cells, which respond by rapidly generating Ag-specific IgG.

A recent study has shown that unlike macrophages, which contain high levels of lysosomal proteases and rapidly degrade internalized proteins, DC and B cells are protease-poor, resulting in limited lysosomal degradation [297] which explains their ability to retain Ag in its native form for long periods of time. Thus, it is possible that, similar to this model, a proportion of the Ag bound to CD11c is internalized and processed for T cell presentation while some of the bound Ag is recycled back to the surface in its native form to allow B cell activation. Alternatively, CD11c molecules might be slowly internalized by DC, which would enable the direct presentation of opsonized particles, and our conjugate, to be presented to B cells whilst on their surface.

In addition, Clynes R et al [298] have identified an Ag retention compartment accessible by recycling $Fc\gamma RIIB$ receptors, and shown that antigen can be represented to B cells for at least 48 hours. Antigenic persistence was shown to be long lived, lasting more than 48 hours, suggesting that Ag acquired in the periphery by migrating DC would be available for the activation of lymphocytes in the secondary lymphoid organs. These data supports a model in which

opsonized Ag can enter two complementary FcR pathways: one that where activating $Fc\gamma R$ generate T cell epitopes, and another where $Fc\gamma RIIB$, enables preservation and concentration of B cell epitopes.

Importantly, CD11c is expressed on all conventional DC subsets and consequently, can lead to the activation of distinct signalling pathways. Although the DC subsets functional differences remain unclear, many studies have demonstrated that CD8⁺DC tend to induce a T_H1 -biased cytokine response in reactive CD4 T cells, whereas CD8 DC favours a T_H2 -biased response [173, 175, 225]. In the last two years, two studies targeting molecules expressed only on CD8⁺DC have reported their ability to produce high titres of Ab unlike targets on CD8⁺ DC. In 2005, Corbet and Shortman [299] demonstrated that by targeting Ag without any adjuvants to FIRE (F4/80-like receptor) or CIRE (C-type lectin receptor) only expressed on immature CD8⁺DC in the mouse, generated Ab titres 100-1000-fold over a non-targeted control. In contrast, DEC205 targeting to CD8⁺DC failed to generate Ab.

In addition, Carter el al [288] reported that by targeting DC-associated C-type lectin-1 (Dectin-1) on mouse CD8⁻DC, they were able to evoke strong T cell and humoral responses. Again, the production of Ab was not detected when Ag was delivered via DEC205. Thus, these results suggest that the CD8⁻DC subset is specialized in the generation of a potent CD4 T cell response which biases towards the production of Ag-specific mAb, whereas CD8⁺DC favour a CTL response. Whether CD11c has unique properties in the retention of Ag for B cells and/or it simply delivers Ag to a DC subset that is specialized in providing signals to evoke a robust humoral response remains to be determined.

The data presented here highlights the critical role of CD4 T cell in the generation of Ova-specific Ab in our system and suggest that other factors besides the interaction between CD40 and CD40-L are provided by these cells to modulate the production of Ab by B cells, as the presence of α -CD40 mAb could not rescue the response in CD4 T cell depleted mice. Candidate molecules that have been reported to be involved in this process include OX40/OX40L [300], BAFF and APRIL and their receptors (BAFFR, TACI, BCMA) [301],

CD95/CD95L [302], ICOS/ICOSL, which has been suggested to act upstream of CD40-CD40L interactions[303].

In view of the recent published findings mentioned above and the unique ability of [α -CD11cxOva] to rapidly generate high titres of Ab in our system, a model may be proposed (refer to diagram 6). In this model, DC expressing CD11c would bind and endocytose the [α -CD11cxOva] conjugate (diagram 6 (section *A)), causing the degradation of a proportion of them for the generation of peptides to be presented to CD8 and CD4 T cells resulting in potent T cell responses (Figure 3.2.4 and 3.2.6) (section *B). These primed CD4 T cells were shown to persist and provide help to memory B cells for more than ten weeks from primary immunization (Figure 4.2.6) (section *C). Moreover, the subset of DC targeted by the conjugate could influence the outcome of the T cell response, with CD8⁻DC favouring a T_H2 response and CD8⁺DC a T_H1 driven response.

Additionally, in analogy to MZ B cells, which have been described to be able to prime naïve CD4 T cells and also transfer intact Ag to FDC or follicular B cells by the cleavage of CR2 [304] (section *D), these targeted DC might also retain some of the conjugate molecules bound to CD11c in its native form as a result of a slower internalization rate or a recycling mechanism (section *E). Therefore, one of the functions of CD11c molecules on DC may be to retain intact Ag to be transferred to B cell and CD8⁺DC located in inaccessible areas within the lymphoid tissue.

In contrast, Ag delivered to DEC205 has been reported to be rapidly endocytosed and targeted to late lysosomal compartments upon ligation, as a result of its EDE cytoplasmic tail sequence [305] and, therefore, would not be retained intact to activate B cells through their BcR and evoke an Ova-specific Ab response, instead a strong T cell response would be generated.



Diagram 6 Proposed model for the function of CD11c in the generation of a robust humoral response and cellular immunity.

Refer to text for description of the proposed model. Abbreviations: marginal zone B cell (MZ B cell), follicular B cell (F B cell), germinal centre (GC), follicular DC (FDC), CD4 T helper cell (T_H cell), cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL), immune-complex (IC).

5.1 Introduction

Peripheral lymphoid organs, such as the spleen, draining lymph node and Peyer's patches, are the major sites for the generation of primary immune responses. These organs provide the meeting place where lymphocytes circulating in the blood encounter pathogens and their products brought from a site of infection. Lymphocytes can recirculate through the body in both the blood and lymph. When they reach the blood capillaries running through a lymph node they can encounter pathogens and become effector cells. However, pathogens can also enter the blood directly and in this case, the spleen is the lymphoid organ responsible for their removal and the activation of lymphocytes like in the lymph nodes with the only difference that both pathogen and lymphocytes enter and leave the spleen in the blood rather than the lymph. Thus, not surprising, the anatomical structure of such lymphoid organs has the important function of facilitating the interaction between APC and naïve lymphocytes, which results in the priming of an Ag-specific immune response.

The spleen is composed of white pulp regions and the red pulp, where blood is filtered and cleared of aged red blood cells by resident macrophages. However, the important site for the initiation of the adaptive response is the white pulp, which has distinct regions, named the marginal zone (MZ), B-cell and T-cell zones, through which naïve B and T lymphocytes continually recirculate.

This diagrammatic representation (Diagram 7) of the spleen helps us to highlight the structures studied in this chapter. Blood from the central circulation flows through the afferent splenic artery that branches into the central arteriole and drains into the MZ from which it percolates into the red pulp. These central arterioles are sheathed by white-pulp areas consisting of the T cell zone area (also know as the periarteriolar lymphoid sheath, PALS) and B cell follicles. In the spleen, the MZ is an important transit area for cells that are leaving the bloodstream and entering the white pulp. Thus, it contains a large number of resident APC, which are involved in Ag capture and presentation to lymphocytes in the white pulp. The MZ macrophages form the outer ring of the MZ and the MZ metallophillic macrophages (labelled with α - MOMA-1 mAb) form the inner ring close to the white pulp. Staining with α -MOMA-1 mAb was used to enable the identification of the border of the white pulp.

Located between these two macrophage subsets are the MZ B cells (also labelled with α -CD19 mAb) and DC (labelled with α -CD11c mAb). DC are also found in the T cell zone which is visualized by the staining of T cells with α -CD3 mAb.



Diagram 7 : Different cell populations within the spleen [306]

During recirculation, the lymphocytes can interact with DC, and other APC, located in the MZ and T cell zone where they become activated and differentiate into effector cells which migrate back to the peripheral to fight the pathogen.

In this chapter, we studied the anatomical distribution and bioavailability of the target cells as this would have profound effect on the overall effectiveness of a vaccine and cannot be predicted using in vitro assays. Hence, our aim is to relate the effectiveness of our individual [FabxOva] conjugates with their physiological distribution within the spleen and the different lymphocyte subsets that are involved in mounting a strong immune response.

5.2 Results

In parallel with our functional assays described in chapters 3 and 4, we wished to investigate the biodistribution of our most potential mAb targeting vaccine candidates over a period of time. To achieve this we radiolabelled the targeting mAb with ¹²⁵I-iodine, which enabled us to determine the anatomical localization of these mAb over a period of time.

5.2.1 Anatomical localization of F(ab')2 mAb administered intravenously.

In Figure 5.2.1, mice were intravenously injected with a single low dose of ¹²⁵I-labelled F(ab')₂ mAb (2.5 µg). Tissues were collected after 6 or 24 hours, weighed and their γ -radioactivity measured. To allow the comparison between the different organs and their varied sizes, we standardised the values by expressing them as the percentage of the injected dose recovered per gram of tissue. The most outstanding feature of this work was the rapid accumulation of α -CD11c and α -MHC-II mAb in the spleen, which was not seen with α -DEC205 mAb, even though DEC205 is expressed on DC located in this organ.



Figure 5.2.1 Anatomical localization of F(ab)₂ mAb administered intravenously.

Naïve C57BL/6 mice were injected i.v. with 2.5 μ g of ¹²⁵ I-labelled F(ab)₂ mAb. After 6h or 24 h, tissues were collected, weighed and γ -radiation measured using a γ -counter. Values are expressed as % of injected dose recovered per gram of tissue. n = 3 individual experiments.

The biodistribution of α -CD11c and α -MHC-II IgG mAb indicated that approximately 100 % of injected dose per gram of tissue (equivalent to ~ 10 % of injected dose) is in the spleen within 6 hours, which represents approximately 25-fold and 8-fold higher accumulation than found with control mAb and α -DEC205 mAb, respectively. This pattern was seen as early as 1 hour after injection (data not shown) and persisted for at least 24 hours. To confirm that all mice received radiolabelled mAb, we assessed their total body count using a Geiger counter (data not shown). In addition, by using F(ab')₂ fragments rather than whole IgG in these experiments, we assured that the observed distribution was not a result of non-specific FcR interaction.

Interestingly, although after 6 hours the levels of α -CD11c and MHC-II F(ab')₂ mAb accumulated to the spleen were comparable, at 24 hours, the amount of α -CD11c mAb remaining was 3-4-fold higher than for α -MHC-II mAb. It seems likely from these data, that the accumulation of α -CD11c and α -MHC-II mAb in the spleen facilitates the delivery of Ag to APC residing in this organ. Furthermore, the fact that α -MHC-II mAb is not retained in the spleen for as long as α -CD11c mAb, suggests that its specificity for APC cell types other than DC, such as B cells and macrophages, may have an affect on the rate that this mAb is degraded.

5.2.2 Increasing the concentration α -DEC205 mAb fails to induce its accumulation to the spleen.

Surprised by the inability of α -DEC205 mAb to accumulate in the spleen, we next injected a high concentration of unlabelled F(ab')₂ mAb (100 µg) spiked with ¹²⁵I-labelled F(ab')₂ mAb (10 µg). Figure 5.2.2 shows that as the spleens became saturated with excess α -CD11c and α -MHC-II mAb, there was a decrease in the amount of mAb present in spleen and a higher percentage of the radiolabelled mAb was detected in other compartments, such as the blood for α -CD11c mAb and the lymph nodes for α -MHC-II mAb. Accumulation of α -MHC-II mAb to the spleen was still detected after the high dose of unlabelled mAb, suggesting that because this mAb binds all professional APC cell types, it

requires a higher dose of unlabelled mAb to saturate this compartment and cause its complete displacement to other organs. More importantly, these results demonstrate that even when a high dose of α -DEC205 mAb was administered, it failed to increase its accumulation to the spleen or LN. In addition, because it did not accumulate in any of the other organs assessed, it is possible that it was eliminated. Therefore, it seems that what limits the accumulation of α -DEC205 mAb to the lymphoid organs is not the availability of free mAb.



Figure 5.2.2 High concentration of α -DEC205 F(ab')₂ mAb fails to accumulate in the lymphoid organs.

Mice were injected i.v. with 100 μ g of unlabelled F(ab')₂ mAb spiked with 10 μ g of ¹²⁵I-labelled F(ab')₂ mAb or 2.5 μ g of ¹²⁵I-labelled F(ab')2mAb as controls. Six hours later, tissues were collected and γ -radiation measured. Values are expressed as % of injected dose recovered per gram of tissue.

5.2.3 Pre-treatment with FLT3-L and LPS facilitates α-DEC205 mAb accumulation in the spleen.

The previous results suggested that the failure of α -DEC205 mAb to accumulate in the spleen was not a result of a low concentration of free circulating mAb. Consequently, this led us to investigate the possibility that the limiting factor was associated with the number of target cells or molecules available for binding by the free mAb, and therefore, by increasing the number of CD8⁺DC and/or DEC205 molecules on these cells, one aimed to increase its accumulation to the spleen. To achieve this, we pre-treated the mice with subcutaneous FLT3-L (10 μ g) for 10 consecutive days prior to injection with α -CD11c and α -DEC205 mAb. Treatment with FLT3-L has been shown to increase the number of DC in the spleen by approximately 6-fold (refer to Figure 3.2.5), which had an effect on the size and weight of the spleens of treated mice as it almost doubled in size, hence, the values for the biodistribution in figure 5.2.3 are represented as the percentage of injected dose for the total tissue weight. As expected, the increase in the number of DC potentiated the accumulation of both mAb in the spleen (~ 2-fold higher). It seems likely that the increase in the amount of α -CD11c mAb did not match the 6-fold increase in DC number because the low dose of mAb injected was limiting. FLT3-L treatment has been reported to also increase the number of DC in the liver [307], which explains the marked increase of α -CD11c mAb in this organ, although there was no significant increase in liver weight.



Figure 5.2.3 Pre-treatment with FLT3-L affects the biodistribution of the ¹²⁵I-labelled F(ab')2mAb

Mice were pre-treated with s.c. injections of FLT3-L (10 μ g) for 10 consecutive days prior to i.v. injections with ¹²⁵I-labelled F(ab')2mAb (2.5 μ g). Tissues were collected 6 h later and γ -radiation measured. Biodistribution of labelled mAb is expressed as % of injected dose recovered in total tissue weight due to different spleen sizes. (B) Profile shows the expression of DEC205 on splenic CD11c⁺ splenocytes in naïve (pink) and FLT3-L treated mice (blue).

Although the percentage of mAb accumulated in the spleen was amplified, the overall difference between α -CD11c and α -DEC205 mAb remained unchanged, with α -CD11c reaching a 3-4-fold higher accumulation than α -DEC205 mAb. Nevertheless, these results indicate that by increasing the number of DC we were able to increase the accumulation of α -DEC205 mAb in the spleen. Furthermore, preliminary studies have shown that the accumulation of α -DEC205 mAb in the spleen is also increased (approximately by 2-fold) when mice are pre-treated with LPS (data not shown). LPS has been shown to induce DC maturation and the upregulation of DEC205 expression on these cells (Figure 3.2.1 (C)), in contrast to FLT3-L (Figure 5.2.3 (B)).

5.2.4 Visualization of the movement of the targeting mAb in the spleen over a period of time.

Next, we wished to determine the movement of the targeting mAb within the spleen, where they were shown to accumulate over a period of time. The visualization of the mAb and different structures of the white pulp in the spleen was accomplished by immuno-histochemistry and -fluorescence. The top panels of Figure 5.2.4, shows the direct labelling of CD11c, DEC205 and MHC-II molecules in the spleen of naïve mice. It is clear from these sections that CD11c⁺DC are unevenly distributed in the MZ edging the white pulp and within the deeper regions of the white pulp. In contrast, DEC205⁺DC are almost exclusively located in the deep regions of the white pulp with only a few cells present in the MZ, whereas APC expressing MHC-II molecules can be seen in the MZ and the whole of the white pulp.

Next, we tracked the movement of the targeting mAb following their intravenous administration. Mice were injected with 10 µg of FITC labelled α -CD11c, α -DEC205 or α -MHC-II F(ab')₂ mAb together with unlabelled α -CD40 mAb and spleens collected 1, 4 or 8 hours later. Figure 5.2.4 shows that within 1 hour of injection with FITC labelled α -CD11c F(ab')₂ mAb, the mAb was drained into the MZ of the spleen where it was detected mainly on DC scattered in these regions but not to the subset found within the deeper regions of the white pulp. It

is also possible that circulating DC targeted whilst in the blood compartment have also drained into the MZ and positioned themselves in the clusters seen around the white pulp. Within 4 hours, these labelled DC started to migrate from the MZ into the deeper regions of the white pulp (refer to arrows) and by 8 hours, there was an even higher accumulation of these cells inside the white pulp with low numbers of DC still present in the MZ clustering around specific points on the edges of the white pulp.

In contrast, FITC labelled α -DEC205 F(ab')₂ mAb could not be detected in any region of the spleen (dark dots are non-specific staining), even though the direct staining of naïve spleens demonstrated that there are DEC205 positive cells present (Figure 5.2.4). This suggests that the mAb is unable to reach the DEC205 positive cells located within the white pulp and is consequently quickly eliminated, which supports the radiolabelled biodistribution data, where α -DEC205 failed to accumulate in the spleen unlike α -CD11c and α -MHC-II mAb.

Anti-MHCII mAb was detected on macrophages in the red pulp and MZ, together with DC and B cells leading to the strong staining of the MZ APC and B cells within the white pulp (refer to arrows, Figure 5.2.4). As time progressed, there was less staining in the red pulp, which suggests that either macrophages rapidly degrade the mAb bound to their surfaces or they also migrate to the MZ and deeper regions of the white pulp. Importantly, cells carrying α -CD11c mAb migrated to the centre of the white pulp, whereas only a small proportion of the cells bound to α -MHC-II were detected in this area and most of the positive cells were found in the outer regions of the white pulp.



Figure 5.2.4 Immuno-histochemistry of spleen sections following injection with $F(ab')_2$ mAb.

Top panels: spleen sections from naïve mice were stained with α -CD11c, α -DEC205 or control mAb. Lower panels: mice were injected i.v. with 10 µg of FITC-conjugated α -CD11c, α -DEC205 or α -MHC-II F(ab')₂ mAb in combination with unlabelled α -CD40 mAb (50 µg). Spleens were removed 1h, 4h or 8 h later and spleen sections were stained with biotinylated α -FITC mAb. Biotinylated Ab were detected with streptavidin complexes. Data representative of 2 experiments. Sections were cut and processed by Sonya Martin. Arrows show cells labelled with the individual mAb and their movements within the regions of the spleen. Bar 200µm.

5.2.5 Identification of distinct regions within the white pulp of the spleen and the distinct migration patterns of targeted cells.

To confirm these results and have a clearer view of localization of the injected FITC labelled mAb within the distinct regions within the white pulp of the spleen, we labelled the spleen sections from the same animals with fluorescent mAb. Figure 5.2.5 (A) identifies the distinct regions of the white pulp, where MZ metallophillic macrophages form an even ring around the white pulp as shown by the cells stained in red. The B cells forming the follicles are here seen in blue staining and the T cells in the T cell zone in green.

The top panels of figure 5.2.5 (B) indicates the positioning of CD11c, DEC205 and MHC-II positive cells, however, in this experiment we double-labelled these spleen sections with α -CD19 mAb (red) to visualize B cell follicles or α -MOMA (red) which stains MZ metalophillic macrophages. Confirming the previous data, direct staining of DC with α -CD11c mAb (green) in naïve spleen, show that DC aggregate in the MZ but preferentially on the edges and inside of the T cell zone, avoiding the edges of the B cells follicles. The small subset of DEC205⁺DC was mainly found within the T cell zone of the white pulp and MHC-II⁺ cells were present in the MZ and throughout the white pulp.

When analysing the movement of the FITC conjugated targeting mAb within these spleens, we also double-labelled the sections with α -CD19 mAb (seen in red) to highlight the B cell follicles and an α -FITC mAb to track the movement of the mAb (seen in green). Figure 5.2.5 (B) supports the data in Figure 5.2.4, as the injection with FITC labelled α -CD11c F(ab')₂ mAb stained only the DC in the marginal zone, which aggregated around the T cell zone and there was no detectable staining of the DC within the T cell zone. As time progressed, more DC accumulated on the edges of the T cell zone and started their migration into this region (4 h and 8 h). Twenty-four hours later the staining was weak (data not shown), suggesting that the FITC labelled mAb have been endocytosed and are being digested by the DC.



Figure 5.2.5 Fluorescence microscopy of spleens following injection with F(ab')₂-FITC mAb alone

(A) Sections of spleens from naïve mice were labelled with α -CD3 (T cells, green), α -CD19 (B cells, blue) and α -MOMA mAb (marginal zone metallophillic macrophages, red). Sections were analysed by immunofluorescence microscopy. (B) Top panels: sections of naïve spleens were double-stained with α -CD11c, α -DEC205 or α -MHC-II mAb (green) and α -CD19 mAb (B cells, red) or α -MOMA (metallophillic macrophages, red). Lower panels: mice were injected i.v. with 10 µg of FITC-conjugated α -CD11c, α -MHC-II, α -DEC205 or α -Control F(ab')₂ mAb in combination with unlabelled α -CD40 mAb (50 µg). Spleen were harvested at different time points and sections double-stained with α -CD19 mAb (B cells, red) and Alexa-Fluor α -FITC Ab (green). Spleen sections were cut and processed by Sonya Martin. Bar 200µm.

One hour following the injection with FITC-labelled α -MHC-II mAb, the staining clearly highlights the APC in the MZ, B cells at the edge of the follicles (yellowish colour), and macrophages in the red pulp. Three hours later, most of the labelled cells are found either within the B cell follicles or migrating into the T cell zone from the MZ.

Lastly, we looked at the distribution of FITC labelled α -DEC205 mAb and as before, there was no staining of any cell type within the spleen after 1 or 4 hours, even though the DEC205⁺DC cells were clearly visible within the T cell zone of the white pulp when spleen sections were stained directly with the α -DEC205 mAb, which emphasizes the previous data where injection with α -DEC205 fails to accumulate in the spleen, most probably because the mAb cannot reach the target cells in the deeper regions of the T cell zone.

5.3 Discussion

We have demonstrated here that intravenously injected α -CD11c and α -MHC-II mAb rapidly accumulate in the spleen, in contrast to α -DEC205 mAb (Figure 5.2.1). Moreover, the data from our attempts to enhance the accumulation of α -DEC205 mAb, suggest that the concentration of injected mAb was not the limiting factor (Figure 5.2.2), but rather, the number of targets available for the mAb.

Administration of FLT3-L has been reported to increase the number of splenic DC by approximately 5-7-fold (Figure 3.2.1 (C)) [308], without altering their maturation status. Pulendran B et al [89] demonstrated that the spleens from mice treated with FLT3-L were enlarged by approximately 2 to 3-fold (as observed here) and had the integrity of their structure perturbed and characterized by the shrinkage of the B cell follicles and an expansion of the MZ and T cell zone in the white pulp. In addition, this study highlighted that CD8⁻DC were mainly found in the MZ, whereas CD8⁺ DEC205⁺DC were in the deep regions of the T cell zone, in agreement with our findings (Figure 5.2.4 and 5.2.5). Therefore, it is not surprising that by increasing the number of all subsets of splenic DC with FLT3-L, including the CD8⁺ DEC205⁺ DC in the T cell zone, resulted in the increase of α -DEC205 mAb retention in the spleen. Furthermore, the disruption of the distinct compartments within the spleen may also have increased the accessibility of the mAb (Figure 5.2.3) to this area.

In addition to the biodistribution data, we also traced the movement of the individual targeting mAb once they entered the spleen (Figure 5.2.4 and 5.2.5). Not surprisingly, administration of α -CD11c and α -MHC-II mAb resulted in the intense staining of splenocytes. Within one hour from α -CD11c mAb administration with α -CD40 mAb, there was strong labelling of MZ DC and/or Ab-bound circulating DC drained into the MZ. With time, these cells clustered around the "doors" of the T cell zone and started to migrate towards the deeper regions where they can interact with naïve T cells and initiate adaptive immunity [91, 309].

Similarly, α -MHC-II mAb first labelled APC residing in the MZ, red pulp and B cells on the edge of the B cell follicles. Within four hours, most of the staining of macrophages in the red pulp had diminished, as they rapidly catabolized the mAb. As with α -CD11c mAb, α -MHC-II mAb did not stain the deeper regions of the white pulp, discounting the possibility that the T and B cell zones of the spleen are freely accessible to soluble Ag after intravenous injection as first proposed by tracer studies [310], though it is possible that very small amounts of free Ag enter this compartment but are not detectable in our assays. These results were challenged by evidence that the accessibility of lymph [311] and blood borne particles [312] to the lymphocyte areas in the lymph node and spleen, is restricted on the basis of size by the conduit system in these organs.

Nolte et al [312] reported that large molecules, such as mAb (~150 KDa), are unable to reach the white pulp in the spleen, whereas small molecules (< 70 KDa) like chemokines, can directly permeate this compartment. In accordance with our data, when they intravenously injected a mAb against B220 (mainly expressed by B cells), only the cells found in the red pulp and marginal zone of the spleen were accessed and follicular B cells were excluded. Our data show that four hours after injection there is a gradual increase in number of labelled B cells within the follicles, which indicates that recirculating B cells that had encountered the α -MHC-II mAb as they entered the MZ or on the edge of the follicle, initiated their migration towards the deep regions (B - T cell zone boundaries) of the white pulp for the acquisition of T cell help [313, 314]. The migration of lymphocytes is thought to be mediated by their distinct chemokine receptors profiles following activation. Most importantly, these results emphasise the importance of DC in their ability to capture blood borne Ag in the periphery or MZ and efficiently transport them to lymphocytes residing in the deeper regions of the white pulp.

Moreover, the most significant result from these experiments was the lack of DC staining following the administration of α -DEC205 mAb, even though DEC205⁺DC were detected within the deep regions of the white pulp (Figure 5.2.4 and 5.2.5). These findings support our biodistribution data, which showed no accumulation of this mAb to the spleen at any time point. Clearly, the fact that

DEC205⁺ DC were located mainly in the deep regions of the T cell zone, suggest that the main reason for the failure of this mAb to accumulate in this organ is due to the restrictive location of the subset of DC expressing the target molecule.

Nevertheless, it is puzzling why we have observed an increase in the accumulation of α -DEC205 mAb to the spleen of mice pre-treated with FLT3-L (Figure 5.2.3) or LPS (data not shown) in the biodistribution studies, since the increase in DC number or expression of DEC205 on activated DC would not affect the ability of the mAb to reach the target cells within the T cell zone. Although FLT3-L treatment has been reported to affect the integrity of the local structure of the spleen [89], the responses to LPS and FLT3-L treatment raise the possibilities that DEC205⁺DC have either encountered the mAb (or any soluble Ag) outside the T cell zone, or that the free mAb has access to the deep areas of the white pulp. In both cases, an increase in the number of DC or on the expression of DEC205 on these cells would lead to the accumulation of this mAb to the spleen.

Ascertaining the factors contributing to these results is difficult, because many aspects of iDC migration to specific compartments of the lymphoid organs and the influence of the anatomical structure on the availability of Ag to resident cells remain unclear. When considering the possibility that mAb or soluble Ag may have access to the deep regions of the T cell zone, there are studies suggesting that only small soluble molecules, such as chemokines, can permeate the white pulp via the conduit system [312] (as previously discussed) but the molecular weight cut-off for the entry of these molecules has not been precisely determined. However, recent work on the conduit network in the lymph nodes suggest that even though large amounts of soluble molecules do not pass from the subcapsular sinus or conduits into the T cell area, leakage of soluble Ag into these areas may actually occur in some circumstances [245, 315].

This idea is also supported by studies of the lymph node structures, which showed that collagen sheaths surrounding the high endothelium venules (HEV) contain small pores, and so it is reasonable to assume that the cells nearest to the conduits would have access to these Ag [316]. More recently, Sixt M et al [317]

reported the strategic positioning of scattered resident DC along the basement of the conduits in the lymph nodes that were able to take up and present soluble Ag to T cells before the migrating DC reaches this organ. Migrating DC that had already encountered Ag in the periphery did not associate with the conduit system, probably as a result of morphological changes associated with their maturation status.

Most importantly, these findings indicate that the conduit network is not only important for the transport of small molecules that affect the recruitment of lymphocytes to the lymphoid organs but also plays a role in the direct sampling of soluble Ag by DC residing in close association with the conduits, and in this way, DC and other lymphocytes can be rapidly informed of the status of the periphery. Therefore, based on the recent data which may also be relevant for the spleen, we cannot rule out the possibility that a small amount of circulating α -DEC205 mAb may have had access to the T cell zone but at very low levels which could not be detected in our assays until the number of DC or DEC205 molecules on the DC was increased and overcame the sensitivity limitations of the assays.

Alternatively, the other possibility is that immature circulating DEC205⁺DC might have encountered the mAb in the blood or MZ compartment before they reached the white pulp and this small number of cells was enough to efficiently prime naïve T cells once they reach the T cell zone. When spleen section were directly labelled with α -DEC205 mAb, there was a small number of positive cells scattered around the MZ and possibly the red pulp, as well as the dense area in the T cell zone, which indicates that these cells may have had access to the soluble Ag prior to their migration into the white pulp and, therefore, an increase in the number of DC or DEC205 would increase the binding of the mAb to these cells.

Despite our limitations in determining how the Ag actually reaches the DEC205⁺ DC subset, an important point to be raised from these experiments is that only a very small amount of Ag needs to actually reach these cells to effectively induce the priming of T cells, as shown by the strong CD8 T cell response observed

following immunization with [α -DEC205xOva]. Based on these results, CD8⁺ DC have to be extremely efficient in the capture of Ag and cross-priming of CD8 T cells, which agrees with the literature suggesting that this subset favours the cross-priming of CD8 T cells conversely to CD8⁻ DC that favour CD4 T cell priming [223, 318].

Thus, in this case, targeting via CD11c induces a stronger CD8 T cell response than DEC205 mainly because of its easy accessibility to a large number of CD11c⁺DC expressing high levels of CD11c, which overall can compensate for its lower efficiency cross-priming CD8 T cells. Or alternatively, and more likely, in view of the recent discoveries that CD8⁺DC are the main cells capable of efficiently priming CD8 T cells, it is possible that the Ag bound to CD11c on MZ CD8 DC are involved in the transfer of intact Ag to the CD8⁺DC subset and B cells once they migrate into the T cell zone. Therefore, it is likely that the strong immune response seen with [α -CD11cxOva] is not only a result of target availability, as this molecule has been shown to have unique properties that could be of therapeutic value in a clinical setting, such as the fact that Ag delivered via CD11c is available for the priming of CD4 T cells for longer periods than when DEC205 is targeted, and CD11c is the only target capable of rapidly generating high titres of Ab in response to a single low dose of Ag without adjuvant.

Chapter 6 Immunotherapy

. the state of the second

133

6.1 Introduction

Significant progress in the understanding of the molecular characterization of immune responses against tumours, as well as, advances in DC immunobiology has opened up new opportunities for the development of effective immunotherapies for cancer patients.

There is now unequivocal evidence, from both animal and humans, that the immune system can recognize and destroy tumour cells. However, the response against TAA is usually weak and this has provided a major stimulus for the development of new immunotherapies capable of amplifying anti-tumour immunity leading to effective treatment.

While both humoral and cellular effector mechanisms can contribute to tumour lysis, the latter are felt to be responsible for tumour regression in the majority of the cases. $CD8^+$ cytotoxic T cells, in particular, have been proposed to recognize and kill tumour cells in various tumour models [319, 320]. Studies on the Ag specificity of tumour-reactive T cells derived from patients and from in vitro models have enabled the identification of an array of potential targets for the therapy of different cancers. These TAA include proteins with tumour-specific mutations, tissue-specific differentiation Ag, reactive embryonic Ag, viral proteins, and a range of self-proteins. Unfortunately, despite the recent advances in this field, the development of clinically effective cancer vaccines has been limited by the weak immune responses generated against these proteins, as they are generally self-proteins to which the immune system has been tolerized.

Since 1973, when Steinman and Cohn first described a new cell type named DC [321], a vast number of studies have highlighted the crucial role of DC in priming T cells against all classes of pathogens and tumours. In addition, DC are also crucial for the generation of immunological memory and humoral responses. Taken together these findings indicate that DC are important candidates for the targeting of Ag to induce potent and effective adaptive responses against tumours. Although now many clinical trials exploiting the efficacy of DC-based vaccines are under way and have been reported to show promising results, there

is still many unanswered questions that need to be clarified, including which are the most effective DC, the most effective protocol design, how to immunomonitor and which patient population should be included.

In this chapter, we investigated the therapeutic effectiveness of our [FabxOva] conjugates as potential cancer vaccines and attempted to determine the effector cells responsible for the therapeutic effects observed in our B16 melanoma animal model.

6.2 Results

6.2.1 Immunization with [FabxOva] conjugates can prevent tumour development.

Our functional assays have assessed the effectiveness of the [FabxOva] conjugates and the results show that targeting Ag to CD11c, DEC205 or MHCII molecules evokes the strongest anti-Ova immune responses. To evaluate if these results could be translated to a clinical setting, we performed preliminary experiments investigating their effectiveness as anti-tumour vaccines in a subcutaneous B16 melanoma model.

Mice were vaccinated with a single low dose of [FabxOva] conjugates (2.5 µg) and α -CD40 mAb (50 µg) intravenously and one month later, they were challenged at a distal site with B16 melanoma cells stably transduced with Ova. The homogenous expression of soluble Ova within these cells (seen in green) was confirmed by fluorescence microscopy (Figure 6.2.1 (C)). The results shown in Figure 6.2.1 (A) demonstrate that the therapeutic performance of the conjugates reflected the trends observed in our functional in vivo experiments, in particular, immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] induced the longest protection against tumour development. Although immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] (refer to Figure 3.2.3 and 3.2.4), this difference was not translated to a major difference in therapeutic efficacy.

By day 14, the tumours in the control groups (untreated and α -CD40 mAb alone) had reached the maximum size permitted under Home Office regulations, whereas the tumours in the animals vaccinated with [α -CD11cxOva] or [α -DEC205xOva] had only just started to develop. Immunization with 1 mg of soluble Ova protein, which has a 2000-fold higher concentration than that present in the conjugates, showed comparable protective effects to those observed following treatment with [α -MHCIIxOva]. Nonetheless, both were less efficacious than [α -CD11cxOva] and [α -DEC205xOva]. In addition,
immunization with soluble Ova at comparable amounts to that present in the conjugates, failed to enhance tumour resistance as tumour progression was similar to that seen in the control groups.



Tumour progression

Α

Figure 6.2.1 Therapeutic activity of [FabxOva] conjugates as anti-tumour vaccines in a melanoma model.

Mice were immunized with [FabxOva] (2.5 µg) or soluble Ova (0.5 µg or 1 mg) and α -CD40 mAb (50 µg) i.v. 30 days prior to s.c. challenge with B16-Ova melanoma cells (4x10⁶). Tumour development was monitored. (A) Average tumour area. (B) Survival curves, mice were culled when the tumour area was above 300mm². Data representative of 2 individual experiments (n = 5 mice/group). (C) Expression of intracellular Ova by stably transduced B16-Ova cells. B16-Ova melanoma cells were permeabilized with 0.5 % TritonX-100, labelled with a FITC-conjugated primary α -Ova Ab and stained with the secondary Alexa-488 conjugated α -FITC Ab (green). The cytospins were counterstained with Sytox-Orange (nucleus, blue).

The data in Figure 6.2.1 is presented as average tumour sizes for clarity purpose, however, t-test statistical analyses of individual tumour sizes measured at day 14, indicate that the difference in tumour development after immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] in comparison to [α -MHCIIxOva] and control groups (i.e. Ova (0.5 µg), α -CD40 mAb and untreated) was significant (p<0.05), whereas [α -DEC205xOva] and Ova (1 mg) was not. These results indicate that the targeting of Ag directly to DC can effectively increase anti-tumour resistance; however, not all molecules expressed on these cells are as effective as CD11c and DEC205.

A very similar pattern was observed when the survival curves for the groups were analysed (Figure 6.2.1 (B)), where treatment with [α -CD11cxOva] and [α -DEC205xOva] were shown to be the best therapies as they provided the longest protection and survival. Survival curve statistics revealed that the survival rate of mice immunized with [α -CD11cxOva] were significantly different to those treated wit [α -MHCIIxOva], Ova (1 mg) and control groups (p<0.01), and there was no therapeutic difference to mice immunized with [α -DEC205xOva].

6.2.2 Monitoring of effector cell numbers following immunization with the [FabxOva] conjugates

Intrigued by the small difference in tumour protection following immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] and [α -DEC205xOva], blood samples were taken 7 days after tumour challenge, to compare the number of CD8 T cell and NK cell numbers in each group with their clinical outcome. Figure 6.2.2 (A) shows that immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] generated the highest number of CD8 T cells, followed by [α -DEC205xOva], Ova (1 mg) and [α -MHCIIxOva], which agrees with the functional data discussed in previous chapters and suggests that the number of effector CD8 T cells cannot be used to predict the clinical outcome in our tumour model.



Figure 6.2.2 Generation of effect CD8 T and NK cells following immunization with the different [FabxOva] conjugates.

The mice shown in Figure 6.1 were monitored for tumour development and bled 7 days after challenge with B16-Ova $(4x10^6)$ melanoma cells s.c.. (A) The number of circulating Ova-specific CD8 T cells was measured by staining with α -CD8 mAb and SIINFEKL tetramer. (B) Blood samples were also stained with α -NK1.1 mAb and the number of NK cells measured by flow cytometer.

The magnitude of the endogenous CD8 T response here is higher than that previously reported in chapter 3 (Figure 3.2.7 (A)), because in this case we are actually measuring the secondary response to Ova expressed by the tumour cells. Moreover, even the untreated animals, which were not immunized prior to tumour challenge, have high numbers of Ova-specific CD8 T cells, suggesting that the tumour itself has a degree of immunogenicity. However, despite having high numbers of circulating Ova-specific CD8 T cells, these naïve mice were still unable to control the development of the tumours as they only survived for 12 days after tumour challenge. Furthermore, because the tumour cells were administered in the absence of a maturation signal, it seems likely based on our in vivo data discussed in chapter 3 (Figure 3.2.4) that these untreated animals have been tolerized against Ova, which might explain their poor therapeutic outcome. Figure 6.2.2 (B) demonstrates that targeting Ag to DC also has a bystander effect on other cells involved in tumour immunity, such as NK cells. A similar pattern for the number of circulating NK cells was observed in response to the various conjugates, although the difference between the treatments was less marked. In summary, these data suggest that although immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] evokes a markedly stronger CD8 T cell response than with [α -DEC205xOva], both treatments showed somewhat similar outcomes in our melanoma model.

6.3 Discussion

In this chapter, we investigated the efficiency of the [FabxOva] conjugates as prophylactic vaccines and these preliminary data demonstrated that inoculation with [α -CD11cxOva] and [α -DEC205xOva] together with α -CD40 mAb are the best vaccines for the prevention of tumour development. Although, the functional data for [α -DEC205xOva] showed that this conjugate is not as potent in the generation of T cell immunity as [α -CD11cxOva] (Figure 3.2.4 and 3.2.6) and it is unable to generate Ova-specific mAb (Figure 4.2.1), therapeutically, its protective effects are not significantly different from [α -CD11cxOva] (Figure 6.2.1 (A)). Nevertheless, immunization with these two conjugates was clearly more effective than α -CD40 mAb alone or soluble Ova at equivalent concentration to the conjugates. Although the [α -MHCIIxOva] conjugate showed some efficacy in slowing down the development of the tumours, this did not translate into an increase in survival (Figure 6.2.1(B)).

Furthermore, these results indicate that even though there is a relationship between the trend observed for the treatments evoking the highest numbers of effector cells and tumour regression, the absolute number of CD8 T cells could not be used to predict therapeutic outcome in our model (Figure 6.2.2). However, Bonifaz et al [69] reported that in a similar system to ours, immunization with DEC205 mAb linked to Ova in the presence of α -CD40 mAb, resulted in the protection against B16-Ova melanoma and this protective response was dependent mainly on CD8 T cells and to a much lesser extent, CD4 T cells, which was demonstrated by the decreased resistance to tumour challenge in CD8 T or CD4 T cell knock-out animals.

Although it has been suggested that T cell response to tumour Ag, by way of IFN- γ release, is associated with tumour regression and can be used to predict clinical efficacy [42, 322, 323], often, studies report that the level of functional Ag-specific T cells, detected by assays such as ELISPOT or CTL lysis does not correlate with clinical observations [27, 48, 324]. The significance of a high number of CD8 T cells measured by MHCI-tetramers in relation to tumour rejection is unknown, as in some studies, MHCI-tetramer positive T cells were

found to be functionally anergic in the tumour setting [325] and therefore unable to eradicate tumour cells.

Even though our results show that $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva] is able to induce bona fide effector cells (Figure 3.2.7), it is possible that in the presence of tumour, many may be rendered anergic and tolerized against Ova, but this remains to be addressed. Nevertheless, as with most animal models and clinical studies using DC-based vaccines, the treatment was well tolerated with minimal local toxicity and no problems associated with autoimmunity, which is of significant relevance to their use as therapeutic agents.

Although the targeting of Ag to DEC205 has been studied by many groups, there are no published data on the effect of Ag delivery via CD11c on T cell immunity. The targeting of mAb harbouring peptide antigens to CD11c in vivo has been reported to induce peptide-specific humoral responses [70, 71], which leads to the presumption that this treatment also provides the T cell help required by B cells, but our studies provide clear evidence that the targeting of this molecules induces potent CD8 and CD4 T cell responses, as well as a robust a humoral response.

The data from a different delivery system, in which Ag-containing liposomes were coated with CD11c or DEC205 mAb, demonstrate that this approach can induce CTL responses and protect mice against subsequent tumour challenge, provided either IFN- γ or LPS was co-administered. Similar to our findings, liposomes coated with α -CD11c or α -DEC205 were equally effective as vaccines [326].

Moreover, we have performed pilot studies assessing the effectiveness of the conjugates in a model where established B16 tumours were treated with the conjugates, in addition to experiments using a different tumour model, where we assessed the growth of the T cell lymphoma EL-4 cells stably transduced with Ova (data not shown). These collective data suggest that [α -CD11cxOva] and [α -DEC205xOva] are indeed the best vaccines for the induction of tumour

protection; however, further experiments need to be done to establish which vaccine is most effective under different conditions.

Nevertheless, these encouraging preliminary data emphasize that vaccines directly delivering Ag to CD11c and DEC205 on DC in vivo have promising therapeutic properties for the treatment of different tumours. Currently, there are no published clinical data on the effectiveness of directly delivering tumour cells or peptides to surface molecules on DC in situ. So far, with the exception of DNA vaccines and viral vectors, all the clinical trials investigating the effectiveness of DC-based vaccines are focused on ex vivo generated DC that require laborious in vitro culturing and Ag loading protocols, which account for most of the costs associated with these trials. This highlights the importance of the strategy reported here as, if successful, this would circumvent these limitations. Until then, the current data on ex vivo DC vaccines will help us to establish the parameters for in vivo targeting, which is the next step in the development of DC-based vaccines.

The immunogenicity of tumours has been established in various models but the immune response against tumour associated Ag is generally unable to cope with established disease. Therefore, we developed an Ab-based strategy to target Ag to DC in situ, thereby amplifying Ag-specific T and B cell immunity, which generated encouraging therapeutic results in a mouse melanoma model.

The in vitro targeting of Ova to splenic DC highlighted that the three most effective conjugates in the priming of T responses are [α -CD11cxOva], [α -DEC205xOva] and [α -MHCIIxOva], all of which evoked equally potent responses (Figure 3.2.2). Interestingly, when Ova is delivered to DC in vivo, [α -CD11cxOva] is by far the most efficacious conjugate in inducing CD4 and CD8 T cell expansion (Figure 3.2.3 and 3.2.4). These results suggest that the anatomical structure of lymphoid organs may have a profound effect on the bioavailability of the targeted conjugates, which might affect the overall potency of these vaccines. Nevertheless, throughout this work, both in vitro and in vivo, targeting of DEC205 favoured the priming of CD8 T cells, whereas MHC-II targeting favoured CD4 T cells.

These cumulative data suggest that immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] generates the strongest CD4 and CD8 T cell responses because it targets Ag to the large number of CD11c molecules expressed on the easily accessible and numerous CD8DC. This DC subset has been demonstrated to migrate from the MZ into the T cell zone of the spleen when activated [89], where they can effectively prime CD4 T cells and transfer Ag to CD8⁺ DC enabling the priming of CD8 T cells. Therefore, CD8DC targeted by [α -CD11cxOva] and [α -MHCIIxOva] might be involved in the transfer of Ag to other DC subsets (i.e. CD8⁺DC) located in less accessible compartments of the spleen. Indeed, DC have been reported to capture and transport Ag from the periphery into the lymphoid organs and recent evidence suggests that migrating DC are capable of transferring intact Ag to the CD8⁺DC subset [266, 267, 269, 270] which is thought to be most potent, if not the only, subset capable of cross-priming naïve CD8 T cells and generating effector CTL [234]. In contrast, targeting to MHC-II molecules favours the priming of CD4 T cells but fails to prime CD8 T cells, which suggest that the ability of CD8⁻DC to retain and transfer intact Ag relies on CD11c molecules. Importantly, despite the restricted and lower expression of DEC205 on CD8⁺DC, it is clear from our results that this subset efficiently cross-prime CD8 T cells even when very low level of Ag is available [265]. These findings emphasize the importance of assessing the effectiveness of a potential therapeutic agent on in vivo models, as the bioavailability of the target molecules can have a profound effect on the overall efficacy of potential therapeutics.

The issue of DC applications in clinical trials has been complicated by reports demonstrating that iDC can induce tolerance. Injections of peptide-pulsed iDC, but not mature DC, in healthy persons can result in Ag-specific inhibition of effector T cell functions [50]. Indeed, immunization with [α -DEC205xOva] [69] or [α -CD11cxOva] in the absence of the maturation signal, provided by α -CD40 mAb, induces the initial proliferation of CD8 T cells but these fail to expand and are rapidly deleted (Figure 3.2.4). Clonal deletion is a major mechanism by which tolerance is established [199] and not unexpectedly, Ag re-challenge of these mice is unable to evoke a secondary response, confirming that targeting of iDC leads to Ag specific tolerance in this model.

The high numbers of T cells generated by the immunization with our conjugates, in particular with [α -CD11cxOva], were demonstrated to be bona fide effector cells when examined using assays routinely used for the monitoring of responses in patients involved in clinical trials. In agreement with the proliferation data, immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] in the presence of α -CD40 mAb, generates the highest number of endogenous IFN- γ secreting effector CD8 and CD4 T cells, followed by [α -DEC205xOva] and [α -MHCIIxOva] (Figure 3.2.7). Many reports have provided strong evidence that signalling of CD40 on DC is the prime means of licensing DC for CTL generation [165, 167] and indeed, it was only when α -CD40 mAb was present that the proliferating CD8 T cells behaved as CTL capable of selectively eradicating splenocytes loaded with Ova (Figure 3.2.7 (C)).

Interestingly, DC were observed to present Ova-derived peptides on both MHC-I and -II complexes for long periods of time, and in addition, the conjugate used for the delivery of the Ag had an impact on the length of peptide presentation and to which T cell subset it was favourably presented to. Here, we demonstrated that delivery of Ag via CD11c or DEC205 resulted in a prolonged presentation of peptide complexed with MHC-I molecules, which lasted at least 7 days (Figure 3.2.8). Furthermore, targeting of CD11c favourably presents Ag to CD4 T cells in contrast to DEC205, as substantial CD4 T cell proliferation was still induced after four days from immunization with [α -CD11cxOva], whereas the response to [α -DEC205xOva] was abolished after one day. This prolonged presentation of Ag to CD4 T cell following immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] led us to further investigate its importance in the initiation of humoral responses.

Cellular immunity is generally thought to be responsible for the immunologic rejection of tumours, based on studies showing that the transfer of T cells but not Ab, protects mice from tumour challenge; elimination of endogenous CD8 T cells abrogates both protective and therapeutic antitumour effects; and extensive T cell infiltrates are commonly seen in tumours and allografts undergoing rejection. However, since the mid-1990s, mAb have emerged as important new anti-cancer therapeutics emphasising the role of mAb in the eradication of tumours. Importantly, of all our conjugates, only immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] rapidly generates high titres of Ova-specific IgG, which lasts for longer than a month (Figure 4.2.1). In accordance with our data, a few studies have reported that delivery of Ag via CD11c is characterised by a striking ability to evoke a rapid and strong Ab response [70, 71]. Furthermore, this potent humoral response is not dependent on the presence of an adjuvant, as immunization with α -CD40 mAb or various TLR-L has no impact on the IgG titres (Figure 4.2.1).

To stimulate an Ab response, the native Ag must be recognised not only by DC but also by B cells, which indicates that Ag targeted to CD11c can be made available for B cells, supporting studies demonstrating that DC are capable of transferring intact Ag to B cells [198, 298]. Furthermore, the fact that a maturation signal was not essential for the generation of this strong humoral

response unlike for the priming of a robust CTL response, also indicates that the main role of CD11c played in the initiation of an Ab response is to transport and transfer intact Ag to B cells, and not necessarily to provide co-stimulatory signals to B cells, unless these signals are provided regardless of the DC maturation status. Nevertheless, the fact that immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] is also accompanied by robust CD8 and CD4 T cell responses indicates that a proportion of the bound Ag must be also internalized and processed.

These data could be interpreted as being consistent with observations that targeting of CD11c delivers Ag to the CD8⁻DC subset, which has been reported to prime T cells and induce strong humoral responses, in contrast to the CD8⁺DC subset which is mainly associated with efficient cross-priming abilities [288, 289] as previously discussed. Moreover, these findings also suggest that independent of the DC subset being targeted, the internalization of the vast number of CD11c molecules on DC is either very slow or it recycles back to the surface, thereby enabling the transfer of native Ag to B cell and possibly the CD8⁺DC subset, as proposed earlier. In parallel, the proportion of Ag that is internalized, is processed and presented to CD4 T cells which provide the required help for B and CD8 T cell maintenance and differentiation.

Conversely, DEC205 has been reported to efficiently internalize Ag and deliver it to the lysosomal compartment where it is degraded for T cell presentation, in particular to CD8 T cells. Indeed, Steinman et al [305] proposed that Ag delivered via DEC205 is transported to the late endosomal compartment as a result of its EDE cytoplasmic tail sequence, which facilitates the loading of peptide into MHC complexes. Thus, it is possible that its inability to generate an Ab response is not totally dependent on the specialization of the CD8⁺DEC205⁺ DC subset but more a consequence of its inability to retain intact Ag. Moreover, although [α -MHCIIxOva] targets the same DC subsets as [α -CD11cxOva], it is unable to evoke a potent mAb response in our model, which reinforces the notion that CD11c has the crucial ability to retain intact Ag independent of the DC subset being targeted. Alternatively, a proportion of the [α -MHCIIxOva] conjugate may be delivered directly to B cells, which is presumably not able to generate an Ab response, perhaps because it prevents Ova from being presented by DC to CD4 T cells, which are also critically important for the mounting of a robust anti-Ova humoral response.

The therapeutic benefits associated with mAb treatment is a result of the ability of circulating mAb to bind to the target and either induce its lysis by complement- or antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (CDC or ADCC, respectively) [327], or phagocytosis of the complex. Antibodies can be particularly effective at removing metastatic tumour cells, thus, provided an appropriate target can by identified, the unique ability of [α -CD11cxOva] to evoke a potent a humoral response may have very beneficial therapeutic effects.

The interaction between B and CD4 T cells via CD40:CD40-L signalling is known to be required for the formation of an effective humoral response to T dependent-Ag, as patients with a genetic mutation in the CD40-L gene have severely impaired Ab responses, lacking B cell memory and circulating IgG, IgA and IgE [328]. Indeed, for Ova, depletion of CD4 T cells in immunized mice completely abrogates the secretion of mAb in response to [α -CD11cxOva] (Figure 4.2.2). In contrast to the generation of CTL responses observed here (Figure 3.2.4), administration of α -CD40 mAb was unable to even partially restore the secretion of Ab by these depleted animals, which suggests that CD4 T cells are providing help directly to B cells via cytokines or additional costimulatory molecules (Figure 4.2.2). Other molecules that may be involved in this process include OX40/OX40L [300], BAFF and APRIL and their receptors (BAFFR, TACI, BCMA) [301], CD95/CD95L [302], ICOS/ICOSL, which has been suggested to act upstream of CD40-CD40L interactions [303].

Studies investigating the biodistribution of the targeting mAb over a period of time support our proposed hypothesis that the anatomical structure of the lymphoid organs has an impact on the availability of our targets. These studies demonstrated that α -CD11c and α -MHCII mAb, unlike α -DEC205 mAb, quickly accumulate in the lymphoid organs, in particular to the spleen (Figure 5.2.1 and 5.2.2). Furthermore, the immuno-histochemical and -fluorescent data (Figure 5.2.4 and 5.2.5), indicate that part of the effectiveness associated with [α -CD11cxOva] in the priming of T cells is a result of the easy accessibility to large

numbers of DC expressing high levels of CD11c molecules when the mAb is drained into the MZ of the spleen.

MZ resident cells include MZ- macrophages, MZ-B cells and MZ-DC, which are strategically located to capture blood borne pathogens. Thus, in this manner, the system ensures that Ag in the soluble form or complexed with circulating DC is transported to the edges of the white pulp in the spleen, where DC have been reported to initiate their migration into the T cell zone, where they can prime CD4 T cells thereby providing help for a humoral response [134]; and as proposed earlier, transfer Ag to CD8⁺DC for the cross-priming of CTL. Hence, immunization of [α -CD11cxOva] delivers Ag to all subsets of DC and these are then able to migrate towards the T cell zone where they can interact with T and B cells.

In contrast to α -CD11c mAb, α -DEC205 mAb failed to accumulate in the spleen, which is intriguing because this conjugate can mediate strong CD8 T cell responses and therefore, must have access to the CD8⁺DC subset located in the lymphoid organs. Difficulty visualizing the DEC205⁺CD8⁺ DC within the lymphoid organs mainly due to the small number of these intergitating cells found only in the deep regions of the T cell zone has been reported by many groups [91, 329]. However, the staining of these cells has been previously reported to be augmented by inducing their maturation with LPS [91, 330], as shown in our phenotypic profiles (Figure 3.2.1 (C)). Together these findings suggest that the reason why α -DEC205 mAb is not retained in the spleen is due to its inability to reach this small number of DC that in the absence of a strong danger signal or maturation signal is expressed at very low levels.

However, when mice were pre-treated with FLT-3L (Figure 5.2.3), which increases the number of DC in all subsets, or with LPS that induced their maturation (data not shown), there was a clear increase in the accumulation of α -DEC205 mAb to the spleen, which suggests this mAb can actually reach a proportion of the target cells and prime CTL (Figure 3.2.5). Possible ways in which this may occur include: (1) the leakage of soluble mAb through the conduit system, which has been reported to be responsible for the exclusion of

the large soluble molecules into the T cell zone [245, 315]; (2) a very small number of circulating CD8⁺DC may be targeted by the mAb before reaching the T cell zone. In both cases, the increase in DEC205 expression or number of DEC205⁺ DC would facilitate the accumulation of α -DEC205 mAb to the spleen, which is not normally detectable in our assays.

Most importantly, what these results highlight is the efficiency with which DEC205 on CD8⁺ DC internalizes the Ag and primes the CD8 T cells, bearing in bind that only a very small number of cells are thought to be targeted by [α -DEC205xOva]. Unfortunately, due to the low expression of DEC205 on BMDC we have been unable to determine the kinetics of the internalization process (on-going research), but published data using cells transfected with DEC205 suggest that ligated DEC205 is endocytosed very rapidly; approximately 70 % of initially bound mAb was internalized within 15 minutes [305]. Although the internalization of CD11c has not been studied in detail, research by Rabb et al [331] on the endocytosis of its close relative, CR3 (CD11b/CD18), which is expressed on macrophages and NK cells and also binds iC3b, has demonstrated that in CR3 transfected cells ligated with α -CR3 mAb, approximately 18 % and 40 % of ligated CR3 receptors were internalized within 10 and 40 minutes, respectively.

More recently, Skoberne M et al [332] reported that CR3 is a poor phagocytic receptor on human DC, which ingested less than 10 % of initially bound complexes of red blood cell conjugated α -CD11b mAb in 2 hours, in contrast to 50 % by the integrin $\alpha_V\beta_5$. Therefore, it is possible that CD11c acts in a similar manner and some of its specific features, in particular, the strong Ab production in response to its targeting and proposed ability to transport and transfer Ag to DC, may be a consequence of a slow uptake of Ag or recycling of native Ag to the surface, making it available for MZ and follicular B cells, in addition to CD8⁺DC.

Finally, we report here that the potent T cell responses observed in our functional assays with $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva] were translated to a therapy model, where immunization with $[\alpha$ -CD11cxOva] clearly protected the animals from the

growth of B16 melanoma tumours (Figure 6.2.1). Despite the weaker CD8 T cell response evoked by [DEC205xOva] (Figure 6.2.2), animals treated with this conjugate were also shown to be protected after immunization (Figure 6.2.1). Although the difference in the therapeutic outcome between these two conjugates was not significant in this model, it clearly demonstrated that Ag targeting to DC in situ can be a very effective approach to the enhancement of immunity. Moreover, immunization with [α -CD11cxOva] is the only treatment to rapidly generate high titres of Ag-specific mAb, thereby increasing its therapeutic potential in the treatment of tumours that have been shown to be eradicated by mAb therapy.

In summary, we report here that the in situ targeting of Ag to DC via CD11c and DEC205 has a promising therapeutic value, which needs to be further investigated and validated in a clinical setting. Furthermore, the presented data advances our understanding of the possible mechanistic differences associated with the targeting of different molecules on distinct subsets of DC in vivo, and suggests for the first time, a novel role for CD11c molecules in the transfer of intact Ag to B cells and CD8⁺DC. Together these may have an impact on the development of new DC vaccines aiming to amplify and modulate immunity to induce a positive outcome in the treatment of cancer and autoimmunity.

Further Work

The following studies could be performed to confirm our proposed hypotheses:

- To assess the contribution of each DC subset on the priming of CD4 and CD8 T cells following targeting with the different conjugates; DC subsets could be isolated using FACS sorting or MACS separation columns and loaded with the conjugates in vitro and their abilities to prime T cells assessed.
- The administration of α-CD40 mAb was unable to replace the help provided by CD4 T cell to B cells, therefore by using blocking mAb against other co-stimulatory molecules (e.g. OX40/OX40-L or BAFF/BAFFR) and by analysing the expression pattern of these molecules, their contribution towards the production of Ab could be determined.
- Experiments addressing the internalization rate of the distinct molecules being targeted by the conjugates:

-DC from primary tissues or DC- lines or fibroblasts transfected with the target molecules at comparable levels could be targeted by fluorescently labelled soluble Ag, latex beads or mAb and analysed by FACS or confocal microscopy.

-The internalization of ¹²⁵I-mAb could be determined by measuring the radioactivity of these cells following acid stripping of surface bound mAb.

- To visualise the transfer of intact Ag to other lymphocytes, CD11c molecules on DC could be targeted with a fluorescently labelled Ag and the transfer to other DC subsets or B cells assessed by confocal microscopy.
- Other tumour models should be used to investigate the efficacy of the conjugates further and the co-administration of mAb to deplete Treg (e.g.

 α -CD25 mAb) could be used to amplify the efficacy of the conjugates even further. Monitoring of the levels and effector capabilities of CD8 T cells generated following treatment would also indicate any suppressive activity by the tumour on these cells.

- Coley, W.B., The treatment of malignant tumors by repeated inoculations of erysipelas: with a report of ten original cases. Am. J. Med. Sci, 1893. 105: p. 487.
- 2. Shankaran V, I.H., Bruce AT, White JM, Swanson PE, Old LJ, Schreiber RD., *IFN[gamma] and lymphocytes prevent primary tumour development and shape tumour immunogenicity.* Nature, 2001. **410**(6832): p. 1107-1111.
- 3. Penn, I., *Tumors of the Immunocompromised Patient*. Annual Review of Medicine, 1988. **39**(1): p. 63-73.
- 4. Lee PP, Y.C., Savage PA, Fong L, Brockstedt D, Weber JS, Johnson D, Swetter S, Thompson J, Greenberg PD, Roederer M, Davis MM., *Characterization of circulating T cells specific for tumor-associated antigens in melanoma patients.* Nat Med, 1999. **5**: p. 677.
- 5. TsaiV, S.S., Sidney J, Sakaguchi K, Kawakami Y, Appella E, Sette A, Celis E, Identification of subdominant CTL epitopes of the GP100 melanoma- associated tumor antigen by primary in vitro immunization with peptide- pulsed dendritic cells. J Immunol, 1997. **158**(4): p. 1796-1802.
- 6. Chiodoni C, P.P., Stoppacciaro A, Rodolfo M, Parenza M, Colombo M P., Dendritic Cells Infiltrating Tumors Cotransduced with Granulocyte/Macrophage Colony-stimulating Factor (GM-CSF) and CD40 Ligand Genes Take Up and Present Endogenous Tumor-associated Antigens, and Prime Naive Mice for a Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Response. J. Exp. Med., 1999. **190**(1): p. 125-134.
- 7. Marciani, D.J., Vaccine adjuvants: role and mechanisms of action in vaccine immunogenicity. Drug Discovery Today, 2003. 8(20): p. 934-943.
- 8. van der Bruggen P, T.C., Chomez P, Lurquin C, De Plaen E, Van den Eynde B, Knuth A, Boon T., *A gene encoding an antigen recognized by cytolytic T lymphocytes on a human melanoma.* Science., 1991. **254**: p. 1643-1647.
- 9. Chen Y T, S.M.J., Sahin U, Tureci O, Gure A O, Tsang S, Williamson B, Stockert E,Pfreundschuh M,Old L J., *A testicular antigen aberrantly expressed in human cancers detected by autologous antibody screening.* PNAS, 1997. **94**(5): p. 1914-1918.
- 10. Rosenberg, S.A., *Progress in human tumour immunology and immunotherapy*. Nature, 2001. **411**: p. 380-384.

- 11. Fong, L., *Dendritic cells in cancer immunotherapy*. Annual Review of Immunology, 2000. **18**: p. 245-273.
- 12. Matthew J. Scanlan, A.J.G.S., and Lloyd J. Old, *The cancer/testis genes: Review, standardization, and commentary.* Cancer Immunity, 2004. **4**: p. 1-15.
- 13. Stockert E, J.E., Chen YT, Scanlan MJ, Gout I, Karbach J, Arand M, Knuth A, Old LJ., *A survey of the humoral immune response of cancer patients to a panel of human tumor antigens.* J Exp Med., 1998. **187**: p. 1349-1354.
- 14. Davis I, J.M., Parente P, Cebon J., *Rational approaches to human cancer immunotherapy*. J Leukoc Biol, 2003. **73**(1): p. 3-29.
- 15. Shimizu J, S.T., Yoshioka T, Kosugi A, Fujiwara H, Hamaoka T., Induction of tumor-specific in vivo protective immunity by immunization with tumor antigen-pulsed antigen-presenting cells. J Immunol, 1989. 142(3): p. 1053-1059.
- Grabbe S, B.S., Gallo RL, Knisely TL, Nazareno R, Granstein RD., *Tumor antigen presentation by murine epidermal cells*. J Immunol, 1991. 146(10): p. 3656-3661.
- 17. Flamand V, S.T., Thielemans K, Demanet C, Bakkus M, Bazin H, Tielemans F, Leo O, Urbain J, Moser M., *Murine dendritic cells pulsed in vitro with tumor antigen induce tumor resistance in vivo*. Eur J Immunol., 1994. **24**(3): p. 605-610.
- 18. Inaba K, I.M., Romani N, Aya H, Deguchi M, Ikehara S, Muramatsu S, Steinman R M., Generation of large numbers of dendritic cells from mouse bone marrow cultures supplemented with granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor. J. Exp. Med., 1992. **176**(6): p. 1693-1702.
- 19. Hart, D.N.J., Dendritic Cells: Unique Leukocyte Populations Which Control the Primary Immune Response. Blood, 1997. **90**(9): p. 3245-3287.
- 20. Porgador, A. and E. Gilboa, *Bone marrow-generated dendritic cells pulsed with a class I-restricted peptide are potent inducers of cytotoxic T lymphocytes.* J. Exp. Med., 1995. **182**(1): p. 255-260.
- 21. Romani N, G.S., Brang D, Kampgen E, Lenz A, Trockenbacher B, Konwalinka G, Fritsch PO, Steinman RM, Schuler G., *Proliferating dendritic cell progenitors in human blood.* J. Exp. Med., 1994. **180**(1): p. 83-93.
- 22. Sallusto, F. and A. Lanzavecchia, *Efficient presentation of soluble* antigen by cultured human dendritic cells is maintained by

granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor plus interleukin 4 and downregulated by tumor necrosis factor alpha. J. Exp. Med., 1994. **179**(4): p. 1109-1118.

- Mohamadzadeh M, C.C., Pulendran B, Davoust J, Bridges G, Palucka A K, Banchereau J., Interleukin 15 Skews Monocyte Differentiation into Dendritic Cells with Features of Langerhans Cells. J. Exp. Med., 2001. 194(7): p. 1013-1020.
- 24. Chomarat P, D.C., Bennett L,Banchereau J,Palucka A K., *TNF Skews* Monocyte Differentiation from Macrophages to Dendritic Cells. J Immunol, 2003. **171**(5): p. 2262-2269.
- 25. Paquette RL, H.N., Kiertscher SM, Park AN, Tran L, Roth MD, Glaspy JA., Interferon-alpha and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor differentiate peripheral blood monocytes into potent antigen-presenting cells. J Leukoc Biol, 1998. **64**(3): p. 358-367.
- 26. Thurner B, H.I., Roder C, Dieckmann D, Keikavoussi P, Jonuleit H, Bender A, Maczek C, Schreiner D, von den Driesch P, Brocker EB, Steinman R M, Enk A, Kampgen E, Schuler G., Vaccination with Mage-3A1 Peptide-pulsed Mature, Monocyte-derived Dendritic Cells Expands Specific Cytotoxic T Cells and Induces Regression of Some Metastases in Advanced Stage IV Melanoma. J. Exp. Med., 1999. **190**(11): p. 1669-1678.
- 27. Barrou B, B.G., Ouldkaci M, Cussenot O, Salcedo M, Agrawal S, Massicard S, Bercovici N, Ericson M L, Thiounn N., Vaccination of prostatectomized prostate cancer patients in biochemical relapse, with autologous dendritic cells pulsed with recombinant human PSA. Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy, 2004. V53(5): p. 453-460.
- 28. Su Z, D.J., Yang BK, Dahm P, Coleman D, Yancey D, Sichi S, Niedzwiecki D, Boczkowski D, Gilboa E, Vieweg J., *Telomerase mRNA-Transfected Dendritic Cells Stimulate Antigen-Specific CD8+ and CD4+ T Cell Responses in Patients with Metastatic Prostate Cancer.* J Immunol, 2005. **174**(6): p. 3798-3807.
- 29. Di Nicola M, C.-S.C., Mortarini R, Baldassari P, Guidetti A, Gallino GF, Del Vecchio M, Ravagnani F, Magni M, Chaplin P, Cascinelli N, Parmiani G, Gianni AM, Anichini A., Boosting T Cell-Mediated Immunity to Tyrosinase by Vaccinia Virus-Transduced, CD34+-Derived Dendritic Cell Vaccination: A Phase I Trial in Metastatic Melanoma. Clin Cancer Res, 2004. 10(16): p. 5381-5390.
- 30. Liu KJ, W.C., Chen LT, Cheng AL, Lin DT, Wu YC, Yu WL, Hung YM, Yang HY, Juang SH, Whang-Peng J., Generation of Carcinoembryonic Antigen (CEA)-Specific T-Cell Responses in HLA-A*0201 and HLA-A*2402 Late-Stage Colorectal Cancer Patients after Vaccination with

Dendritic Cells Loaded with CEA Peptides. Clin Cancer Res, 2004. 10(8): p. 2645-2651.

- Chang A E, R.B.G., Whitfield J R, Nickoloff B J, Braun T M, Lee P P, Geiger J D, Mule J J., A Phase I Trial of Tumor Lysate-pulsed Dendritic Cells in the Treatment of Advanced Cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 2002. 8(4): p. 1021-1032.
- 32. Denise A. Caruso, L.M.O., Gerlinda M. Amor, Alana M. Neale, Fiona J. Radcliff, Peter Downie, Mimi L. K. Tang, David M. Ashley,, *Results of a phase I study utilizing monocyte-derived dendritic cells pulsed with tumor RNA in children with stage 4 neuroblastoma.* Cancer, 2005. **103**(6): p. 1280-1291.
- 33. O'Rourke MG, J.M., Lanagan C, See J, Yang J, Bell JR, Slater GJ, Kerr BM, Crowe B, Purdie DM, Elliott SL, Ellem KA, Schmidt CW., Durable complete clinical responses in a phase I/II trial using an autologous melanoma cell/dendritic cell vaccine. Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy, 2003. V52(6): p. 387-395.
- 34. Yannelli JR, S.J., Foody T, Hirschowitz E., *The large scale generation of dendritic cells for the immunization of patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC)*. Lung Cancer, 2005. **47**(3): p. 337-350.
- 35. Sylvia Janetzki, D.P., Valentino Rosenhauer, Heribert Lochs, Jonathan J. Lewis, Pramod K. Srivastava,, *Immunization of cancer patients with autologous cancer-derived heat shock protein gp96 preparations: A pilot study*. International Journal of Cancer, 2000. **88**(2): p. 232-238.
- 36. Avigan, D., Dendritic Cell-Tumor Fusion Vaccines for Renal Cell Carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res, 2004. 10(18): p. 6347S-6352.
- Knutson K L, S.K., Cheever M A,Disis M L., Immunization of Cancer Patients with a HER-2/neu, HLA-A2 Peptide, p369-377, Results in Shortlived Peptide-specific Immunity. Clin Cancer Res, 2002. 8(5): p. 1014-1018.
- 38. Zeng G, L.Y., El-Gamil M,Sidney J,Sette A,Rosenberg S A, Robbins P F., Generation of NY-ESO-1-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T Cells by a Single Peptide with Dual MHC Class I and Class II Specificities: A New Strategy for Vaccine Design. Cancer Res, 2002. **62**(13): p. 3630-3635.
- Mukherji B, C.N., Yamasaki S, Okino T, Yamase H, Sporn JR, Kurtzman SK, Ergin MT, Ozols J, Meehan J, Induction of antigen-specific cytolytic T cells in situ in human melanoma by immunization with synthetic peptide-pulsed autologous antigen presenting cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 1995. 92(17): p. 8078-82.
- 40. B.A. Tjoa, S.J.S., V.A. Bowes, H. Ragde, M. Rogers, A. Elgamal, G.M. Kenny, O.E. Cobb, R.C. Ireton, M.J. Troychak, M.L. Salgaller, A.L.

Boynton, G.P. Murphy,, *Evaluation of phase I/II clinical trials in prostate cancer with dendritic cells and PSMA peptides*. The Prostate, 1998. **36**(1): p. 39-44.

- 41. Nestle FO, A.S., Gilliet M, Sun Y, Grabbe S, Dummer R, Burg G, Schadendorf D, *Vaccination of melanoma patients with peptide- or tumor lysate-pulsed dendritic cells.* Nat. Med., 1998. **4**(3): p. 328-32.
- 42. Banchereau J, P.A., Dhodapkar M, Burkeholder S, Taquet N, Rolland A, Taquet S, Coquery S, Wittkowski KM, Bhardwaj N, Pineiro L, Steinman R, Fay J., *Immune and Clinical Responses in Patients with Metastatic Melanoma to CD34+ Progenitor-derived Dendritic Cell Vaccine*. Cancer Res, 2001. **61**(17): p. 6451-6458.
- 43. Butterfield LH, R.A., Dissette VB, Amarnani SN, Vu HT, Oseguera D, Wang HJ, Elashoff RM, McBride WH, Mukherji B, Cochran AJ, Glaspy JA, Economou JS., *Determinant Spreading Associated with Clinical Response in Dendritic Cell-based Immunotherapy for Malignant Melanoma*. Clin Cancer Res, 2003. 9(3): p. 998-1008.
- 44. Barrou, B.T, Benoit G, Ouldkaci M, Cussenot O, Salcedo M, Agrawal S, Massicard S, Bercovici N, Ericson M L, Thiounn N., et al., *Vaccination* of prostatectomized prostate cancer patients in biochemical relapse, with autologous dendritic cells pulsed with recombinant human PSA. Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy, 2004. **V53**(5): p. 453-460.
- 45. Chang, A.E., Redman BG, Whitfield JR, Nickoloff BJ, Braun TM, Lee PP, Geiger JD, Mule JJ.et al., *A Phase I Trial of Tumor Lysate-pulsed Dendritic Cells in the Treatment of Advanced Cancer*. Clin Cancer Res, 2002. **8**(4): p. 1021-1032.
- 46. Oosterwijk-Wakka JC, T.D., Bleumer I, de Vries IJ, Jongmans W, Adema GJ, Debruyne FM, de Mulder PH, Oosterwijk E, Mulders PF., Vaccination of patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma with autologous dendritic cells pulsed with autologous tumor antigens in combination with interleukin-2: a phase 1 study. J Immunother, 2002. 25(6): p. 500-8.
- 47. Stift A, F.J., Dubsky P, Bachleitner-Hofmann T, Schueller G, Zontsich T, Benkoe T, Radelbauer K, Brostjan C, Jakesz R, Gnant M, *Dendritic cellbased vaccination in solid cancer*. J Clin Oncol, 2003. **21**(1): p. 135-42.
- 48. Hersey P, M.S., Halliday GM, Nguyen T, Farrelly ML, DeSilva C, Lett M., *Phase I/II study of treatment with dendritic cell vaccines in patients with disseminated melanoma*. Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy, 2004. **V53**(2): p. 125-134.
- 49. Dhodapkar, M.V., Steinman RM, Sapp M, Desai H, Fossella C, Krasovsky J, Donahoe SM, Dunbar PR, Cerundolo V, Nixon DF, Bhardwaj N., *Rapid generation of broad T-cell immunity in humans after*

a single injection of mature dendritic cells. J. Clin. Invest., 1999. **104**(2): p. 173-180.

- 50. Dhodapkar M V, S.R.M., Krasovsky J,Munz C,Bhardwaj N., Antigenspecific Inhibition of Effector T Cell Function in Humans after Injection of Immature Dendritic Cells. J. Exp. Med., 2001. **193**(2): p. 233-238.
- 51. Jonuleit H, S.E., Schuler G, Knop J, Enk AH., Induction of Interleukin 10-producing, Nonproliferating CD4+ T Cells with Regulatory Properties by Repetitive Stimulation with Allogeneic Immature Human Dendritic Cells. J. Exp. Med., 2000. **192**(9): p. 1213-1222.
- 52. Nestle FO, A.S., Gilliet M, Sun Y, Grabbe S, Dummer R, Burg G, Schadendorf D., *Vaccination of melanoma patients with peptide- or tumor lysate-pulsed dendritic cells.* Nat. Med., 1998. **4**:p.328-332.
- 53. Schuler-Thurner B, S.E., Berger TG, Weinlich G, Ebner S, Woerl P, Bender A, Feuerstein B, Fritsch PO, Romani N, Schuler G., *Rapid Induction of Tumor-specific Type 1 T Helper Cells in Metastatic Melanoma Patients by Vaccination with Mature, Cryopreserved, Peptide-loaded Monocyte-derived Dendritic Cells.* J. Exp. Med., 2002. **195**(10): p. 1279-1288.
- Bedrosian I, M.R., Xu S, Nisenbaum H, Faries M, Zhang P, Cohen PA, Koski G, Czerniecki BJ., Intranodal Administration of Peptide-Pulsed Mature Dendritic Cell Vaccines Results in Superior CD8+ T-Cell Function in Melanoma Patients. J Clin Oncol, 2003. 21(20): p. 3826-3835.
- 55. Jonuleit H, G.-T.A., Tuting T, Thurner-Schuler B, Stuge TB, Paragnik L, Kandemir A, Lee PP, Schuler G, Knop J, Enk AH., *A comparison of two types of dendritic cell as adjuvants for the induction of melanoma-specific T-cell responses in humans following intranodal injection*. International Journal of Cancer, 2001. **93**(2): p. 243-251.
- 56. de Vries IJ, L.W., Scharenborg NM, Engelen LP, Ruiter DJ, Gerritsen MJ, Croockewit S, Britten CM, Torensma R, Adema GJ, Figdor CG, Punt CJ., Maturation of Dendritic Cells Is a Prerequisite for Inducing Immune Responses in Advanced Melanoma Patients. Clin Cancer Res, 2003. 9(14): p. 5091-5100.
- 57. Mackensen A, H.B., Chen JL, Kohler G, Noppen C, Herr W, Spagnoli GC, Cerundolo V, Lindemann A., Phase I study in melanoma patients of a vaccine with peptide-pulsed dendritic cells generated in vitro from CD34+ hematopoietic progenitor cells. International Journal of Cancer, 2000. 86(3): p. 385-392.
- 58. Escobar A, L.M., Serrano A, Ramirez M, Perez C, Aguirre A, Gonzalez R, Alfaro J, Larrondo M, Fodor M, Ferrada C, Salazar-Onfray F., *Dendritic cell immunizations alone or combined with low doses of*

interleukin-2 induce specific immune responses in melanoma patients. Clinical and Experimental Immunology, 2005. **142**(3): p. 555-568.

- 59. Ridgway, D., *The first 1000 Dendritic Cell Vaccinees*. Cancer Investigation, 2003. **21**(6): p. 873-886.
- 60. Rosenberg, S.A., J.C. Yang, and N.P. Restifo, *Cancer immunotherapy: moving beyond current vaccines*. 2004. **10**(9): p. 909-915.
- 61. Sutmuller RP, v.D.L., van Elsas A, Schumacher TN, Wildenberg ME, Allison JP, Toes RE, Offringa R, Melief CJ., Synergism of Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte-associated Antigen 4 Blockade and Depletion of CD25+ Regulatory T Cells in Antitumor Therapy Reveals Alternative Pathways for Suppression of Autoreactive Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Responses. J. Exp. Med., 2001. **194**(6): p. 823-832.
- 62. Banchereau J, Palucka .A.K., *Dendritic cells as therapeutic vaccines against cancer*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2005. **5**(4): p. 296-306.
- 63. Morse MA, N.S., Fernandez-Casal M, Deng Y, St Peter M, Williams R, Hobeika A, Mosca P, Clay T, Cumming RI, Fisher E, Clavien P, Proia AD, Niedzwiecki D, Caron D, Lyerly HK., *Preoperative Mobilization of Circulating Dendritic Cells by Flt3 Ligand Administration to Patients With Metastatic Colon Cancer.* J Clin Oncol, 2000. **18**(23): p. 3883-3893.
- 64. Wolfers J, L.A., Raposo G, Regnault A, Thery C, Masurier C, Flament C, Pouzieux S, Faure F, Tursz T, Angevin E, Amigorena S, Zitvogel L., *Tumor-derived exosomes are a source of shared tumor rejection antigens* for CTL cross-priming. Nat. Med., 2001. 7: p. 297-303.
- 65. Escudier B, D.T., Chaput N, Andre F, Caby MP, Novault S, Flament C, Leboulaire C, Borg C, Amigorena S, Boccaccio C, Bonnerot C, Dhellin O, Movassagh M, Piperno S, Robert C, Serra V, Valente N, Le Pecq JB, Spatz A, Lantz O, Tursz T, Angevin E, Zitvogel L., Vaccination of metastatic melanoma patients with autologous dendritic cell (DC) derived-exosomes: results of thefirst phase I clinical trial. J Transl Med, 2005. 2: p. 10.
- 66. Engering, A., T.B.H. Geijtenbeek, and Y. van Kooyk, *Immune escape through C-type lectins on dendritic cells*. Trends in Immunology, 2002. 23(10): p. 480-485.
- 67. Apostolopoulos V, B.N., Pietersz GA, McKenzie IF., *Ex vivo targeting of the macrophage mannose receptor generates anti-tumor CTL responses.* Vaccine, 2000. **18**(27): p. 3174-3184.
- 68. Hawiger, D., Inaba K, Dorsett Y, Guo M, Mahnke K, Rivera M, Ravetch JV, Steinman RM, Nussenzweig MC., *Dendritic cells induce peripheral T cell unresponsiveness under steady state conditions in vivo.* J. Exp. Med., 2001. **194**(6): p. 769-779.

- 69. Bonifaz LC, B.D., Charalambous A, Darguste DI, Fujii S, Soares H, Brimnes MK, Moltedo B, Moran TM, Steinman RM., *In Vivo Targeting* of Antigens to Maturing Dendritic Cells via the DEC-205 Receptor Improves T Cell Vaccination. J. Exp. Med., 2004. **199**(6): p. 815-824.
- Wang H, G.M., Burton DR, Ghazal P., Rapid antibody responses by lowdose, single-step, dendritic cell-targeted immunization. PNAS, 2000. 97(2): p. 847-852.
- 71. Berry JD, L.A., Popkov M, Cortez X, Fuller R, Elia M, Kerwin L, Kubitz D, Barbas CF 3rd., *Rapid monoclonal antibody generation via dendritic cell targeting in vivo*. Hybrid Hybridomics, 2003. **22**: p. 23-31.
- 72. Grouard G, R.M., Filgueira L, Durand I, Banchereau J, Liu YJ., *The Enigmatic Plasmacytoid T Cells Develop into Dendritic Cells with Interleukin (IL)-3 and CD40-Ligand.* J. Exp. Med., 1997. **185**(6): p. 1101-1112.
- 73. Asselin-Paturel C, B.A., Dalod M, Durand I, Yessaad N, Dezutter-Dambuyant C, Vicari A, O'Garra A, Biron C, Briere F, Trinchieri G., *Mouse type I IFN-producing cells are immature APCs with plasmacytoid morphology*. 2001. **2**(12): p. 1144-1150.
- 74. Vremec, D., Pooley J, Hochrein H, Wu L, Shortman K, *CD4 and CD8 Expression by Dendritic Cell Subtypes in Mouse Thymus and Spleen.* J Immunol, 2000. **164**(6): p. 2978-2986.
- 75. Henri, S., Vremec D, Kamath A, Waithman J, Williams S, Benoist C, Burnham K, Saeland S, Handman E, Shortman K, *The Dendritic Cell Populations of Mouse Lymph Nodes.* J Immunol, 2001. **167**(2): p. 741-748.
- 76. Kamath, A.T., Pooley J, O'Keeffe MA, Vremec D, Zhan Y, Lew AM, D'Amico A, Wu L, Tough DF, Shortman K., The Development, Maturation, and Turnover Rate of Mouse Spleen Dendritic Cell Populations. J Immunol, 2000. 165(12): p. 6762-6770.
- 77. Pulendran, B., *Modulating vaccine responses with dendritic cells and Toll-like receptors.* Immunological Reviews, 2004. **199**(1): p. 227-250.
- Banchereau J, B.F., Caux C, Davoust J, Lebecque S, Liu YJ, Pulendran B, Palucka K., *Immunobiology of Dendritic Cells*. Annual Review of Immunology, 2000. 18(1): p. 767-811.
- 79. Shortman K, L.Y.-J., *Mouse and human dendritic cell subtypes*. Nat. Rev. Immunol., 2002. **2**: p. 151-61.
- 80. Pulendran B, D.S., Joseph C, Curiel T, Banchereau J, Mohamadzadeh M., Dendritic cells generated in the presence of GM-CSF plus IL-15 prime

potent CD8+ Tc1 responses in vivo. Eur J Immunology, 2004. 34: p. 66-73.

- 81. Ardavin C, W.L., Li CL, Shortman K, *Thymic dendritic cells and T cells develop simultaneously in the thymus from a common precursor population.* Nature., 1993. **362**: p. 761-63.
- 82. Manz MG, T.D., Miyamoto T, Weissman IL, Akashi K., *Dendritic cell potentials of early lymphoid and myeloid progenitors*. Blood, 2001. **97**(11): p. 3333-3341.
- 83. Wu L, D.A.A., Hochrein H, O'Keeffe M, Shortman K, Lucas K., Development of thymic and splenic dendritic cell populations from different hemopoietic precursors. Blood, 2001. **98**(12): p. 3376-3382.
- 84. Kamath AT, P.J., O'Keeffe MA, Vremec D, Zhan Y, Lew AM, D'Amico A, Wu L, Tough DF, Shortman K., *The Development, Maturation, and Turnover Rate of Mouse Spleen Dendritic Cell Populations.* J Immunol, 2000. **165**(12): p. 6762-6770.
- 85. Fogg DK, S.C., Miled C, Jung S, Aucouturier P, Littman DR, Cumano A, Geissmann F., *A Clonogenic Bone Marrow Progenitor Specific for Macrophages and Dendritic Cells*. Science, 2006. **311**(5757): p. 83-87.
- 86. Ginhoux F, T.F., Angeli V, Bogunovic M, Loubeau M, Dai XM, Stanley ER, Randolph GJ, Merad M., *Langerhans cells arise from monocytes in vivo*. Nat. Immunol., 2006. **7**(3): p. 265-273.
- 87. Le Borgne M, E.N., Goubier A, Lira SA, Sirard JC, van Rooijen N, Caux C, Ait-Yahia S, Vicari A, Kaiserlian D, Dubois B., *Dendritic Cells Rapidly Recruited into Epithelial Tissues via CCR6/CCL20 Are Responsible for CD8+ T Cell Crosspriming In Vivo.* Immunity, 2006. 24(2): p. 191-201.
- 88. Zuniga EI, M.D., Pruneda-Paz JL, Teng C, Oldstone MB., *Bone marrow plasmacytoid dendritic cells can differentiate into myeloid dendritic cells upon virus infection*. Nat. Immunol., 2004. **5**(12): p. 1227-1234.
- 89. Pulendran B, L.J., Kennedy MK, Smith J, Teepe M, Rudensky A, Maliszewski CR, Maraskovsky E., Developmental pathways of dendritic cells in vivo: distinct function, phenotype, and localization of dendritic cell subsets in FLT3 ligand- treated mice. J Immunol, 1997. **159**(5): p. 2222-2231.
- 90. Iwasaki, A. and B.L. Kelsall, Unique Functions of CD11b+, CD8alpha+, and Double-Negative Peyer's Patch Dendritic Cells. J Immunol, 2001. 166(8): p. 4884-4890.
- 91. De Smedt T, P.B., Muraille E, Lespagnard L, Heinen E, De Baetselier P, Urbain J, Leo O, Moser M., *Regulation of dendritic cell numbers and*

maturation by lipopolysaccharide in vivo. J. Exp. Med., 1996. **184**(4): p. 1413-1424.

- 92. Ruedl C, K.P., Bachmann M, Hess M, Karjalainen K., Anatomical Origin of Dendritic Cells Determines Their Life Span in Peripheral Lymph Nodes. J Immunol, 2000. **165**(9): p. 4910-4916.
- 93. Kamath AT, H.S., Battye F, Tough DF, Shortman K., Developmental kinetics and lifespan of dendritic cells in mouse lymphoid organs. Blood, 2002. 100(5): p. 1734-1741.
- 94. Ruedl, C., Koebel P, Bachmann M, Hess M, Karjalainen K., Anatomical Origin of Dendritic Cells Determines Their Life Span in Peripheral Lymph Nodes. J Immunol, 2000. 165(9): p. 4910-4916.
- 95. Salomon B, C.J., Masurier C, Klatzmann D., *Three Populations of Mouse Lymph Node Dendritic Cells with Different Origins and Dynamics*. J Immunol, 1998. **160**(2): p. 708-717.
- 96. Sallusto F, C.M., Danieli C, Lanzavecchia A., Dendritic cells use macropinocytosis and the mannose receptor to concentrate macromolecules in the major histocompatibility complex class II compartment: downregulation by cytokines and bacterial products. J. Exp. Med., 1995. **182**(2): p. 389-400.
- 97. Albert, M.L., S.F. Pearce, L.M. Francisco, B. Sauter, P. Roy, R.L. Silverstein, N. Bhardwaj, *Immature dendritic cells phagocytose apoptotic cells via v5 and CD36, and cross-present antigens to cytotoxic T lymphocytes.* J. Exp. Med., 1998. **188**: p. 135-68.
- 98. Rubartelli, A., A. Poggi, M.R. Zocchi., The selective engulfment of apoptotic bodies by dendritic cells is mediated by the (v)3 integrin and requires intracellular and extracellular calcium. Eur. J. Immunol, 1997. 27: p. 1893-900.
- Inaba, K., M. Inaba, M. Naito, R.M. Steinman, Dendritic cell progenitors phagocytose particulates, including bacillus Calmette-Guerin organisms, and sensitize mice to mycobacterial antigens in vivo. J. Exp. Med., 1993. 178: p. 479-88.
- 100. Moll, H., Epidermal Langerhans cells are critical for immunoregulation of cutaneous leishmaniasis. Immunology Today, 1993. 14(8): p. 383-387.
- 101. Slepnev VI, D.C.P., Accessory factors in clathrin-dependent synaptic vesicle endocytosis. Nat. Rev. Neuroscience, 2000. 1: p. 161-172.
- 102. Larsson, M., J.F. Fonteneau, and N. Bhardwaj, *Dendritic cells resurrect antigens from dead cells*. Trends in Immunology, 2001. **22**(3): p. 141-148.

- 103. Fanger NA, W.K., Shen L, Tedder TF, Guyre PM., *Type I (CD64) and type II (CD32) Fc gamma receptor-mediated phagocytosis by human blood dendritic cells.* J Immunol, 1996. **157**(2): p. 541-548.
- 104. Esposito-Farese ME, S.C., de la Salle H, Latour S, Bieber T, de la Salle C, Ohlmann P, Fridman WH, Cazenave JP, Teillaud JL., *Membrane and soluble Fc gamma RII/III modulate the antigen-presenting capacity of murine dendritic epidermal Langerhans cells for IgG- complexed antigens*. J Immunol, 1995. **155**(4): p. 1725-1736.
- 105. Reis e Sousa, C., P. Stahl, and J. Austyn, *Phagocytosis of antigens by* Langerhans cells in vitro. J. Exp. Med., 1993. **178**(2): p. 509-519.
- 106. Larsson M, B.J., Johansson AG, Forsum U, Human dendritic cells handling of binding, uptake and degradation of free and IgG-immune complexed dinitrophenylated human serum albumin in vitro. Immunology, 1997. **90**: p. 138-146.
- 107. Regnault A, L.D., Lacabanne V, Rodriguez A, Thery C, Rescigno M, Saito T, Verbeek S, Bonnerot C, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Amigorena S., Fcgamma Receptor-mediated Induction of Dendritic Cell Maturation and Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I-restricted Antigen Presentation after Immune Complex Internalization. J. Exp. Med., 1999. 189(2): p. 371-380.
- Clynes RA, T.T., Presta LG, Ravetch JV., Inhibitory Fc receptors modulate in vivo cytoxicity against tumor targets. Nat. Med., 2000. 6(4): p. 443-446.
- 109. Unkeless JC, J.J., Inhibitory receptors, ITIM sequences and phosphatases. Curr. Opin. Immunol., 1997. 9(3): p. 338-343.
- 110. Stewart, M., M. Thiel, and N. Hogg, *Leukocyte integrins*. Current Opinion in Cell Biology, 1995. 7(5): p. 690-696.
- Calderwood, D.A., S.J. Shattil, and M.H. Ginsberg, Integrins and Actin Filaments: Reciprocal Regulation of Cell Adhesion and Signaling. J. Biol. Chem., 2000. 275(30): p. 22607-22610.
- 112. Lee, J.-O., L.A. Bankston, and M.A.A.a. Robert C Liddington, *Two* conformations of the integrin A-domain (I-domain): a pathway for activation? Structure, 1995. **3**(12): p. 1333-1340.
- Emsley J, K.C., Farndale RW, Barnes MJ, Liddington RC., Structural Basis of Collagen Recognition by Integrin alpha2beta1. Cell, 2000. 101(1): p. 47-56.
- 114. Micklem KJ, Sim, RB., Isolation of complement-fragment-iC3b-binding proteins by affinity chromatography. The identification of p150,95 as an iC3b-binding protein. Biochem J, 1985. **231**: p. 233-6.

- 115. Loike JD, S.B., Cao L, Leucona S, Weitz JI, Detmers PA, Wright SD, Silverstein SC., CD11c/CD18 on Neutrophils Recognizes a Domain at the N Terminus of the A alpha Chain of Fibrinogen. PNAS, 1991. 88(3): p. 1044-1048.
- 116. Davis, G., The Mac-1 and p150,95 beta 2 integrins bind denatured proteins to mediate leukocyte cell-substrate adhesion. Exp Cell Res, 1992. 200: p. 242-52.
- 117. Diamond MS, G., AJ, Bickford JK, Corbi AL, Springer TA., The I domain is a major recognition site on the leukocyte integrin Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18) for four distinct adhesion ligands. J. Cell Biol., 1993. 120(4): p. 1031-1043.
- 118. Finkelman FD, L.A., Birnbaum R, Gause WC, Morris SC., Dendritic cells can present antigen in vivo in a tolerogenic or immunogenic fashion. J Immunol, 1996. **157**(4): p. 1406-1414.
- Wilson H L, Neill, H C., Murine dendritic cell development: Difficulties associated with subset analysis. Immunology and Cell Biology, 2003. 81(4): p. 239-246.
- 120. Pulendran B, B.J., Maraskovsky E, Maliszewski C., *Modulating the immune response with dendritic cells and their growth factors*. Trends in Immunology, 2001. **22**(1): p. 41-47.
- 121. Figdor CG, v.K.Y., Adema GJ., *C-Type lectin receptors on dendritic cells and Langerhans cells*. Nat. Rev. Immunol., 2002. **2**(2): p. 77-84.
- 122. Steinman RM, M.I., Muller WA, Cohn ZA., *Endocytosis and the recycling of plasma membrane*. J. Cell Biol., 1983. **96**(1): p. 1-27.
- 123. East, L. and C.M. Isacke, *The mannose receptor family*. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) General Subjects, 2002. **1572**(2-3): p. 364-386.
- 124. Eichler W, R.P., Wobus M, Drossler K., Differentially induced expression of C-type lectins in activated lymphocytes. J. Cellular biochemistry, 2001. **81**(s36): p. 201-208.
- 125. Witmer-Pack MD, S.W., Mirza A, Inaba K, Steinman RM., Tissue Distribution of the DEC-205 Protein That Is Detected by the Monoclonal Antibody NLDC-145: II. Expression in Situ in Lymphoid and Nonlymphoid Tissues. Cellular Immunology, 1995. 163(1): p. 157-162.
- 126. Engering, A., Geijtenbeek TB, van Vliet SJ, Wijers M, van Liempt E, Demaurex N, Lanzavecchia A, Fransen J, Figdor CG, Piguet V, van Kooyk Y., *The Dendritic Cell-Specific Adhesion Receptor DC-SIGN Internalizes Antigen for Presentation to T Cells.* J Immunol, 2002. 168(5): p. 2118-2126.

- 127. Tacken PJ, d.V.I., Gijzen K, Joosten B, Wu D, Rother RP, Faas SJ, Punt CJ, Torensma R, Adema GJ, Figdor CG., *Effective induction of naive and recall T-cell responses by targeting antigen to human dendritic cells via a humanized anti-DC-SIGN antibody.* Blood, 2005. **106**(4): p. 1278-1285.
- 128. Basu S, B.R., Ramalingam T, Srivastava PK., CD91 Is a Common Receptor for Heat Shock Proteins gp96, hsp90, hsp70, and Calreticulin. Immunity, 2001. 14(3): p. 303-313.
- 129. Platt, N., R.P. da Silva, and S. Gordon, *Recognizing death: the phagocytosis of apoptotic cells.* Trends in Cell Biology, 1998. **8**(9): p. 365-372.
- 130. Kalinski P, H.C., Wierenga EA, Kapsenberg ML., *T-cell priming by type*land type-2 polarized dendritic cells: the concept of a third signal. Immunology Today, 1999. **20**(12): p. 561-567.
- 131. Croft, M., Co-stimulatory members of the TNFR family: keys to effective T cell immunity? Nat. Rev. Immunol., 2003. 3: p. 609-620.
- 132. Basu S, B.R., Suto R, Anderson KM, Srivastava PK., Necrotic but not apoptotic cell death releases heat shock proteins, which deliver a partial maturation signal to dendritic cells and activate the NF-{kappa}B pathway. Int. Immunol., 2000. **12**(11): p. 1539-1546.
- 133. von Andrian UH, M.C., *T-Cell Function and Migration -- Two Sides of the Same Coin.* N Engl J Med, 2000. **343**(14): p. 1020-1034.
- 134. Dieu MC, V.B., Vicari A, Bridon JM, Oldham E, Ait-Yahia S, Briere F, Zlotnik A, Lebecque S, Caux C., Selective Recruitment of Immature and Mature Dendritic Cells by Distinct Chemokines Expressed in Different Anatomic Sites. J. Exp. Med., 1998. 188(2): p. 373-386.
- 135. Sallusto F, S.P., Loetscher P, Schaniel C, Lenig D, Mackay CR, Qin S, Lanzavecchia A., *Rapid and coordinated switch in chemokine receptor expression during dendritic cell maturation*. Eur J Immunol., 1998. **28**: p. 2760-69.
- 136. Ngo VN, T.H., Cyster JG., Epstein-Barr Virus-induced Molecule I Ligand Chemokine Is Expressed by Dendritic Cells in Lymphoid Tissues and Strongly Attracts Naive T Cells and Activated B Cells. J. Exp. Med., 1998. **188**(1): p. 181-191.
- 137. Kanazawa, N., T. Nakamura, K. Tashiro, M. Muramatsu, K. Morita, K. Yoneda, K. Inaba, S. Imamura, T. Honjo, *Fractalkine and macrophage*derived chemokine: T cell-attracting chemokines expressed in T cell area dendritic cells. Eur. J. Immunol, 1999. **29**:p.1925-32.

- 138. Adema, G.J., F. Hartgers, R. Verstraten, E. de Vries, G. Marland, S. Menon, J. Foster, Y. Xu, P. Nooyen, T. McClanahan, K.B. Bacon, C.G. Figdor, *A dendritic-cell-derived C-C chemokine that preferentially attracts naive T cells*. Nature, 1997. **387**: p. 713-17.
- 139. Bevan, M., Cross-priming for a secondary cytotoxic response to minor H antigens with H-2 congenic cells which do not cross-react in the cytotoxic assay. J. Exp. Med., 1976. 143(5): p. 1283-1288.
- 140. Watts, C., *Antigen processing in the endocytic compartment*. Curr. Opin. Immunol., 2001. **13**(1): p. 26-31.
- 141. Cresswell, P., Invariant Chain Structure and MHC Class II Function. Cell, 1996. 84(4): p. 505-507.
- 142. de Baey, A. and A. Lanzavecchia, *The Role of Aquaporins in Dendritic Cell Macropinocytosis.* J. Exp. Med., 2000. **191**(4): p. 743-748.
- 143. Inaba K, T.S., Iyoda T, Yamaide F, Shimoyama S, Reis e Sousa C, Germain RN, Mellman I, Steinman RM., The formation of immunogenic major histocompatibility complex class II-peptide ligands in lysosomal compartments of dendritic cells is regulated by inflammatory stimuli. J Exp Med., 2000. 191: p. 927-36.
- 144. Riese RJ, W.P., Bromme D, Natkin LR, Villadangos JA, Ploegh HL, Chapman HA., Essential Role for Cathepsin S in MHC Class II-Associated Invariant Chain Processing and Peptide Loading. Immunity, 1996. 4(4): p. 357-366.
- 145. Pierre P, T.S., Gatti E, Hull M, Meltzer J, Mirza A, Inaba K, Steinman RM, Mellman I., *Developmental regulation of MHC class II transport in mouse dendritic cells*. Nature, 1997. **388**(6644): p. 787-792.
- Pierre P, M.I., Developmental Regulation of Invariant Chain Proteolysis Controls MHC Class II Trafficking in Mouse Dendritic Cells. Cell, 1998. 93(7): p. 1135-1145.
- 147. Turley SJ, I.K., Garrett WS, Ebersold M, Unternaehrer J, Steinman RM, Mellman I., *Transport of peptide-MHC class II complexes in developing dendritic cells.* Science, 2000. **288**: p. 522-27.
- 148. Fiebiger E, M.P., Weber E, Fang IF, Stingl G, Ploegh H, Maurer D., Cytokines regulate proteolysis in major histocompatibility complex class II-dependent antigen presentation by dendritic cells. J Exp Med., 2001. 193: p. 881-92.
- 149. Cresswell, P., Bangia N, Dick T, Diedrich G., *The nature of the MHC class I peptide loading complex.* Immunol Rev, 1999. **172**: p. 21-28.

- 150. Cella M, E.A., Pinet V, Pieters J, Lanzavecchia A., Inflammatory stimuli induce accumulation of MHC class II complexes on dendritic cells. Nature, 1997. **388**(6644): p. 782-787.
- 151. Macagno A, G.M., Sallusto F, Lanzavecchia A, Nestle FO, Groettrup M., Dendritic cells up-regulate immunoproteasomes and the proteasome regulator PA28 during maturation. Eur J Immunol., 1997. **29**: p. 4037-42.
- 152. Morel S, L.F., Burlet-Schiltz O, Brasseur F, Probst-Kepper M, Peitrequin AL, Monsarrat B, Van Velthoven R, Cerottini JC, Boon T, Gairin JE, Van den Eynde BJ., *Processing of some antigens by the standard proteasome but not by the immunoproteasome results in poor presentation by dendritic cells.* Immunity, 2000. **12**: p. 107-17.
- 153. Huang AY, B.A., Pardoll DM, Levitsky HI., In Vivo Cross-Priming of MHC Class I-Restricted Antigens Requires the TAP Transporter. Immunity, 1996. 4(4): p. 349-355.
- 154. Sigal LJ, C.S., Andino R, Rock KL., Cytotoxic T-cell immunity to virusinfected non-haematopoietic cells requires presentation of exogenous antigen. Nature, 1999. **398**(6722): p. 77-80.
- 155. Yewdell, J.W., C.C. Norbury, and J.R. Bennink, Mechanisms of exogenous antigen presentation by MHC class I molecules in vitro and in vivo: Implications for generating CD8+/- T cell responses to infectious agents, tumors, transplants, and vaccines. Advances in Immunology, 1999. **73**: p. 1-77.
- 156. Steinman, R. and J. Swanson, *The endocytic activity of dendritic cells*. J. Exp. Med., 1995. **182**(2): p. 283-288.
- Kovacsovics-Bankowski M, R.K., A phagosome-to-cytosol pathway for exogenous antigens presented on MHC class I molecules. Science, 1995. 267: p. 243-46.
- 158. Norbury CC, H.L., Prescott AR, Shastri N, Watts C., Class I MHC presentation of exogenous soluble antigen via macropinocytosis in bone marrow macrophages. Immunity, 1995. 3: p. 783-91.
- 159. Norbury CC, C.B., Prescott AR, Ljunggren HG, Watts C., Constitutive macropinocytosis allows TAP-dependent major histocompatibility complex class I presentation of exogenous soluble antigen by bone marrow-derived dendritic cells. Eur J Immunol., 1997. 27: p. 280-88.
- 160. Rodriguez A, R.A., Kleijmeer M, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Amigorena S., Selective transport of internalized antigens to the cytosol for MHC class I presentation in dendritic cells. Nat Cell Biol., 1999. 1: p. 362-68.

- Bretscher P, C.M., A theory of self-nonself discrimination. Science, 1970.
 169: p. 1042-9.
- 162. Schwartz, R.H., *A cell culture model for T lymphocyte clonal anergy*. Science, 1990. **4961**: p. 1349-1356.
- 163. Sornasse T, F.V., De Becker G, Bazin H, Tielemans F, Thielemans K, Urbain J, Leo O, Moser M., *Antigen-pulsed dendritic cells can efficiently induce an antibody response in vivo*. J. Exp. Med., 1992. **175**(1): p. 15-21.
- 164. McCoy, K.D., I.F. Hermans, J.H. Fraser, G. Le Gros, F. Ronchese, Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) can regulate dendritic cellinduced activation and cytotoxicity of CD8(+) T cells independently of CD4(+) T cell help. J. Exp. Med., 1999. 189: p. 1157-62.
- 165. Ridge, J.P., F. Di Rosa, and P. Matzinger, A conditioned dendritic cell can be a temporal bridge between a CD4+ T-helper and a T-killer cell. Nature, 1998. 393(6684): p. 474-478.
- 166. Bourgeois, C., B. Rocha, and C. Tanchot, A Role for CD40 Expression on CD8+ T Cells in the Generation of CD8+ T Cell Memory. Science, 2002. 297(5589): p. 2060-2063.
- 167. Schoenberger SP, T.R., van der Voort EI, Offringa R, Melief CJ., *T-cell* help for cytotoxic T lymphocytes is mediated by CD40-CD40L interactions. Nature, 1998. **393**(6684): p. 480-483.
- 168. Stuber, E., M. Neurath, D. Calderhead, H.P. Fell, W. Strober, Crosslinking of OX40 ligand, a member of the TNF/NGF cytokine family, induces proliferation and differentiation in murine splenic B cells. Immunity, 1995. 2: p. 507-21.
- 169. DeBenedette, M.A., A. Shahinian, T.W. Mak, T.H. Watts., *Costimulation of CD28-T lymphocytes by 41BB ligand.* J. Immunol, 1997. **158**: p. 551-59.
- 170. Kim, Y.J., S.H. Kim, P. Mantel, B.S. Kwon, Human 41BB regulates CD28 co-stimulation to promote Th1 cell responses. Eur. J. Immunol, 1998. 28: p. 881-90.
- 171. Josien, R., B.R. Wong, H.L. Li, R.M. Steinman, Y. Choi, *TRANCE, a TNF family member, is differentially expressed on T cell subsets and induces cytokine production in dendritic cells.* J. Immunol, 1999. **162**: p. 2562-68.
- 172. Ria, F., G. Penna, and L. Adorini, *Th1 cells induce and Th2 inhibit antigen-dependent IL-12 secretion by dendritic cells*. European Journal of Immunology, 1998. **28**(6): p. 2003-2016.

- 173. Moser, M. and K.M. Murphy, *Dendritic cell regulation of TH1-TH2 development*. nature Immunol, 2000. 1(3): p. 199-205.
- 174. Maldonado-Lopez, R., et al., CD8alpha + and CD8alpha Subclasses of Dendritic Cells Direct the Development of Distinct T Helper Cells In Vivo. J. Exp. Med., 1999. 189(3): p. 587-592.
- 175. Pulendran B, S.J., Caspary G, Brasel K, Pettit D, Maraskovsky E, Maliszewski CR., *Distinct dendritic cell subsets differentially regulate the class of immune response in vivo.* PNAS, 1999. **96**(3): p. 1036-1041.
- 176. Ohteki, T., T. Fukao, K. Suzue, C. Maki, M. Ito, M. Nakamura, S. Koyasu., Interleukin 12-dependent interferon production by CD8+ lymphoid dendritic cells. J Exp Med., 1999. **189**: p. 1981-86.
- 177. Pulendran, B., Banchereau J, Maraskovsky E, Maliszewski C., Modulating the immune response with dendritic cells and their growth factors. Trends in Immunology, 2001. 22(1): p. 41-47.
- 178. Kronin V, F.C., Caminschi I, Shortman K, Jackson DC, Brown LE., Differential effect of CD8+ and CD8- dendritic cells in the stimulation of secondary CD4+ T cells. Int. Immunol., 2001. **13**(4): p. 465-473.
- 179. Suss, G. and K. Shortman, A subclass of dendritic cells kills CD4 T cells via Fas/Fas-ligand- induced apoptosis. J. Exp. Med., 1996. **183**(4): p. 1789-1796.
- 180. Grohmann U, F.F., Bianchi R, Belladonna ML, Vacca C, Orabona C, Uyttenhove C, Fioretti MC, Puccetti P., IL-6 Inhibits the Tolerogenic Function of CD8{{alpha}}+ Dendritic Cells Expressing Indoleamine 2,3-Dioxygenase. J Immunol, 2001. 167(2): p. 708-714.
- 181. O'Connell PJ, L.W., Takayama T, Logar AJ, Qian S, Thomson AW, CD8alpha(+) (lymphoid-related) and CD8alpha(-) (myeloid) dendritic cells differentially regulate vascularized organ allograft survival. Transplant Proc., 2001. 33: p. 94.
- 182. Borrow P, T.D., Eto D, Tishon A, Grewal IS, Sprent J, Flavell RA, Oldstone MB., CD40 Ligand-Mediated Interactions Are Involved in the Generation of Memory CD8+ Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes (CTL) but Are Not Required for the Maintenance of CTL Memory following Virus Infection. J. Virol., 1998. 72(9): p. 7440-7449.
- 183. Juretic A, M.B., Juretic E, Klein J, Nagy ZA., *Helper effects required during in vivo priming for a cytolytic response to the H-Y antigen in nonresponder mice.* J Immunol, 1985. **134**(3): p. 1408-1414.

- 184. Schoenberger, S.P., Toes RE, van der Voort EI, Offringa R, Melief CJ., *T-cell help for cytotoxic T lymphocytes is mediated by CD40-CD40L interactions.* Nature, 1998. **393**(6684): p. 480-483.
- 185. Bennett SR, C.F., Karamalis F, Flavell RA, Miller JF, Heath WR., *Help for cytotoxic-T-cell responses is mediated by CD40 signalling*. Nature, 1998. **393**(6684): p. 478-480.
- 186. Diehl L, v.M.G., den Boer AT, van der Voort E, Fransen M, van Bostelen L, Krimpenfort P, Melief CJ, Mittler R, Toes RE, Offringa R., In Vivo Triggering Through 4-1BB Enables Th-Independent Priming of CTL in the Presence of an Intact CD28 Costimulatory Pathway. J Immunol, 2002. 168(8): p. 3755-3762.
- 187. Ruedl C, B.M., *CTL priming by CD8(+) and CD8(-) dendritic cells in vivo*. Eur J Immunol., 1999. **29**: p. 3762-7.
- 188. den Haan, J.M.M., S.M. Lehar, and M.J. Bevan, CD8+ but Not CD8-Dendritic Cells Cross-prime Cytotoxic T Cells In Vivo. J. Exp. Med., 2000. 192(12): p. 1685-1696.
- 189. Noelle RJ, M.R., D M Shepherd, I Stamenkovic, J A Ledbetter, and A Aruffo, A 39-kDa protein on activated helper T cells binds CD40 and transduces the signal for cognate activation of B cells. PNAS, 1992. 89: p. 6550-4.
- 190. Fuleihan R, R.N., Geha RS., *Role of CD40-CD40-ligand interaction in Ig-isotype switching*. Curr Opin Immunol, 1993. **5**: p. 963-7.
- 191. Nonoyama S, H.D., Aruffo A, Ledbetter JA, Ochs HD., *B cell activation via CD40 is required for specific antibody production by antigen-stimulated human B cell.* J. Exp. Med., 1993. **178**(3): p. 1097-1102.
- 192. Fang W, N.K., Mackey MF, Noelle RJ, Mueller DL, Behrens TW., *CD40 inhibits B cell apoptosis by upregulating bcl-xL expression and blocking oxidant accumulation*. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 1997. **272**(3): p. C950-956.
- 193. Gray D, S.K., van Essen D, Poudrier J, Wykes M, Jainandunsing S, Bergthorsdottir S, Dullforce P., *B-T lymphocyte interactions in the generation and survival of memory cells.* Immunol Rev, 1996. **1996**: p. 45-61.
- 194. Wykes M, P.J., Lindstedt R, Gray D., Regulation of cytoplasmic, surface and soluble forms of CD40 ligand in mouse B cells. Eur J Immunol., 1998. 28: p. 548-59.
- 195. Wykes M, A.P., Jenkins C, MacPherson G G., Dendritic Cells Interact Directly with Naive B Lymphocytes to Transfer Antigen and Initiate Class
Switching in a Primary T-Dependent Response. J Immunol, 1998. 161(3): p. 1313-1319.

- 196. Berney, C., Herren S, Power CA, Gordon S, Martinez-Pomares L, Kosco-Vilbois M H., A Member of the Dendritic Cell Family That Enters B Cell Follicles and Stimulates Primary Antibody Responses Identified by a Mannose Receptor Fusion Protein. J. Exp. Med., 1999. **190**(6): p. 851-860.
- 197. Kushnir, N., L. Liu, and G.G. MacPherson, Dendritic Cells and Resting B Cells Form Clusters In Vitro and In Vivo: T Cell Independence, Partial LFA-1 Dependence, and Regulation by Cross-Linking Surface Molecules. J Immunol, 1998. 160(4): p. 1774-1781.
- 198. Balazs M, M.F., Zhou T, Kearney J., Blood dendritic cells interact with splenic marginal zone B cells to initiate T-independent immune responses. Immunity, 2002. 17(3): p. 341-52.
- 199. Kurts C, K.H., Carbone FR, Miller JF, Heath WR, Class I-restricted Cross-Presentation of Exogenous Self-Antigens Leads to Deletion of Autoreactive CD8+ T Cells. J. Exp. Med., 1997. 186(2): p. 239-245.
- 200. Adler, A.J., Marsh DW, Yochum GS, Guzzo JL, Nigam A, Nelson WG, Pardoll DM., CD4+ T Cell Tolerance to Parenchymal Self-Antigens Requires Presentation by Bone Marrow-derived Antigen-presenting Cells. J. Exp. Med., 1998. 187(10): p. 1555-1564.
- 201. Oldstone MB, N.M., Southern P, Price J, Lewicki H., Virus infection triggers insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in a transgenic model: role of anti-self (virus) immune response. cell, 1991. 65: p. 319-31.
- 202. Steinman, R.M., D. Hawiger, and M.C. Nussenzweig., *Tolerogenic dendritic cells*. Annual Review of Immunology, 2003. **21**(1): p. 685-711.
- 203. Mellor AL, B.B., Chandler P, Marshall B, Jhaver K, Hansen A, Koni PA, Iwashima M, Munn DH., Cutting Edge: Induced Indoleamine 2,3 Dioxygenase Expression in Dendritic Cell Subsets Suppresses T Cell Clonal Expansion. J Immunol, 2003. 171(4): p. 1652-1655.
- 204. Hawiger, D., Inaba K, Dorsett Y, Guo M, Mahnke K, Rivera M, Ravetch JV, Steinman RM, Nussenzweig MC., Dendritic Cells Induce Peripheral T Cell Unresponsiveness Under Steady State Conditions In Vivo. J. Exp. Med., 2001. 194(6): p. 769-780.
- 205. Sakaguchi, S., Animal models of autoimmunity and their relevance to human diseases. Current Opinion in Immunology, 2000. **12**(6): p. 684-690.
- 206. Takahashi T, K.Y., Toda M, Sakaguchi N, Itoh M, Iwata M, Shimizu J, Sakaguchi S., *Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by CD25+CD4+*

naturally anergic and suppressive T cells: induction of autoimmune disease by breaking their anergic/suppressive state. Int. Immunol., 1998. 10(12): p. 1969-1980.

- 207. Papiernik M, d.M.M., Pontoux C, Vasseur F, Penit C., *Regulatory CD4 T cells: expression of IL-2R alpha chain, resistance to clonal deletion and IL-2 dependency.* Int. Immunol., 1998. **10**(4): p. 371-378.
- 208. Salomon B, L.D., Rhee L, Ashourian N, Singh B, Sharpe A, Bluestone JA., *B7/CD28 Costimulation Is Essential for the Homeostasis of the CD4+CD25+ Immunoregulatory T Cells that Control Autoimmune Diabetes.* Immunity, 2000. **12**(4): p. 431-440.
- 209. Hara M, K.C., Niimi M, Read S, Turvey SE, Bushell AR, Morris PJ, Powrie F, Wood KJ., *IL-10 Is Required for Regulatory T Cells to Mediate Tolerance to Alloantigens In Vivo.* J Immunol, 2001. **166**(6): p. 3789-3796.
- Shimizu, J., S. Yamazaki, and S. Sakaguchi, Induction of Tumor Immunity by Removing CD25+CD4+ T Cells: A Common Basis Between Tumor Immunity and Autoimmunity. J Immunol, 1999. 163(10): p. 5211-5218.
- 211. Annacker O, P.-A.R., Burlen-Defranoux O, Barbosa TC, Cumano A, Bandeira A., CD25+ CD4+ T Cells Regulate the Expansion of Peripheral CD4 T Cells Through the Production of IL-10. J Immunol, 2001. 166(5): p. 3008-3018.
- 212. McGuirk, P. and K.H.G. Mills, *Pathogen-specific regulatory T cells* provoke a shift in the *Th1/Th2 paradigm in immunity to infectious* diseases. Trends in Immunology, 2002. **23**(9): p. 450-455.
- 213. Read, S., V. Malmstrom, and F. Powrie, *Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte*associated Antigen 4 Plays an Essential Role in the Function of *CD25+CD4+ Regulatory Cells that Control Intestinal Inflammation.* J. Exp. Med., 2000. **192**(2): p. 295-302.
- 214. Jonuleit H, S.E., Kakirman H, Stassen M, Knop J, Enk AH., Infectious Tolerance: Human CD25+ Regulatory T Cells Convey Suppressor Activity to Conventional CD4+ T Helper Cells. J. Exp. Med., 2002. 196(2): p. 255-260.
- 215. Asseman C, M.S., Leach MW, Coffman RL, Powrie F., An Essential Role for Interleukin 10 in the Function of Regulatory T Cells That Inhibit Intestinal Inflammation. J. Exp. Med., 1999. **190**(7): p. 995-1004.
- Kamradt, T. and N.A. Mitchison, *Tolerance and Autoimmunity*. N Engl J Med, 2001. 344(9): p. 655-664.

- 217. McGuirk, P., C. McCann, and K.H.G. Mills, Pathogen-specific T Regulatory 1 Cells Induced in the Respiratory Tract by a Bacterial Molecule that Stimulates Interleukin 10 Production by Dendritic Cells: A Novel Strategy for Evasion of Protective T Helper Type 1 Responses by Bordetella pertussis. J. Exp. Med., 2002. **195**(2): p. 221-231.
- 218. Seo N, H.S., Takigawa M, Tokura Y., Interleukin-10 expressed at early tumour sites induces subsequent generation of CD4+ T-regulatory cells and systemic collapse of antitumour immunity. Immunology, 2001. 103(4): p. 449-457.
- 219. Garba ML, P.C., Bingham AL, Eron J, Frelinger JA., *HIV antigens can induce* TGF-beta(1)-producing immunoregulatory CD8+ T cells. J. Immunol., 2002. **168**(5): p. 2247-2254.
- Gilliet, M. and Y.-J. Liu, Generation of Human CD8 T Regulatory Cells by CD40 Ligand-activated Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells. J. Exp. Med., 2002. 195(6): p. 695-704.
- 221. Akbari, O., R.H. DeKruyff, and D.T. Umetsu, *Pulmonary dendritic cells producing IL-10 mediate tolerance induced by respiratory exposure to antigen.* 2001. **2**(8): p. 725-731.
- 222. Iwasaki, A. and B.L. Kelsall, Freshly isolated peyer's patch, but not spleen, dendritic cells produce interleukin 10 and induce the differentiation of T helper type 2 cells. J.Exp. Med., 1999. **190**(2): p. 229-239.
- 223. Pooley, J.L., W.R. Heath, and K. Shortman, Cutting Edge: Intravenous Soluble Antigen Is Presented to CD4 T Cells by CD8- Dendritic Cells, but Cross-Presented to CD8 T Cells by CD8+ Dendritic Cells. J Immunol, 2001. 166(9): p. 5327-5330.
- 224. Hochrein H, S.K., Vremec D, Scott B, Hertzog P, O'Keeffe M., Differential Production of IL-12, IFN-{{alpha}}, and IFN-{{gamma}} by Mouse Dendritic Cell Subsets. J Immunol, 2001. 166(9): p. 5448-5455.
- 225. Maldonado-Lopez R, D.S.T., Michel P, Godfroid J, Pajak B, Heirman C, Thielemans K, Leo O, Urbain J, Moser M., CD8alpha + and CD8alpha -Subclasses of Dendritic Cells Direct the Development of Distinct T Helper Cells In Vivo. J. Exp. Med., 1999. 189(3): p. 587-592.
- 226. Pulendran B, K.P., Cutler CW, Mohamadzadeh M, Van Dyke T, Banchereau J., Lipopolysaccharides from Distinct Pathogens Induce Different Classes of Immune Responses In Vivo. J Immunol, 2001. 167(9): p. 5067-5076.
- 227. Rissoan MC, S.V., Kadowaki N, Grouard G, Briere F, de Waal Malefyt R, Liu YJ., *Reciprocal Control of T Helper Cell and Dendritic Cell Differentiation*. Science, 1999. 283(5405): p. 1183-1186.

- 228. Koch F, H.C., Kampgen E, Schneeweiss D, Bock G, Schuler G., *Tumor* necrosis factor alpha maintains the viability of murine epidermal Langerhans cells in culture, but in contrast to granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor, without inducing their functional maturation. J. Exp. Med., 1990. **171**(1): p. 159-171.
- 229. Vremec D, P.J., Hochrein H, Wu L, Shortman K., CD4 and CD8 Expression by Dendritic Cell Subtypes in Mouse Thymus and Spleen. J Immunol, 2000. 164(6): p. 2978-2986.
- 230. Shortman K, L.Y., *Mouse and human dendritic cell subtypes*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2002. **2**(3): p. 151-61.
- 231. de Jong JM, S.D., Ioan-Facsinay A, van der Voort EI, Huizinga TW, Ossendorp F, Toes RE, Verbeek JS., *Murine Fc receptors for IgG are redundant in facilitating presentation of immune complex derived antigen to CD8+ T cells in vivo.* Mol Immunol, 2006. **43**(13): p. 2045-50.
- 232. Lyman, S.D. and S.E.W. Jacobsen, *c-kit Ligand and Flt3 Ligand:* Stem/Progenitor Cell Factors With Overlapping Yet Distinct Activities. Blood, 1998. **91**(4): p. 1101-1134.
- 233. Maraskovsky E, B.K., Teepe M, Roux ER, Lyman SD, Shortman K, McKenna HJ., Dramatic increase in the numbers of functionally mature dendritic cells in Flt3 ligand-treated mice: multiple dendritic cell subpopulations identified. J. Exp. Med., 1996. **184**(5): p. 1953-1962.
- 234. Schnorrer P, B.G., Wilson NS, Pooley JL, Smith CM, El-Sukkari D, Davey G, Kupresanin F, Li M, Maraskovsky E, Belz GT, Carbone FR, Shortman K, Heath WR, Villadangos JA., *The dominant role of CD8+ dendritic cells in cross-presentation is not dictated by antigen capture.* PNAS, 2006. **103**(28): p. 10729-10734.
- 235. Rizzitelli A, H.E., Todd H, Hodgkin PD, Shortman K., *The proliferative response of CD4 T cells to steady-state CD8+ dendritic cells is restricted by post-activation death.* Int. Immunol., 2006. **18**(3): p. 415-423.
- 236. Schjetne KW, T.K., Nilsen N, Flo TH, Fleckenstein B, Iversen JG, Espevik T, Bogen B., Cutting Edge: Link Between Innate and Adaptive Immunity: Toll-Like Receptor 2 Internalizes Antigen for Presentation to CD4+ T Cells and Could Be an Efficient Vaccine Target. J Immunol, 2003. 171(1): p. 32-36.
- 237. Schuurhuis DH, I.-F.A., Nagelkerken B, van Schip JJ, Sedlik C, Melief CJ, Verbeek JS, Ossendorp F., Antigen-Antibody Immune Complexes Empower Dendritic Cells to Efficiently Prime Specific CD8+ CTL Responses In Vivo. J Immunol, 2002. 168(5): p. 2240-2246.

- 238. Kalergis AM, Ravetch J., Inducing Tumor Immunity through the Selective Engagement of Activating Fc{gamma} Receptors on Dendritic Cells. J. Exp. Med., 2002. 195(12): p. 1653-1659.
- 239. Daeron M, L.S., Malbec O, Espinosa E, Pina P, Pasmans S, Fridman WH., The same tyrosine-based inhibition motif, in the intracytoplasmic domain of Fc gamma RIIB, regulates negatively BCR-, TCR-, and FcR-dependent cell activation. Immunity, 1995. **3**: p. 635-46.
- 240. Ono M, B.S., Tempst P, Ravetch JV., Role of the inositol phosphatase SHIP in negative regulation of the immune system by the receptor Fe[gamma]RIIB. Nature, 1996. **383**(6597): p. 263-266.
- 241. Unkeless, J.C., Characterization of a monoclonal antibody directed against mouse macrophage and lymphocyte Fc receptors. J. Exp. Med., 1979. **150**: p. 580-596.
- 242. Boruchov AM, H.G., Veri MC, Bonvini E, Ravetch JV, Young JW., Activating and inhibitory IgG Fc receptors on human DCs mediate opposing functions. J. Clin. Invest., 2005. **115**(10): p. 2914-2923.
- 243. Dhodapkar KM, K.J., Ehlers M, Banerjee DK, Bonvini E, Koenig S, Steinman RM, Ravetch JV, Dhodapkar MV., Selective blockade of inhibitory Fc{gamma} receptor enables human dendritic cell maturation with IL-12p70 production and immunity to antibody-coated tumor cells. PNAS, 2005. 102(8): p. 2910-2915.
- 244. Debrick, J., P. Campbell, and U. Staerz, *Macrophages as accessory cells for class I MHC-restricted immune responses.* J Immunol, 1991. **147**(9): p. 2846-2851.
- 245. Manickasingham, S. and C. Reis e Sousa, Microbial and T Cell-Derived Stimuli Regulate Antigen Presentation by Dendritic Cells In Vivo. J Immunol, 2000. 165(9): p. 5027-5034.
- 246. Witmer MD, S.R., The anatomy of peripheral lymphoid organs with emphasis on accessory cells: light-microscopic immunocytochemical studies of mouse spleen, lymph node, and Peyer's patch. Am J Anat., 1984. 170: p. 465-481.
- 247. Reinhardt RL, K.A., Merica R, Zell T, Jenkins MK., Visualizing the generation of memory CD4 T cells in the whole body. Nature, 2001. **410**(6824): p. 101-105.
- 248. Cassell, D., Schwartz, RH, A quantitative analysis of antigen-presenting cell function: activated B cells stimulate naive CD4 T cells but are inferior to dendritic cells in providing costimulation. J. Exp. Med., 1994. 180(5): p. 1829-1840.

- 249. Croft, M., L. Bradley, and S. Swain, *Naive versus memory CD4 T cell response to antigen. Memory cells are less dependent on accessory cell costimulation and can respond to many antigen-presenting cell types including resting B cells.* J Immunol, 1994. **152**(6): p. 2675-2685.
- 250. Constant, S.L., *B lymphocytes as antigen-presenting cells for CD4+ T cell priming in vivo.* J Immunol, 1999. **162**: p. 5695-5703.
- 251. Crawford A, M.M., Schumacher T, Corlett L, Gray D., Primary T Cell Expansion and Differentiation In Vivo Requires Antigen Presentation by B Cells. J Immunol, 2006. **176**(6): p. 3498-3506.
- 252. Itano AA, M.J., Antigen presentation to naive CD4 T cells in the lymph node. Nat. Immunol., 2003. 4(8): p. 733-739.
- 253. Lanzavecchia, A., Antigen-specific interaction between T and B cells. Nature, 1985. **314**: p. 537-539.
- 254. Epstein MM, Jankovic D, Sher A, Matzinger P., *Successful T cell priming in B cell-deficient mice*. J. Exp. Med., 1995. **182**: p. 915-922.
- Ingulli E, M.A., Khoruts A, Jenkins MK., In Vivo Detection of Dendritic Cell Antigen Presentation to CD4+ T Cells. J. Exp. Med., 1997. 185(12): p. 2133-2141.
- 256. Byersdorfer, C.A. and D.D. Chaplin, Visualization of Early APC/T Cell Interactions in the Mouse Lung Following Intranasal Challenge. J Immunol, 2001. 167(12): p. 6756-6764.
- 257. Cahalan MD, Parker I., *Imaging the choreography of lymphocyte trafficking and the immune response.* Curr. Opin. Immunol., 2006. **18**(4): p. 476-482.
- 258. M.J. Miller, O.S., I. Parker and M.D., *Imaging the single cell dynamics of CD4+ T cell activation by dendritic cells in lymph nodes.* J. Exp. Med., 2004. **200**: p. 847-856.
- 259. Lindquist, R.L., Shakhar G, Dudziak D, Wardemann H, Eisenreich T, Dustin M L, Nussenzweig M C., *Visualizing dendritic cell networks in vivo*. 2004. **5**(12): p. 1243-1250.
- 260. Guery JC, R.F., Adorini L., Dendritic cells but not B cells present antigenic complexes to class II-restricted T cells after administration of protein in adjuvant. J. Exp. Med., 1996. **183**: p. 751-757.
- 261. P. Kleindienst and T. Brocker, *Concerted antigen presentation by dendritic cells and B cells is necessary for optimal CD4 T-cell immunity in vivo.* Immunology, 2005. **115**: p. 556–564.

- 262. Stoddart A, D.M., Brown BK, Song W, Pierce SK, Brodsky FM., *Lipid Rafts Unite Signaling Cascades with Clathrin to Regulate BCR Internalization.* Immunity, 2002. **17**(4): p. 451-462.
- 263. V.R. Aluvihare, A.A.K., G.T. Williams, L. Adorini and M.S. Neuberger, Acceleration of intracellular targeting of antigen by the B-cell antigen receptor: importance depends on the nature of the antigen-antibody interaction. EMBO J, 1997. 16: p. 3553–3562.
- 264. D.J. Lenschow, A.I.S., M.P. Cooke, G. Freeman, L. Rhee, D.C. Decker, G. Gray, L.M. Nadler, C.C. Goodnow and J.A. Bluestone, *Differential* up-regulation of the B7-1 and B7-2 costimulatory molecules after Ig receptor engagement by antigen. J Immunol, 1994. 153: p. 1990–1997.
- 265. Inaba K, T.S., Yamaide F, Iyoda T, Mahnke K, Inaba M, Pack M, Subklewe M, Sauter B, Sheff D, Albert M, Bhardwaj N, Mellman I, Steinman RM., *Efficient Presentation of Phagocytosed Cellular* Fragments on the Major Histocompatibility Complex Class II Products of Dendritic Cells. J. Exp. Med., 1998. 188(11): p. 2163-2173.
- 266. Allan RS, W.J., Bedoui S, Jones CM, Villadangos JA, Zhan Y, Lew AM, Shortman K, Heath WR, Carbone FR., *Migratory dendritic cells transfer antigen to a lymph node-resident dendritic cell population for efficient CTL priming.* Immunity, 2006. **25**(1): p. 153-62.
- 267. Belz GT, S.C., Kleinert L, Reading P, Brooks A, Shortman K, Carbone FR, Heath WR., *Distinct migrating and nonmigrating dendritic cell populations are involved in MHC class I-restricted antigen presentation after lung infection with virus.* PNAS, 2004. **101**(23): p. 8670-8675.
- 268. Carbone, F.R., G.T. Belz, and W.R. Heath, *Transfer of antigen between migrating and lymph node-resident DCs in peripheral T-cell tolerance and immunity.* Trends in Immunology, 2004. **25**(12): p. 655-658.
- Fleeton MN, C.N., Leon F, Wetzel JD, Dermody TS, Kelsall BL., Peyer's Patch Dendritic Cells Process Viral Antigen from Apoptotic Epithelial Cells in the Intestine of Reovirus-infected Mice. J. Exp. Med., 2004. 200(2): p. 235-245.
- 270. Kleindienst, P. and T. Brocker, *Endogenous Dendritic Cells Are Required* for Amplification of T Cell Responses Induced by Dendritic Cell Vaccines In Vivo J Immunol, 2003. **170**(6): p. 2817-2823.
- 271. Norbury CC, M.D., Gibbs JS, Bennink JR, Yewdell JW., Visualizing priming of virus-specific CD8+ T cells by infected dendritic cells in vivo. Nat. Immunol., 2002. **3**(3): p. 265-271.
- 272. Turley S, P.L., Hattori M, Benoist C, Mathis D., *Physiological beta Cell Death Triggers Priming of Self-reactive T Cells by Dendritic Cells in a Type-1 Diabetes Model.* J. Exp. Med., 2003. **198**(10): p. 1527-1537.

- 273. Lindquist R L, S.G., Dudziak D, Wardemann H, Eisenreich T, Dustin M L, Nussenzweig M C., Visualizing dendritic cell networks in vivo. Nat. Immunol., 2004. 5(12): p. 1243-1250.
- 274. Thery C, R.A., Garin J, Wolfers J, Zitvogel L, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Raposo G, Amigorena S., *Molecular Characterization of Dendritic Cellderived Exosomes: Selective Accumulation of the Heat Shock Protein hsc73.* J. Cell Biol., 1999. **147**(3): p. 599-610.
- 275. Doherty., P.C., *The Numbers Game for Virus-Specific CD8+ T Cells*. Science, 1998. **280**(5361): p. 227.
- 276. Wu Y, Liu.Y., Viral induction of co-stimulatory activity on antigenpresenting cells bypasses the need for CD4+ T-cell help in CD8+ T-cell responses. Current Biology, 1994. 4: p. 499-505.
- 277. Matzinger, P., *Tolerance, Danger, and the Extended Family.* Annual Review of Immunology, 1994. **12**(1): p. 991-1045.
- 278. Janssen EM, L.E., Wolfe T, Christen U, von Herrath MG, Schoenberger SP., *CD4+ T cells are required for secondary expansion and memory in CD8+ T lymphocytes.* Nature, 2003. **421**(6925): p. 852-856.
- 279. Wang, J.-C.E. and A.M. Livingstone, *Cutting Edge: CD4+ T Cell Help Can Be Essential for Primary CD8+ T Cell Responses In Vivo J* Immunol, 2003. **171**(12): p. 6339-6343.
- 280. Sun J, Bevan M., Defective CD8 T Cell Memory Following Acute Infection Without CD4 T Cell Help. Science, 2003. **300**(5617): p. 339-342.
- 281. Murali-Krishna K, L.L., Sambhara S, Lemonnier F, Altman J, Ahmed R., *Persistence of Memory CD8 T Cells in MHC Class I-Deficient Mice*. Science, 1999. **286**(5443): p. 1377-1381.
- 282. Tanchot, C. and B. Rocha, *CD8 and B cell memory: same strategy, same signals.* 2003. **4**(5): p. 431-432.
- 283. Banchereau J, B.F., Blanchard D, Briere F, Galizzi JP, van Kooten C, Liu YJ, Rousset F, Saeland S., *The CD40 Antigen and its Ligand*. Annual Review of Immunology, 1994. **12**(1): p. 881-926.
- 284. Wykes M and G. Macpherson., Dendritic cell-B cell interaction: dendritic cells provide B cells with CD40 independent proliferation signals and CD40 dependent survival signals. Immunology, 2000. 100(1): p. 1-3.
- 285. Fayette J, D.B., Vandenabeele S, Bridon JM, Vanbervliet B, Durand I, Banchereau J, Caux C, Briere F., *Human Dendritic Cells Skew Isotype*

Switching of CD40-activated Naive B Cells towards IgA1 and IgA2. J. Exp. Med., 1997. 185(11): p. 1909-1918.

- 286. Moore PA, B.O., Orr A, Pieri K, LaFleur DW, Feng P, Soppet D, Charters M, Gentz R, Parmelee D, Li Y, Galperina O, Giri J, Roschke V, Nardelli B, Carrell J, Sosnovtseva S, Greenfield W, Ruben SM, Olsen HS, Fikes J, Hilbert DM., *BLyS: member of the tumor necrosis factor family and B lymphocyte stimulator*. Science, 1999. 285(5425): p. 260-3.
- 287. Wykes, M., A Pombo, Jenkins C, MacPherson GG., Dendritic Cells Interact Directly with Naive B Lymphocytes to Transfer Antigen and Initiate Class Switching in a Primary T-Dependent Response. J Immunol, 1998. 161(3): p. 1313-1319.
- 288. Carter RW, T.C., Reid DM, Wong SY, Tough DF., Preferential Induction of CD4+ T Cell Responses through In Vivo Targeting of Antigen to Dendritic Cell-Associated C-Type Lectin-1. J Immunol, 2006. 177(4): p. 2276-2284.
- 289. Corbett AJ, C.I., McKenzie BS, Brady JL, Wright MD, Mottram PL, Hogarth PM, Hodder AN, Zhan Y, Tarlinton DM, Shortman K, Lew AM., Antigen delivery via two molecules on the CD8- dendritic cell subset induces humoral immunity in the absence of conventional "danger". Eur. J. Immunol., 2005. **35**(10): p. 2815-2825.
- 290. Ruprecht CR, A.Lanzavecchia., *Toll-like receptor stimulation as a third signal required for activation of human naive B cells.* Eur. J. Immunol., 2006. **36**(4): p. 810-816.
- 291. Caux C, M.C., Vanbervliet B, Dubois B, Van Kooten C, Durand I, Banchereau J., *Activation of human dendritic cells through CD40 cross-linking*. J. Exp. Med., 1994. **180**(4): p. 1263-1272.
- 292. Carayanniotis, G. and B.H. Barber, Adjuvant-free IgG responses induced with antigen coupled to antibodies against class II MHC. 1987.
 327(6117): p. 59-61.
- 293. Snider, D., Immunization with antigen bound to bispecific antibody induces antibody that is restricted in epitope specificity and contains antiidiotype. J Immunol, 1992. **148**(4): p. 1163-1170.
- 294. Skea, D. and B. Barber, Studies of the adjuvant-independent antibody response to immunotargeting. Target structure dependence, isotype distribution, and induction of long term memory. J Immunol, 1993. 151(7): p. 3557-3568.
- 295. Yong-Jun Liu, S.O., Ian C. M. Maclennan, *Memory B cells in T cell*dependent antibody responses colonize the splenic marginal zones. Eur J Immunol., 1988. **18**(3): p. 355-62.

- 296. Attanavanich, K. and J.F. Kearney, Marginal Zone, but Not Follicular B Cells, Are Potent Activators of Naive CD4 T Cells. J Immunol, 2004. 172(2): p. 803-811.
- 297. Delamarre L, P.M., Chang H, Mellman I, Trombetta ES, *Differential lysosomal proteolysis in antigen-presenting cells determines antigen fate.* Science, 2005. **307**(5715): p. 1630-4.
- 298. Bergtold A, D.D., Gavhane A, Clynes R., Cell surface recycling of *internalized antigen permits dendritic cell priming of B cells*. Immunity, 2005. **23**(5): p. 503-14.
- 299. Corbett AJ, Caminschi I, McKenzie BS, Brady JL, Wright MD, Mottram PL, Hogarth PM, Hodder AN, Zhan Y, Tarlinton DM, Shortman K, Lew A, Antigen delivery via two molecules on the CD8- dendritic cell subset induces humoral immunity in the absence of conventional "danger". Eur. J. Immunol., 2005. 35(10): p. 2815-2825.
- 300. Bishop GA, H.B., *B lymphocyte activation by contact-mediated interactions with T lymphocytes.* Curr Opin Immunol, 2001. **13**(3): p. 278-85.
- Mackay F, S.P., Rennert P, Browning J., BAFF AND APRIL: A Tutorial on B Cell Survival. Annual Review of Immunology, 2003. 21(1): p. 231-264.
- 302. Takahashi Y, C.D., Dal Porto JM, Shimoda M, Freund R, Fang W, Telander DG, Malvey EN, Mueller DL, Behrens TW, Kelsoe G., *Relaxed Negative Selection in Germinal Centers and Impaired Affinity Maturation in bcl-xL Transgenic Mice.* J. Exp. Med., 1999. **190**(3): p. 399-410.
- 303. McAdam AJ, G.R., Levin MA, Chernova T, Malenkovich N, Ling V, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH., *ICOS is critical for CD40-mediated antibody class switching*. Nature, 2001. **409**(6816): p. 102-105.
- Lindorfer MA, J.H., Foley PL, Kennedy AD, Solga MD, Taylor RP., B Cell Complement Receptor 2 Transfer Reaction. J Immunol, 2003. 170(7): p. 3671-3678.
- 305. Mahnke K, G.M., Lee S, Sepulveda H, Swain SL, Nussenzweig M, Steinman RM., The Dendritic Cell Receptor for Endocytosis, DEC-205, Can Recycle and Enhance Antigen Presentation via Major Histocompatibility Complex Class II-positive Lysosomal Compartments. J. Cell Biol., 2000. 151(3): p. 673-684.
- 306. Morse HC, K.J., Isaacson PG, Carroll M, Fredrickson TN, Jaffe ES., *Cells of the marginal zone--origins, function and neoplasia*. Leuk Res, 2001. **25**(2): p. 169-78.

- 307. Drakes ML, L.L., Subbotin VM, Thomson AW., In vivo administration of flt3 ligand markedly stimulates generation of dendritic cell progenitors from mouse liver. J Immunol, 1997. **159**(9): p. 4268-4278.
- 308. Fields RC, O.J., Fuller JA, Thomas EK, Geraghty PJ, Mule JJ, *Comparative analysis of murine dendritic cells derived from spleen and bone marrow.* J Immunotherapy, 1998. **21**(5): p. 323-39.
- Sallusto F, S.P., Loetscher P, Schaniel C, Lenig D, Mackay CR, Qin S, Lanzavecchia A., *Rapid and coordinated switch in chemokine receptor* expression during dendritic cell maturation. Eur. J Immunol., 1998. 28(9): p. 2760-2769.
- 310. Zhong G, Reis.e.Sousa, C., Germain RN., Antigen-unspecific B Cells and Lymphoid Dendritic Cells Both Show Extensive Surface Expression of Processed Antigen-Major Histocompatibility Complex Class II Complexes after Soluble Protein Exposure In Vivo or In Vitro. J. Exp. Med., 1997. 186(5): p. 673-682.
- 311. Gretz JE, N.C., Anderson AO, Proudfoot AE, Shaw S., Lymph-borne Chemokines and Other Low Molecular Weight Molecules Reach High Endothelial Venules via Specialized Conduits While a Functional Barrier Limits Access to the Lymphocyte Microenvironments in Lymph Node Cortex. J. Exp. Med., 2000. 192(10): p. 1425-1440.
- 312. Nolte MA, B.J., Schadee-Eestermans I, Jansen W, Unger WW, van Rooijen N, Kraal G, Mebius RE., A Conduit System Distributes Chemokines and Small Blood-borne Molecules through the Splenic White Pulp. J. Exp. Med., 2003. 198(3): p. 505-512.
- 313. Reif K, E.E., Ohl L, Nakano H, Lipp M, Forster R, Cyster JG., Balanced responsiveness to chemoattractants from adjacent zones determines B-cell position. Nature, 2002. **416**(6876): p. 94-99.
- 314. Muller G, H.U.E., Lipp,M., *The impact of CCR7 and CXCR5 on lymphoid organ development and systemic immunity*. Immunological Reviews, 2003. **195**(1): p. 117-135.
- 315. Itano AA, M.S., Reinhardt RL, Ehst BD, Ingulli E, Rudensky AY, Jenkins MK, Distinct dendritic cell populations sequentially present antigen to CD4 T cells and stimulate different aspects of cell-mediated immunity. Immunity, 2003. 19(1): p. 47-57.
- Okada S, A.R., Aharinejad S, Schraufnagel DE., Structural aspects of the lymphocyte traffic in rat submandibular lymph node. Microsc Microanal, 2002. 8(2): p. 116-33.
- 317. Sixt M, K.N., Selg M, Samson T, Roos G, Reinhardt DP, Pabst R, Lutz MB, Sorokin L, *The conduit system transports soluble antigens from the*

afferent lymph to resident dendritic cells in the T cell area of the lymph node. Immunity, 2005. 22(1): p. 19-29.

- 318. den Haan JM, L.S.M., Bevan MJ., *CD8+ but Not CD8- Dendritic Cells Cross-prime Cytotoxic T Cells In Vivo.* J. Exp. Med., 2000. **192**(12): p. 1685-1696.
- 319. Boon T, C.J., Van den Eynde B, van der Bruggen P, Van Pel A., *Tumor* antigens recognized by *T lymphocytes*. Annu Rev Immunol, 1994. **12**: p. 337-65.
- 320. Celluzzi CM, M.J., Storkus WJ, Lotze MT, Falo LD Jr., *Peptide-pulsed dendritic cells induce antigen-specific CTL-mediated protective tumor immunity*. J. Exp. Med., 1996. **183**(1): p. 283-287.
- 321. Steinman, R., ZA Cohn, *Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice: morphology, quantitation, tissue distribution.* J. Exp. Med., 1973. **137**(5): p. 1142-1162.
- 322. Nagoshi M, G.P., Burger UL, Sadanaga N, Chang MP, Eberlein TJ., Successful Adoptive Cellular Immunotherapy Is Dependent on Induction of a Host Immune Response Triggered by Cytokine (IFN-gamma and Granulocyte/Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor) Producing Donor Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes. J Immunol, 1998. 160(1): p. 334-344.
- 323. Yu JS, L.G., Ying H, Yong WH, Black KL, Wheeler CJ., Vaccination with Tumor Lysate-Pulsed Dendritic Cells Elicits Antigen-Specific, Cytotoxic T-Cells in Patients with Malignant Glioma. Cancer Res, 2004. 64(14): p. 4973-4979.
- 324. Stift A, F.J., Dubsky P, Bachleitner-Hofmann T, Schueller G, Zontsich T, Benkoe T, Radelbauer K, Brostjan C, Jakesz R, Gnant M., *Dendritic cellbased vaccination in solid cancer*. J Clin Oncol, 2003. **21**(1): p. 135-42.
- 325. Lee PP, Ye C., Savage PA, Fong L, Brockstedt D, Weber JS, Johnson D, Swetter S, Thompson J, Greenberg PD, Roederer M, Davis MM, *Characterization of circulating T cells specific for tumor-associated antigens in melanoma patients.* nature medicine, 1999. **5**(6): p. 677-85.
- 326. van Broekhoven CL, P.C., Demangel C, Britton WJ, Altin JG., Targeting Dendritic Cells with Antigen-Containing Liposomes: A Highly Effective Procedure for Induction of Antitumor Immunity and for Tumor Immunotherapy. Cancer Res, 2004. 64(12): p. 4357-4365.
- 327. Miller RA, M.D., Warnke R, Levy R, *Treatment of B-cell lymphoma with monoclonal anti-idiotype antibody.* N Engl J Med, 1982. **306**(9): p. 517-22.

- 328. Notarangelo LD, P.M., *CD40lbase: a database of CD40L gene mutations causing X-linked hyper-IgM syndrome.* Immunology Today, 1996. **17**(11): p. 511-6.
- 329. Crowley, M.T., C.R. Reilly, and D. Lo, *Influence of Lymphocytes on the Presence and Organization of Dendritic Cell Subsets in the Spleen*. J Immunol, 1999. **163**(9): p. 4894-4900.
- 330. Engering A, G.T., van Vliet SJ, Wijers M, van Liempt E, Demaurex N, Lanzavecchia A, Fransen J, Figdor CG, Piguet V, van Kooyk Y., *The dendritic cell-specific adhesion receptor DC-SIGN internalizes antigen for presentation to T cells.* J. Immunol., 2002. **168**(5): p. 2118-2126.
- 331. Rabb H, M.M., Sharma CP, Brown D, Arnaout MA., Cytoplasmic tails of human complement receptor type 3 (CR3, CD11b/CD18) regulate ligand avidity and the internalization of occupied receptors. J Immunol, 1993. 151(2): p. 990-1002.
- 332. Skoberne M, S.S., Almodovar W, Truong T, Petrova K, Henson PM, Bhardwaj N., *The apoptotic-cell receptor CR3, but not alphavbeta5, is a regulator of human dendritic-cell immunostimulatory function.* Blood, 2006. 108(3): p. 947-55.